Stress and Burnout in Social Workers: Perceptions of Supervision and the Role of Self-Compassion and Shame

Katherine Lister

Registration Number: 100225184

Primary Supervisor: Kiki Mastroyannopoulou Secondary Supervisor: Imogen Rushworth Clinical Site Supervisor: Charlotte Granger

Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology University of East Anglia Faculty of Medicine and Health Services

March 2020

Word Count: 31,958

This copy of the thesis has been supplied on the condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with the author and that use of any information derived therefrom must be in accordance with the current UK Copyright Law. In addition, any quotation or extract must include full attribution.

Contents

List of Tables	4
List of Figures	5
List of Appendices	6
Acknowledgements	7
Thesis Portfolio Abstract	8
Introduction to the Thesis Portfolio	9
Chapter One. Systematic Review	11
Abstract	13
Introduction	14
Methods	19
Results	23
Discussion	39
References	46
Chapter Two. Bridging Chapter	56
Chapter Three. Empirical Paper	61
Abstract	63
Introduction	64
Methods	71
Results	76
Discussion	85
References	93
Chapter Four. Extended Results	100
Statistical Assumptions	101
Additional Analyses	102

STRESS AND BURNOUT IN SOCIAL WORKERS	3
Chapter Five. General Discussion and Critical Evaluation	106
General Discussion and Critical Evaluation	107
Summary of the findings in the context of the literature	108
Clinical Implications	111
Strengths and Limitations	113
Directions for Future Research	115
Conclusion	116
References	118
Appendices	136

List of Tables

Chapter One: Systematic Review	
Table 1.1: Study Characteristics	24
Table 1.2: Organisational Theme	35
Table 1.3: Session Theme	35
Table 1.4: Supervisor Theme	37
Table 1.5: Relationship Theme	38
Chapter Two: Bridging Chapter	
None.	
Chapter Three: Empirical Study	
Table 3.1: Sample Characteristics	77
Table 3.2: Supervision Characteristics	79
Table 3.3: Results from each of the standardised scales	81
Table 3.4: Summary of Correlational Analyses	82
Table 3.5: Summary of Multiple Regression Analysis	85
Chapter Four: Extended Results	
None.	
Chapter Five: General Discussion and Critical Evaluation	
None.	
Appendices	

Table A1: Quality Appraisals for Included Studies147

List of Figures

Chapter One: Systematic Review	
Figure 1.1: PRISMA Flow Diagram	21
Figure 1.2: Map of themes of supervision from thematic analysis	29
Chapter Two: Bridging Chapter	
None.	
Chapter Three: Empirical Study	
Figure 3.1: Graph to show the total years of experience and years in current job	78
Figure 3.2: A pictorial representation of the relationships between the factors	86
investigated	
Chapter Four: Extended Results	
Chapter Five: General Discussion and Critical Evaluation	
Appendices	
Figure A1: G*Power Output for Correlational Analysis	163
Figure A2: G*Power Output for Multiple Regression	164

List of Appendices

Appendix A	Author Guidelines for the Journal of Social Work
Appendix B	Systematic Review Databases searched
Appendix C	Systematic Review Quality Appraisals
Appendix D	Participant Information Sheet and Statement of Consent
Appendix E	Clinician Survey
Appendix F	Participant Debrief Information
Appendix G	FMH Approval Letter
Appendix H	Social Media Recruitment Advert
Appendix I	Permission to use and adapt the Event-Related Shame and Guilt Scale
Appendix J	G* Power outputs

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to say a huge thank you to the staff who participated in this research. Throughout this process I have been struck by the openness that many people I have met have given me, and the time that has been dedicated. Thank you to those who completed the questionnaires, talked to me at conferences or helped me with recruitment. Within the context of such a stressful job, this input has not gone unnoticed.

I would of course like to thank my supervisors, Kiki Mastroyannopoulou and Charlotte Granger. The support and encouragement that both of you have given me has been invaluable throughout the entire research process. I am grateful for your enthusiasm for the topic and reassurance when things felt difficult. I would also like to thank my advisor, Imogen Rushworth for providing additional support throughout the course. Thank you also for the statistical support offered by Brioney Gee and David Peck.

Finally, I would like to thank my incredible family and friends for their understanding and patience during this process. I am particularly thankful for my mum and dad who have listened to endless discussions about my research and have always believed in me. And to Josh for always being there during the tough times with the right words and for always encouraging me.

Thesis Portfolio Abstract

The aim of this research was to explore various potential factors related to stress and burnout in social workers. Stress is a common experience for social workers, and can have huge impacts on them, the patients they interact with and services as whole, highlighting the importance of examining this topic in more detail. A systematic review was carried out which explored the experience of supervision for social workers, focusing on what they felt had been useful. A total of 19 studies were included in this review and using a process of thematic analysis, themes were developed to describe the experience of social workers. Important aspects of supervision reported by the supervisees in this review were compared to existing literature mainly based on the views of supervisors, and differences were highlighted. An empirical study was also conducted and explored other factors related to stress in social workers, namely self-compassion and shame. An online survey, completed by 100 UK child and family social workers, explored the relationships between these factors in more detail. This empirical paper considered the importance of context-specific shame compared to shame as a general predisposition and is one of the first studies to consider this concept in social workers. The results showed that context-specific shame is important in predicting levels of burnout in this population. There were several strong relationships found between these variables and these findings are discussed with reference to the literature. Clinical implications and directions for future research are outlined.

Introduction to the Thesis Portfolio

This thesis portfolio comprises two main papers: a systematic review and an empirical paper, as well as a bridging chapter which links the two. An extended results chapter is included for further information about the empirical paper and a discussion and critical evaluation chapter considers the clinical implications of this portfolio and directions for future research.

The topic considered within this portfolio is that of stress in social workers. This is an important area to understand due to the extremely high prevalence of stress in this profession (Senreich, Straussner & Steen, 2020). Stress has been defined in the literature as an emotional and physical reaction to one or many stressors (Maslach, Jackson & Leiter, 1996). The high prevalence of stress in social workers is thought to be due to their everyday work, as well as high expectations and demands from the organisation (Caringi et al., 2017). Exposure to prolonged stress can lead to burnout, which is defined as a state of emotional and physical exhaustion (Pines & Aronson, 1988). This can cause difficulties in retaining social workers within services, as they end up feeling that they can no longer cope with the demands of their job (DePanfilis, 2006). Perhaps of even more importance is the impact of stress and burnout on levels of personal accomplishment about the level of care they are offering to clients (Kim, 2011), which can have major impacts for clients who may feel let down or receive a less than adequate service (Alazri, Heywood, Neal & Leese, 2007). Clearly there are potential negative impacts of stress for social workers, their clients and services as a whole and this will be explored in more detail within this thesis portfolio.

Clinical Psychologists are often found within leadership roles in teams, and frequently offer consultation and supervision to the workforce. In fact, many social care services are beginning to commission psychologists for this specific role. In order to provide effective and useful support to social workers in these services, it is important for our profession to

9

understand the demands of their job role in more detail. Clinical Psychologists are in a unique position of having knowledge of theoretical models that can be applied not only to clinical cases, but also to teams, but it is important that these models are adapted and applied accurately to specific contexts. In the case of social workers, this includes the demands of the job itself, the organisational context as well as the individual and personal factors that contribute to stress and burnout. Therefore, this thesis portfolio will examine and explore these issues in more depth, to establish potential areas for support and interventions for social workers, which may have the potential to be delivered by Clinical Psychologists.

Chapter One. Systematic Review

Prepared for submission to Journal of Social Work

(Author guidelines in Appendix A)

What Makes Social Work Supervision Useful? A Systematic Review of Social Workers' Views

Katherine Lister

University of East Anglia

Primary Supervisor: Kiki Mastroyannopoulou

Secondary Supervisor: Imogen Rushworth

Clinical Supervisor: Charlotte Granger

Word Count: 8073

Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology (ClinPsyD)

University of East Anglia

Abstract

Summary: Supervision is a process that is widely used in social work (Beddoe & Howard, 2012). Effective clinical supervision has been associated with a range of positive outcomes (Wonnacott, 2012). These include benefits for social workers themselves (Dickinson & Perry, 2002), the clients they work with (Saltiel, 2017) and the organisation as a whole (Boyas, Wind & Kang, 2011). Many of the guidelines for effective supervision have been devised based on the perspective of supervisors and there is less empirical research conducted related to what supervisees themselves think is useful (Radey & Stanley, 2018). Recent estimates have found that nearly 50% of social workers felt they were receiving poor to adequate supervisory support (Hunt, Goddard, Cooper, Littlechild & Wild, 2016). In order to know more about this discrepancy between guidelines and reality, it is important to explore the views of supervisees and whether these align with existing research.

Findings: This review synthesised 19 papers which explored the views of social workers on what they found useful about the supervision that they have received. A thematic analysis was used to combine qualitative and quantitative results. The results found four main themes that are important to consider in supervision; organisational factors, session aspects, the supervisor and the supervisory relationship. Findings highlight some differences between supervisees' and supervisors' views of helpful supervision, such as a focus on tasks and accountability.

Applications: The results of this review have applications for clinical practice such as helping to inform the development of supervisory practice for social workers. These are discussed in more detail within the paper.

Keywords

Social work; Supervision; Useful;

13

What Makes Social Work Supervision Useful? A Systematic Review of Social Workers' Views

Introduction

Supervision is a process which occurs in a wide variety of job roles, particularly within health and social care (Field & Brown, 2019). It can take the form of managerial, clinical or professional supervision (Care Quality Commission (CQC), 2013). All three types of supervision can be useful, but research suggests that clinical supervision is extremely important for improving outcomes for staff, services users and organisations (CQC, 2013). Therefore, many professional bodies recommend regular clinical supervision for staff. Clinical supervision describes a range of practices, but widely involves professional development, support and space for reflection (Lynch, Hanox, Happell & Parker, 2008) There are similarities in supervision across professions (Bernard & Goodyear, 2014), although there are slight differences in the format or understanding of supervision between disciplines (Allan, McLuckie, & Hoffecker, 2017). Throughout this review, the broad term supervision is used to refer to clinical supervision rather than managerial or professional forms.

Supervision in Social Work

Supervision has always been an integral part of social work practice (Beddoe & Howard, 2012). It is mostly received through individual sessions for 60-90 minutes (Cooper, 2006; Tsui, 2004), although group and peer models are also used (CQC, 2013). Different functions of supervision have been suggested or emphasised over time, from an early focus on surveillance of practice (Munson, 1979) to more wide-ranging functions such as administration, education, support and mediation (Proctor, 1991; Morrison, 2005). Despite changes in the definition of supervision, as well as in the profession of social work as a whole, the importance of supervision has been maintained (Phillipson, 2009). Supervision

has been further prioritised since the publication of the Munro report (2011), which highlighted the importance of supervision for maintaining professional standards. This report was commissioned to review the child protection system within England following a series of high-profile child deaths, including that of Baby Peter in 2007. It found that in many of these cases, inadequate supervision was highlighted as a contributing factor to the unfortunate outcome (Munro, 2011). Since this time, supervision has been more closely scrutinised and enforced, with numerous professional bodies publishing guidelines on its administration (CQC, 2013).

Impact of Supervision

Clinical supervision can have far reaching impacts (Wonnacott, 2012), being cited as one of the most important determinants of positive outcomes for staff, patients and for an effective service (Skills for Care and CWDC, 2007). There is evidence for an association between supportive supervision and a range of positive outcomes for workers including increased job satisfaction and morale (Mor Barak, Travis, Pyun & Xie, 2009), improved practice skills (Little, Baker & Jinks, 2018), and reduced emotional exhaustion (Cohen & Gagin, 2005). With positive impacts such as these, retention of social workers is also increased (Ellett & Millar, 2004), by mitigating intent to leave (Boyas, Wind & Kang, 2011; Carpenter et al., 2012). This leads to a higher chance of retaining high quality and experienced social workers (Ellett, Ellis, Westbrook, & Dews 2007), ultimately improving the overall service received by clients (Mor Barak et al., 2009). Research has suggested that when social workers receive good quality supervision clients' wellbeing can be improved (Boyas et al., 2011; Saltiel, 2017) and that the therapeutic relationship can be strengthened (Bambling, King, Raue, Schweitzer & Lambert, 2006).

In contrast, poor supervisory support has been associated with feelings of isolation (Hunt, Goddard, Cooper, Littlechild & Wild, 2016; Sweifach, 2019), a lack of confidence in

clinical work, (Scott, 1999) or feeling criticised and scrutinised (Little, Baker, & Jinks, 2018). As mentioned above, in many unfortunate cases of child deaths, poor supervision or a lack of supervision has been highlighted as a contributing factor (Brandon et al., 2012). Due to the demanding nature of the job role, social workers can face making quick decisions in a short timescale, which can lead to a lack of time for reflection (Broadhurst et al., 2010). Supervision can mitigate this by providing space to consider alternative options (Helm, 2011) and reduce the necessity to act based on inherent biases and quick judgements (Devany & Spratt, 2009).

Contributing factors to good quality supervision

While research findings suggest that receiving good quality supervision is important within social work, a further area which warrants exploration relates to what aspects of supervision contribute to its usefulness. A range of factors have been found to be associated with the usefulness of social work supervision including content of the session (Laming, 2009), the supervisory relationship (Bogo & McKnight, 2006) and attributes of the supervisor (McPherson, Frederico & McNamara, 2015). Supervision focused on reflection and support (Laming, 2009), with the promotion of client-centred thinking (Pecora, Whittaker, Maluccio, & Barth, 2000) has been found to be important. Also useful is a clinical supervisor with good leadership and communication skills (York & Denton, 1990) and a solid theoretical knowledge base (Rushton & Nathan, 1996), as well as someone who is approachable and available (Kadushin & Harkness, 2002), and a role model demonstrating honesty and integrity (Hensley, 2003). These factors contribute to a supportive and successful supervisory relationship, which is often highlighted as the single most important aspect of supervision in social work (Hensley, 2003; Bogo & McKnight, 2006). This relationship is thought to be particularly important due to parallel process, whereby the process occurring between a social worker and a client is reflected between the worker and their supervisor (Williams, 1997).

Therefore, maintaining a positive supervisory relationship may have helpful influences on a worker's sessions with clients (Kadushin & Harkness, 2002; Shulman, 2010). Finally, as supervision occurs within the context of a wider organisation, it is important to note that good quality supervision is more likely to take place in an organisational culture that promotes and encourages all aspects of supervision (Davys & Beddoe, 2010; Vito, 2015), rather than solely focusing on performance management (Hoge, Migdole, Cannata, & Powell, 2014).

Unsurprisingly, professional bodies are aware of this research evidence, and guidance is published about what social workers should receive (Carpenter & Webb, 2012). However, recent estimates suggest that up to 50% of workers report receiving poor to adequate supervision (Hunt, et al., 2016). Studies agree that the supervision described in professional guidance may not be what happens in practice (Radey & Stanley, 2018). Therefore, despite a clear evidence base and guidelines set out by professional bodies, it is important to understand why there appears to be a discrepancy between this and what social workers actually receive.

One potential factor may be that there is a lack of training for social work supervisors (Hair, 2013; Wuenschel, 2006), which may lead to individuals in positions of supervisory positions who do not feel equipped for the job. Supervisors may not be trained in and therefore not delivering supervision as suggested from guidance or previous research. An additional aspect related to this discrepancy may be the state of the current evidence base. Much of the research conducted into social work supervision is correlational and based on child welfare services in the United States (US), meaning the empirical basis for supervision in UK social work is weak (Carpenter & Webb, 2012). Additionally, much of the research is concerned with the supervision of students (Schmidt & Kariuki, 2019) or explored from the perspective of the supervisor. There is a lack of empirical research describing qualified social workers' own perceptions of supervision (Radey & Stanley, 2018; Baretta-Herman, 2001). It

is likely that supervisors, organisations and supervisees may hold different views about the relative importance of different aspects of supervision. For example, with a changing focus in social work towards risk aversion in a fast-paced environment (Lietz, 2009), supervision has been found to have a more administrative function (Beddoe, 2010), which is viewed as more important by supervisors than by supervisees (Lietz, 2009). Therefore, it may be that guidance regarding social work supervision may be more aligned with students' and supervisors' views, leading to a discrepancy in reported usefulness by social workers themselves. Some recent research suggests that there is now a general consensus within social work regarding the useful aspects of supervision which is based on this previous research, and that this may suppress further research and development in this area (Beddoe & Wilkins, 2019).

In addition, accountability and monitoring of competence are important aspects of the job role of a social worker (Clare, 1988), particularly within the context of increasing privatisation and contracting of services to external agencies (Baines, Charlesworth, Turner and O'Neill, 2014). This has led to a focus on performance outcomes, and this has been suggested to have impacted on supervision practice by emphasising these aspects within sessions (Schmidt & Kariuki, 2019). However, Clark et al (2008) suggested that good quality supervision must go beyond this simple function, and balance the competing demands from different stakeholders in the supervisory relationship (Pecora et al., 2000). It is possible to create collaborative supervision which meets the needs of all involved (Egan, Maidment & Connolly, 2016), but to do so it is important to understand the views of each group. Therefore, the aim of this review is to synthesise studies which explore the views of social work supervisees of what is useful about supervision for their wellbeing and their professional work. The results of this review can be compared to existing literature and guidance from professional bodies, to highlight areas of agreement or disagreement. By

combining the results of existing empirical studies examining supervisee's views, clearer conclusions can be drawn about the aspects of supervision that they view as the most important, in order to contribute to the current lack of clear empirical evidence in this area (Radey & Stanley, 2018). This may also provide recommendations about the skills that are important to include in supervisory training.

Methods

The protocol for this systematic review was developed in line with PRISMA guidelines and was registered at PROSPERO (28/06/2019, ID: CRD42019134964). This ensures that the research process was transparent, with the objectives, methods and process of data analysis being published.

Search strategy

In total, 31 databases were searched using an EBSCO host, including PsycINFO, MEDLINE, Scopus, Science Direct, JSTOR Journals, PsycARTICLES, Social Sciences, CINAHL, and ERIC. The full list of databases searched can be found in Appendix B. Initial scoping searches highlighted initial search terms and were used in developing the final terms. The final search terms were (1) social work* AND (2) supervis* AND (3) experience* OR perception* OR perspective* OR attitude* OR view* OR feel*.

Eligibility criteria

The following criteria were applied when assessing inclusion into this study: (1) The topic of interest was social work supervision; (2) participants were social workers; (3) social workers were qualified; (4) exploration was from the perspective of the supervisee; (4) qualitative, quantitative and mixed-method studies; (5) published in English; (6) peer-reviewed; (7) supervisee's views were presented separately; (8) published within the last 10 years. This was chosen due to changes in social work supervision following the Munro report (2011) and the prioritisation of supervision in practice. Studies were excluded if they were:

(1) focusing on other aspects of the social work profession; (2) participants were other professionals; (3) participants were students; (4) exploration was from the perspective of the supervisor only; (5) not an empirical study; (6) not published in English; (7) no separation of supervisee's views from other groups; (8) older than 10 years since publication. At each stage of the review, the number of studies excluded was recorded. Reasons for exclusion were recorded from the title/abstract and full-text stages. Studies conducted in all countries were included as social work job roles are similar internationally, so a consensus of valued aspects across all countries will be useful. Furthermore, the number of studies within each country was very small, so by pooling studies internationally, more papers could be included.

Study selection

Following the initial search, 6,521 studies were returned for review. 444 were removed due to not being published in English, leaving 6,077. Duplicates were removed (by the system =1706 removed; by hand =1613 removed) leaving 2758 studies. Study selection then proceeded through a number of stages; the title and abstract of each paper was screened by the Chief Investigator to identify whether the study met the inclusion criteria. If it remained unclear, studies were included to be read in full. During this stage, 2681 studies were removed for reasons including not being empirical papers (n = 46), participants were students (n = 44), only from the supervisor's perspective (n = 1), or were irrelevant to the topic (n = 2548). A sub-section (20%) were screened by a second researcher to ensure consistency of study selection and any discrepancies rectified. 2681 studies were excluded at this stage, leaving 77 studies. Studies were read in full by the Chief Investigator and decisions made using the inclusion and exclusion criteria. 19 papers were found to be suitable for inclusion in the review and 58 studies were excluded. The reasons for exclusion varied and are included in a PRISMA flowchart (Moher, Liberati, Tetzlaff & Altman, 2009) in Figure 1.1. Identification

Screening

Eligibility

Included

Records identified through database searching (n = 6,521)Records after non-Records excluded as English removed non-English (n = 444) (n = 6,077)Duplicates removed (n = 3319)Records after duplicates By system (n = 1706)removed (n = 2758) By hand (n = 1613)Records excluded at Records screened Title/Abstract review (n = 2758)(n = 2681)Full-text articles assessed Full-text articles excluded, for eligibility (n = 77)with reasons (n = 58)1. Theoretical (n = 11)2. Older than 10 years (n = 2)3. Not peer reviewed (n = 1)4. Irrelevant (n = 32)5. Mixed participant group (n = 8)6. Not Social Workers Articles included in the review (n = 19)(n = 1)7. Review paper (n = 1)8. Only supervisor's view (n = 2)

Figure 1.1. PRISMA Flow Diagram

Data extraction

The Chief Investigator extracted data from the included studies using a data extraction table developed for this study. Key data extracted included: author, year of publication, aim of the study, location, participants' characteristics (service, age, gender, level of experience), sample size, methodology, type of supervision, who supervises, what is useful, what isn't useful and level of satisfaction with supervision.

Quality Appraisal

The Quality Assessment Tool for Studies with Diverse Designs (QATSDD) was used to assess the quality of the studies included in this review (Sirriyeh, Lawton, Gardner & Armitage, 2012). This tool was developed due to the majority of assessment tools being for a specific research design, causing difficulties when studies of various designs are included in a review. Therefore, the QATSDD was chosen as a suitable assessment tool for this review which included qualitative, quantitative and mixed method studies. Each study was rated on a range of criteria of study quality which gave each a total score. This total score reflected whether the study was rated as poor, moderate, good or high quality. 50% of the included studies were also rated by a second rater to ensure consistency of rating. A few minor discrepancies in scores occurred and these were discussed and an agreed score identified. These discrepancies did not influence the overall rating of quality.

Data analysis

The data from the included studies were analysed using a thematic analysis, described by Braun and Clarke (2006) as 'a method for identifying, analysing and reporting patterns within data' (pp. 79). The aim of this study was to describe the phenomenon of useful supervision, and using this approach may allow new insights to develop from the data (Kondracki & Wellman, 2002). The general approach of thematic analysis was chosen as it is able to bridge quantitative and qualitative research methods (Pope, Mays & Popay, 2007). Following guidelines for thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006) the Chief Investigator followed the six main steps. The first stage was to gain familiarity with the data by reading the papers thoroughly and making initial notes on possible emerging themes. Initial codes were then produced from these papers. This was done using a series of post-it notes to keep track of initial codes. From qualitative studies, all aspects noted as helpful or unhelpful were included as initial codes, often from themes derived from the studies. From quantitative studies, the highest rating of helpful or unhelpful aspects were included as initial codes. These initial codes were then sorted into potential broader themes and sub-themes that felt meaningful and appropriate (Patton, 2002). The fourth stage involved refinement of these themes. Within this stage the Chief Investigator re-read each of the included data extracts in each theme to ensure that all were encompassed. Each theme was considered in relation to the other potential themes, named to capture the data within it, and all were arranged into a thematic map. Some revisions were made to the initial themes throughout this process to produce the final thematic map shown in Figure 1.2 in the results section.

Results

Study Characteristics

Within this review, 19 studies were included. This included 11 qualitative studies (57.9%), three quantitative studies (15.8%) and five mixed-method studies (26.3%). These studies used a range of methodologies, with seven using interviews (36.8%), six using questionnaires or surveys (31.6%) and three using focus groups (15.8%). The remainder used a combination of these methodologies, such as surveys and interviews (1; 5.3%), focus groups and interviews (1; 5.3%) and surveys and focus groups (1; 5.3%). Further study characteristics are summarised in Table 1.1.

STRESS AND BURNOUT IN SOCIAL WORKERS

 Table 1.1: Study Characteristics.

Author (Year)	Location	Design	Aim/Objective	Methodology	Quality Rating
Radey & Stanley	U.S.	Qualitative	Looking at transitions from training to	Telephone interviews	Good
(2018)			casework including supervision experiences		
Geibler-Piltz	Germany	Mixed	Experience of supervision in multi-disciplinary	Questionnaires &	Good
(2011)			team, particularly the use of reflection	interviews	
Hair (2014)	Canada	Mixed	Experiences of power relations in supervision	Online survey	Good
Joubert, Hocking,	Australia	Mixed	Experience and management of vicarious	Focus groups	Good
& Hampson (2013)			trauma reported by social workers		
Egan, Maidment &	Australia	Mixed	Patterns of association within factors in	Online survey	Good
Connolly. (2018)			supervision		
Tsui (2008)	Hong	Qualitative	Features of social work supervision	Focus groups &	Good
	Kong			interviews	
Saltiel (2017)	England	Qualitative	Exploring how social workers' decisions are	Interviews	Good
			made		

STRESS AND BURNOUT IN SOCIAL WORKERS

Table 1.1: (continued)

Author (Year)	Location	Design	Aim/Objective	Methodology	Quality Rating
Sweifach (2019)	U.S.	Quantitative	How supervision is conceptualised and conducted	Online survey	Good
Turner-Daly & Jack (2017)	England	Mixed	Experiences of supervision for child care social workers	Survey	Moderate
Wilkins & Antonopoulou (2019)	United Kingdom	Quantitative	What does supervision help with and what associations are there between supervision approaches and self-reported usefulness	Survey	Good
O'Donoghue (2012)	New Zealand	Qualitative	How social workers developed their understanding and use of supervision and how their histories influenced this	Interviews	Moderate
Clark et al. (2008)	U.S.	Quantitative	Learn more about current supervisory practice, the role of supervision and the training needed for supervisors	Survey	High

Table 1.1: (continued)

Author (Year)	Location	Design	Aim/Objective	Methodology	Quality Rating
Kadushin, Berger,	U.S.	Qualitative	Perceptions of supervisees about the current	Telephone focus	Good
Gilbert, & de St.			models and functions of supervision	groups	
Aubin (2009)					
Benton, Dill, &	N.Ireland	Qualitative	What is excellent supervision from the	Focus groups	Good
Williams (2017)			perspective of practitioners and those in other		
			positions and are there any differences between		
			these views		
McPherson et al.	Australia	Qualitative	How is supervision experienced by	Interviews	Good
(2015)			practitioners and supervisors and what are the		
			core functions of effective supervision		
Caras & Sandu	Romania	Qualitative	How is supervision perceived by specialised	Interviews	Moderate
(2014)			social workers in NGOs and how does		
			supervision contribute to the development of		
			professional skills		

Author (Year)	Location	Design	Aim/Objective	Methodology	Quality Rating
Hensley (2003)	U.S	Qualitative	Benefits of supervision	Interviews	Moderate
Egan, Maidment,	Australia	Qualitative	What is supervision like and how does a	Online survey and	Good
& Connolly (2017)			trusting relationship help support safe practice	focus groups	
O'Donoghue	New	Qualitative	Explore the supervision session from multiple	Interviews	Good
(2014)	Zealand		views and propose an interactional map of the		
			supervision session		

Study quality

The QATSDD tool was used to assess quality of the included studies. Using this tool, one study was rated as high quality, 14 of good quality and four of moderate quality. No studies were rated as poor quality and therefore all studies were included in this review. This quality analysis was primarily used to determine whether any studies should be removed due to poor quality. The secondary use of the results of the quality analysis was to establish the quality of papers included in each theme. This is discussed within each theme below. There were two main limitations identified across the included studies. These were the lack of consideration of sample size for the methodology chosen, and the lack of pilot groups or inclusion of service users in the design of the study. Further details of the quality ratings of each of the included studies are included in Appendix C.

Sample characteristics

The majority of studies were conducted in the United States of America (US) (5; 26.3%), the United Kingdom (4; 21.1%), and Australia (4; 21.1%). The remainder were conducted in New Zealand (2; 10.5%), Germany (1; 5.3%), Canada (1; 5.3%), Hong Kong (1; 5.3%) and Romania (1; 5.3%). Sample sizes ranged from 3-1000 with a mean sample size of 227.84. The age range of participants in the studies that reported age was from 20 to 69 years old. The average age from those studies that reported averages was 40.5 years old. In the 11 studies that reported the gender split of their participants, one had an even split of males and females, with the remaining 10 studies ranging from 66.6% to 94% females, and 6% to 33.3% males. In the 10 studies that reported it, years of experience ranged from 1 year to more than 25 years. It is difficult to calculate an average from these studies due to the lack of consistent reporting.

Assessment of Useful Supervision

Studies differed in the methods used to assess or explore what makes supervision useful according to social workers. The majority of qualitative studies used open-ended questions to ask social workers what the supervision they have received in the past has been like, or what is important to them. This was done using a range of interview, survey and focus group methodologies. In the quantitative studies, participants were asked to rate their agreement with a list of items regarding their supervision. Studies used different terminology to describe the positive aspects of supervision, with some referring to attributes as helpful, effective, or valuable. Within this review, the term usefulness is used to combine the results of the positive aspects found in each of these studies.

Thematic Analysis Themes

A process of thematic analysis was used to identify key themes reported as particularly useful or not useful about the supervision that social workers had received. This led to the development of four broad themes, which included organisational aspects, session aspects, attributes or factors associated with the supervisor and the supervisory relationship. These themes were then further divided into sub-themes. These themes and sub-themes will be discussed in more detail and are shown within the thematic map in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.2. Map of themes of supervision from thematic analysis

Organisational Aspects. Eight papers contributed to the development of this theme, six of which were good quality and two of moderate quality, suggesting that there can be a high degree of confidence that this theme is comprised of studies of appropriate quality to create a broad theme. Within this theme, two sub-themes were developed; *value* and *pressure/control*.

Value. This sub-theme referred to responses that when the organisation valued and supported the supervision process, it felt more useful to the supervisees. An organisational culture that encouraged discussing challenges and emotional difficulties led to more useful supervision. However, when the organisation or indeed the wider community lacked an understanding of the job role of a social worker and how supervision can help, supervision was impacted negatively, and was felt to be less useful.

Pressure/control. Results showed that pressure experienced from the organisation negatively impacted supervision. In some cases, a fear of sanctions was mentioned as being particularly unhelpful and caused supervision to no longer be useful. Attempts to control what happens in supervision by the organisation was also seen to reduce the quality of sessions.

Session Aspects. This theme was mentioned in the vast majority of the studies included in this review (N=17), where supervisees agreed that certain aspects of the supervision session were very important. Of the papers included in this theme, 12 papers were rated as good quality, one of high quality and four of moderate quality. This shows that this theme was viewed as important across many studies, and these studies were of appropriate quality to create a broad theme. This theme was split into two sub-themes of *practicalities* and *content*.

Practicalities. This theme encompasses sub-themes of time, frequency/consistency and context. A lack of time was noted by many participants as a barrier for useful

supervision, including finding a suitable meeting time or having enough time protected for each session away from the rest of their job demands. Social workers also valued higher levels of frequency and consistency of supervision. Generally, responses indicated that supervision should be more frequent than it currently is, and that sessions should be uninterrupted and not cancelled. The context was viewed as important, with many studies indicating that although individual supervision is important, group supervision may offer more opportunities and enhance individual sessions. Responses either indicated that they received group supervision and found it useful, or felt that it would be a useful addition to their individual sessions.

Content. Many studies reported responses that were concerned with the content of the session itself. This theme was further split into sub-themes of challenge, feedback, direction, administration/task-focus, reflection, knowledge and professional development, direct clinical work, flexibility and balance, and emotional support. Some social workers reported that it was useful to be challenged in supervision to make supervision more active rather than passive, as long as this was done safely and with permission. Detailed feedback including strengths and weaknesses was reported as useful in many studies. Direction was also reported as important, with many indicating that sometimes they found it useful to be told what to do and given clear and direct instructions, particularly when things went wrong or felt difficult. However, sessions which were administrative or task-focused were not felt to be useful, where the session became dominated by quick decisions, holding the supervisee accountable for actions and a focus on 'tick the box' tasks. If the supervisor took administrative responsibility instead then supervision was felt to be more useful. Reflection was highlighted in many papers as crucial for useful supervision, allowing social workers space to 'step back' and critically reflect on their work and their emotional reactions. Providing social workers with a space to be upset and having emotional support was important in many of the studies

included; receiving acknowledgement that their job is difficult and support to work through emotional difficulties was extremely useful to maintain their wellbeing. A focus on professional development and increasing knowledge was also important, where specific skills such as teamwork and clinical skills were reported as being useful. Many studies reported that keeping the clients in mind and talking about direct clinical work was important, to ensure that quality of practice was maintained and client's wellbeing was kept in focus. The majority of studies indicated that these different functions of supervision must be flexible and balanced, to adapt to the needs of the supervisee which may change between sessions and throughout their career. Being able to influence this flexibility was also important, to ensure that an individual felt in control.

Supervisor Aspects. The supervisor was highlighted as important in almost all studies (N=17), again suggesting that this was a theme that is consistently viewed as important. Of these studies, one was rated as high quality, 13 as good quality and three as moderate quality, indicating again that there is an appropriate quality of studies to create a broad theme., This theme was split further into their *position, personal attributes* and *skills/experience*.

Position. Many studies found that the supervisor should be someone who is held in high esteem and is respected; conversely supervision was not useful if it was delivered by a supervisor who is not respected. Most studies referenced the difficulties of receiving supervision from one's line manager, or someone in a position of hierarchical power, and some studies suggested external supervision can be useful for this reason. However, other responses were that supervision by someone in the organisation who understood the context and the individual's job role is more important, showing that there may be conflicting views about this topic. Many studies agreed that it was useful for the supervisor to also be a qualified social worker as they would understand the job role. Personal Attributes. The sub-themes within this area were control, values,

approachable and genuine. Although there was an agreement amongst studies referred to in an earlier theme that direction could be useful, it was also agreed that it was not useful if this was done in a controlling or imposing manner. A supervisor who made decisions or imposed tasks without discussion was widely agreed to be not useful and negatively impacted on supervision. Some studies mentioned responses from social workers of supervisors being 'narcissistic', 'schoolmasterly' or 'oppressive' and that these did not made supervision useful. The values that a supervisor expressed were important. Specifically, a supervisor with integrity, who acted as a role model, was empathetic, sensitive, caring and shared the same values as the supervisee was found to be useful. It was widely agreed that it was important for social workers to feel they could approach their supervisor for support both in formal and informal supervision settings, and that support would be available when requested. Less useful experiences included feeling that an individual was bothering a supervisor for support when they were not available as they were too busy or it did not feel possible to approach them. A supervisor who put effort into making a genuine relationship with their supervisee was agreed as important, through taking an interest in the individual's work, them as a person and being genuinely concerned about their welfare. Some studies reported supervisors who were distracted in sessions, preoccupied with their own concerns or ignored the supervisee's needs, caused supervision to feel less useful.

Skills and Experience. The final sub-theme of supervisor's aspects was the skills and experience they possessed. This was further sub-divided into *clinical*, *leadership* and *organisational*. Many studies referenced a useful supervisor as someone with clinical experience of the same client group as the supervisee and who demonstrated good clinical skills. Less useful supervisors were those who did not carry a caseload, had less experience than the supervisee and showed difficulties in responding to emotional situations. Leadership

skills of the supervisor were important in some studies. An expectation that the social worker themselves would act as the leader in sessions was viewed as creating less useful supervision. Some studies also noted that a supervisor with good organisational knowledge and experience was useful in terms of understanding the context and relevant policies and procedures.

Relationship. The final theme was the importance of the supervisory relationship. 12 papers in this review reported that the relationship was important, and of these 10 were rated as good quality and two as moderate quality. This again indicates that there was a consistent view of this theme as important, and there is an appropriate level of quality of studies to create a broad theme. Sub-themes within this were *equality and power, supportive* and *trust and safety*.

Equality and power. The existence of power in supervisory relationships was noted in many studies, and it was reported that a misuse of power and authority contributed to supervision that was not useful. However, when both individuals had mutual respect and contributions were equally valued, with power therefore being shared, supervision was more useful. The supportive nature of the supervisory relationship was highlighted in many studies as contributing to the usefulness of supervision. Finally, having trust and safety in the supervisory relationship was reported by a large number of studies. Some mentioned that a lack of criticism or judgement was extremely useful. Experiences of less useful supervision were reported where social workers felt threatened, judged or there was a breach of confidentiality.

The papers that reported each theme are summarised in Tables 1.2-1.4.

Table 1.2. Organisational Theme

Theme	Papers
Value	O'Donoghue (2012); McPherson et al (2015); Joubert et al (2013); Sweifach (2019); Benton et al (2017)
Pressure/control	Turner-Daly & Jack (2017); O'Donoghue (2012); Benton et al (2017); Kadushin et al (2009); Geibler-Piltz (2011)

Table 1.3. Session Theme

Theme	Sub-theme	Papers
Content	Flexibility/Balance	O'Donoghue (2014); Benton et al (2017); Caras & Sandu (2014); Radey & Stanley (2018); O'Donoghue
		(2012); Turner-Daly & Jack (2017); McPherson et al (2015);
	Task-based	Caras & Sandu (2014); Clark et al (2008); Egan et al (2018); Benton et al (2017); Egan et al (2017);
		Turner-Daly & Jack (2017); Sweifach (2019); Saltiel (2017)
	Direct clinical	Geibler-Piltz (2011); Saltiel (2017); O'Donoghue (2014); Wilkins and Antonopoulou (2019); Tsui (2008);
	work	Joubert et al (2013); Clark et al (2008);
	Challenge	Saltiel (2017); Egan et al (2017)
	Feedback	Radey & Stanley (2018); Tsui (2008); Caras & Sandu (2014)
STRESS AND BURNOUT IN SOCIAL WORKERS

Table 1.3: (continued)

Theme	Sub-theme	Papers
Content	Direction	Wilkins & Antonopoulou (2019); Saltiel (2017); Joubert et al (2013); Caras & Sandu (2014); Clark et al
		(2008); Turner-Daly & Jack (2017); Geibler-Piltz (2011); O'Donoghue (2012); Radey & Stanley (2018);
		Tsui (2008); Benton et al (2017)
	Reflection	Saltiel (2017); Benton et al (2017); Egan et al (2017)
	Knowledge	Clark et al (2008); Tsui (2008); Joubert et al (2013); Hensley (2003); Geibler-Piltz (2011); Turner-Daly &
	/Professional	Jack (2017); O'Donoghue (2012); Egan et al (2018)
	development	
	Emotional support	McPherson et al (2015); Tsui (2008); Saltiel (2017); Joubert et al (2013);
Practical	Time	Sweifach (2019); Saltiel (2017); Egan et al (2018)
	Context	Tsui (2008); Geibler-Piltz (2011); Wilkins and Antonopoulou (2019); Hensley (2003); Benton et al (2017)
	Consistency/	McPherson et al (2015); Tsui (2008); Benton et al (2017); Turner-Daly & Jack (2017); Wilkins &
	Frequency	Antonopoulou (2019)

STRESS AND BURNOUT IN SOCIAL WORKERS

Table 1.4. Supervisor Theme

Theme	Sub-theme	Papers
Position	N/A	O'Donoghue (2012); Geibler-Piltz (2011); McPherson et al (2015); Egan et al (2017); Egan et al (2018);
		Radey & Standley (2018); Sweifach (2019); Kadushin et al (2009)
Personal	Values	McPherson et al (2015); Hensley (2003); Sweifach (2019); Geibler-Piltz (2011); Clark et al (2008)
attributes		
	Approachable/	Radey & Stanley (2018); Kadushin et al (2009); Turner-Daly & Jack (2017); Saltiel (2017)
	Available	
	Control	Turner-Daly & Jack (2017); Geibler-Piltz (2011); Hair (2014); Saltiel (2017); O'Donoghue (2012); Radey &
		Stanley (2018)
	Genuine	Saltiel (2017); Turner-Daly & Jack (2017); Geibler-Piltz (2011); Radey & Stanley (2018); Benton et al
		(2017); Caras & Sandu (2014); O'Donoghue (2014); Hensley (2003); Sweifach (2019)
Skills/	Clinical	Benton et al (2017); O'Donoghue (2012); Kadushin et al (2009); Geibler-Piltz (2011); Caras & Sandu
Experience		(2014); McPherson et al (2015); Tsui (2008)
	Leadership	O'Donoghue (2012); McPherson et al (2015); Radey & Stanley (2018)
	Organisational	Clark et al (2008); McPherson et al (2015);

Table 1.5. Relationship Theme

Theme	Papers
Support	Radey & Stanley (2018); Hensley (2003); Egan et al (2017); Clark et al (2008); O'Donoghue (2012); Sweifach (2019);
	Egan et al (2018)
Trust/Safety	Egan et al (2017); Geibler-Piltz (2011); Egan et al (2018); Hair (2014); McPherson et al (2015); O'Donoghue (2012);
	Saltiel (2017); Benton et al (2017)
Equality/Power	Hensley (2003); McPherson et al (2015); Hair (2014); Egan et al (2017)

Discussion

A total of 19 studies were included in this review synthesising social workers' views on useful supervision and what contributes to or inhibits this. The quality of the studies included in this review was variable, although the majority were rated as good using a tool designed to assess studies of diverse designs. Thematic analysis using the results from these studies identified four key themes regarding supervision (organisational, sessions, supervisor and relationship). Each of these themes was sub-divided into further sub-themes, and in some cases sub-divided once more. These themes and sub-themes have implications for what useful supervision is deemed to be by those experiencing it which will be discussed within the context of relevant literature.

Supervision was seen as more useful when it was valued by the organisation and when there was a lack of pressure or control imposed on sessions. The importance of organisational support for supervision has been highlighted in previous research (Davys & Beddoe, 2010) and is part of the duty of care of employers (CQC, 2013). This therefore suggests that there is similarity between supervisor's and supervisee's views about this topic. The benefits for employers of providing good quality clinical supervision may provide incentive for support, such as improving social worker's commitment to the goals of the organisation (CQC, 2013; Tsui, 2005) and reducing turnover of staff (Carpenter & Webb, 2012). As well as being the responsibility of managers, social work leaders can contribute to help foster an organisational culture that acknowledges the importance of supervision for professionals (Blackman & Schmidt, 2014).

Supervision sessions were seen as more useful when they were frequent, consistent and regular, not restricted by time and were protected time slots. This reflects guidance provided by professional bodies, and appears in line with what supervisors also feel is important (Bogo & Dill, 2008). A main finding of this review was that supervisees do not view a focus on tasks and administration as useful within supervision sessions. This highlights one of the biggest differences between the views of supervisees and supervisors about the relative importance of administrative and task-based content, where research suggests supervisors are more likely to emphasise these aspects (Morrison & Wonnacott, 2010). Within the current context of social work, the threat of potential sanctions from the organisation, legal bodies and from the media (Rose & Palattivil, 2018), as well as increased privatisation of services (Baines et al., 2014), has meant that monitoring and accountability have become a fundamental part of a social worker's job role. These functions are clearly important in order to protect services users (Clare, 1988), although the results of this review suggest that this should not be at the expense of other functions of supervision, which has also been reflected in other research (Noble & Irwin, 2009). A recent survey (British Association of Social Workers (BASW), 2011) found that although 58% of respondents felt that their supervision covered case issues, 70% felt it did not cover emotional issues, and 62% reported it did not cover professional development. It is important that a balance of all of these functions is achieved (Egan et al., 2016), as all may be useful at different times within supervision sessions.

This review agreed with these findings and highlighted the importance of flexibility within supervision to ensure that different functions are met at different times. An option may be for supervision to be divided to clarify when supervision is focused on tasks, compared to reflection (Beddoe, 2010), perhaps even with different supervisors to provide each form of supervision. This may link to the disagreement found in this review about whether an internal or external supervisor is more useful, whereby each option provides a slightly different function of supervision. The results of this review also found that supervision is especially useful when the supervisee themselves can help to influence this flexibility. As there may be some disagreements, between supervisee's and supervisor's views of important content,

establishing a common understanding of the supervision session may prove useful. Recent research suggests that supervision may seem to fall short of expectations not due to a poorquality session being offered, but due to a lack of shared understanding of the purpose (Wilkins, 2017). Supervision contracts have been proposed as a way to agree the function of sessions, ensuring both individual's needs are met (CQC, 2013), as well as agendas for individual sessions (Rankine, 2017).

Other aspects of the supervision session which were highlighted as useful in this review included being challenged, focusing on learning and professional development, reflection, emotional support, and receiving direction, clear instructions and feedback. These findings are reflected in the existing literature regarding the views of supervisors, such as agreement that supervision should be a space for both reflection and learning (Davys & Beddoe, 2010), as well as the expectation that a supervisor provides feedback and advice (Ellis, Berger, Hanus, Ayala, Swords & Siembor, 2014). These findings are reflected in many guidelines regarding the content of supervision that social workers should receive.

Important supervisor aspects included having admirable values, being genuine, approachable and available. A supervisor seen as controlling or imposing was not viewed as useful, and neither was a supervisor in a position of hierarchical power who was also the supervisee's line manager. Previous research agrees that supervisors acknowledge the importance of being aware of power dynamics, and ensuring that sessions are delivered collaboratively rather than in a controlling manner (Ellis et al., 2014). In fact, supervision which does not consider power may become harmful or detrimental for the social worker (Beddoe, 2017). This review also found that supervisors with a range of skills and experience were viewed as useful more useful than those who lacked clinical and theoretical knowledge. These results outline a clear picture of the attributes, skills and experiences that are desired in a supervisor. These findings have implications for the training of prospective supervisors, or the selection process for finding suitable individuals. Schmidt and Kariuki (2019) found in their study of social work in Canada that the majority of supervisors (66%) had not received training prior to becoming a supervisor. Many also reported no formal succession planning but that they filled a gap when a previous supervisor left. Although this study explored this with a small sample in one geographical area, this raises questions about the level of interest in social work supervision and highlights the need to carefully consider forward planning and training of supervisors.

Finally, the supervisory relationship was viewed as extremely important, particularly when this was safe, trusting and supportive and when power was shared. The importance of the supervisory relationship has long been established (Ekstein & Wallerstein, 1972), and a wide range of research methods and samples all agree about its importance (Bogo & McKnight, 2006; Hensley, 2003; Williams, 1997; Kadushin & Harkness, 2002). Supervisors themselves agree that a strong alliance within supervision where they can exhibit basic counselling or communication skills can create the most useful and best quality sessions (Ladany, Mori & Mehr, 2013). A strong supervisory relationship is a factor that is highlighted across professions and will remain important to consider in supervision practice.

Future Directions for Research

This review highlighted that supervision is valued by social workers, and that they have a relatively clear idea of the aspects that contribute to its usefulness. An important area for investigation is to explore whether these highlighted aspects do contribute to effective professional practice and wellbeing. This will help to understand which aspects are essential for positive worker outcomes, compared to those that are simply desirable. Perhaps an even bigger priority is to establish the impact of good quality supervision on outcomes for clients; this has been established as a research area for investigation by many previous reviews (Beddoe, Karvinen-Niinikoski, Ruch, & Tsui, 2016; Carpenter, Webb, & Bostock, 2013;

Sewell 2018). This is particularly important within the context of the Munro report (2011) which emphasised the need to ensure social work remains child-centred, or indeed client-centred in general. Therefore, the needs of the clients should be considered when devising all aspects of the service, including the supervision received by professionals.

Obtaining data about the usefulness and acceptability of supervision practices from multiple sources will be important, including social workers, supervisors, managers and the clients themselves. This review has highlighted that there may be differences in the views of various stakeholders involved in the supervisory process. By focusing on one outcome source in isolation, research will only gain information about this one perspective, but by expanding sources much more can be learnt about supervision practices (Bogo & McKnight, 2006).

Further research into the impact of training for supervisors will also be important, particularly as research suggests that very few supervisors do actually receive training for this (Hair, 2013). This review indicates some potential areas for focus in training, but studies exploring outcomes before and after training programmes are implemented would be useful.

Another direction of research and clinical importance is to investigate the added value of group supervision. This format was highlighted within the review as something that can offer opportunities and enhance individual supervision sessions. The emphasis in clinical practice and in research tends to be on individual formats (Knight, 2017), but group supervision may be an important area of exploration. For example, there have been suggestions that group supervision may increase critical thinking (Carpenter & Webb, 2012). The various possible outcomes from receiving group compared to individual supervision require more research and investigation.

Strengths and Limitations

This was the first systematic review to synthesise the literature relating to the experiences solely of social workers of being supervised and what they deem to be useful in

supervision. This is an important area to explore further, as there are some disagreements about the most important aspects of supervision. Supervisors and supervisees agree that supervision is vital, but it is important to understand what the experience is of receiving it, and whether this is different from the experiencing of providing supervision.

A second rater was used to assess study eligibility and inclusion, as well as for quality ratings. This helped to ensure that the inclusion and exclusion criteria were used reliably, and that studies were not included or excluded incorrectly. This also helped to improve the reliability of quality ratings, as the overall quality ratings that each rater provided were similar. Due to the time constraints of this project, the involvement of a second rater for all studies was not possible, but a sub-section ensured that reliability was improved.

As discussed, the current UK evidence base for social work supervision is weak, reinforced by the small number of UK-based studies included in this review. Therefore, studies from all over the world were included due to a small sample size of UK-based studies, which allowed more results to be pooled for this review. This led to results that are not specific to one individual country and allows greater generalisability of the themes identified. However, this does also introduce the difficulty of potential cultural differences in the format and experience of supervision between studies.

This review also has a number of limitations. As this review used conventional thematic analysis without relying on an already existing framework for organising information, contextual issues were not considered. This may have led to the Chief Investigator missing key categories that would be important for inclusion. However, this method was chosen to allow the analysis to be immersive and allow themes to emerge more organically from the results reviewed.

The studies included in this review varied widely in terms of methodology and also in quality. This meant that comparison and synthesis across all studies was difficult, particularly due to differences in data collection methods. This may have therefore impacted on the results of this review, as very heterogeneous methodologies may have reduced the comparability across them. Additionally, only studies published in English were included, which may have excluded important insights from studies published in other languages. Grey literature was also excluded with a focus on peer-reviewed studies, which may again have led to important data being excluded.

Conclusion

This systematic review identified a number of key themes that social workers across many different countries agreed were important in ensuring the receipt of useful supervision. The aspects identified are important in considering training of supervisors for this professional group, as well as for further exploration in how different expectations or views of supervision can be addressed within a session. There are many avenues of future research following this review, particularly investigating which aspects of supervision reported as important by social workers have impacts on the outcomes for clients or for the quality of service provided by social workers. Supervision remains important within this profession and should continue to feature within the research agenda for social workers.

References

- Allan, R., McLuckie, A., & Hoffecker, L. (2017). Effects of clinical supervision of mental health professionals on supervisee knowledge, skills, attitudes, and behaviour, and client outcomes: Protocol for a systematic review. *The Campbell Collaboration*, 1-44.
- Baines, D., Charlesworth, S., Turner, D., & O'Neill, L. (2014). Lean social care and worker identity: The role of outcomes, supervision and mission. *Critical Social Policy*, *34*(4), 433-452.
- Bambling, M., King, R., Raue, P., Schweitzer, R., & Lambert, W. (2006). Clinical supervision: Its influence on client-rated working alliance and client symptom reduction in the brief treatment of major depression. *Psychotherapy Research, 16*, 317-331.
- Baretta-Herman, A. (2001). Fulfilling the commitment to competent social work practice through supervision. In L. Beddoe & J. Worrall (Eds.), *Supervision conference from rhetoric to reality: Keynote address and selected papers* (pp. 1-10). Auckland, New Zealand: Auckland College of Education.
- Beddoe, L. (2010). Surveillance or reflection: Professional supervision in 'the risk society'. *British Journal of Social Work, 40*(4), 1279-1296. Doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcq018
- Beddoe, L. (2017). Harmful supervision: A commentary. *The Clinical Supervisor, 36*(1), 88-101.
- Beddoe , L., & Howard, F. (2012). Interprofessional supervision in social work and psychology: Mandates and interprofessional relationships. *Clinical Supervisor*, 31(2), 178-202.
- Beddoe, L., Karvinen-Niinikoski, S., Ruch, G., & Tsui, M. (2016). Towards an interactional consensus on a research agenda for social work supervision: Report on the first survey of a Delphi study. *British Journal of Social Work, 46*(6), 1568-1586.

- Beddoe, L., & Wilkins, D. (2019). Does the consensus about the value of supervision in social work stifle research and innovation? *Aotearoa New Zealand Social Work*, 31(3), 1-6.
- Benton, A., Dill, K., & Williams, A. (2017). Sacred time: Ensuring the provision of excellent supervision. *Journal of Workplace Behavioural Health*, *32*(4), 290-305.
- Bernard, J., & Goodyear, R. (2014). *Fundamentals of Clinical Supervision* (5th ed.).Boston: Pearson.
- Blackman, K., & Schmidt, G. (2014). The development of child protection supervisors in Northern British Columbia. *Child Welfare*, 92(5), 87-105.
- Bogo, M., & Dill, K. (2008). Walking the tightrope: Using power and authority in child welfare supervision. *Child Welfare*, *87*(6), 141-157.
- Bogo, M. & McKnight, K. (2006). Clinical supervision in social work: A review of the research literature. *The Clinical Supervisor*, 24(1-2), 49-61.
 Doi:10.1300/J001V24n01.04
- Boyas, J., Wind, L., & Kang, S. (2011). Clinical supervision in social work: A review of the literature. *The Clinical Social Worker*, 24, 49-67.
- Brandon, M., Sidebotham, P., Bailey, S., et al. (2012). New Learning from Serious Case Reviews: A Two Year Report for 2009-11. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/goverment/publications/new-learning-from-serious-case-reviews-a-2-year-report-for-2009-to-2011</u>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101.
- British Association of Social Workers (2011). BASW/CoSW England research on supervision in social work, with particular reference to supervision practice in multidisciplinary teams. Available at:

https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw 13955-1 0.pdf

- Broadhurst, K., Wastell, D., White, S., et al. (2010). Performing initial assessment: Identifying the latent conditions for error at the front-door of local authority children's services. *British Journal of Social Work, 40*(2), 352-270.
- Caras, A., & Sandu, A. (2014). The Role of Supervision in Professional Development of Social Work Specialists. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, 28(1), 75-94.
- Care Quality Commission (2013). Registration under the Health and Social Care Act 2008: Supporting information and guidance: Supporting effective clinical supervision. *Care Quality Commission*. Received from:

https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/documents/20130625_800734_v1_00_supp orting information-effective clinical supervision for publication.pdf

- Carpenter, J., Patsios, D., Wood, M., et al. (2012). *Newly Qualified Social Worker Programme: Final Evaluation Report (2008-11)*. London: Department for Education.
- Carpenter, J., & Webb, C. (2012). Research briefing 43: Effective supervision in social work and social care. *Social Care Institute for Excellence*. Retrieved from https://www.scie.org.uk/publications/briefings/briefing43/
- Carpenter, J., Webb, C., & Bostock, L. (2013). The surprisingly weak evidence base for supervision: Findings from a systematic review of research in child welfare practice (2000-2012). *Children and Youth Services Review*, 35(11), 1843-1853.
- Clare, M. (1988). Supervision, Role Strain and Social Service Departments. *British Journal* of Social Work, 18(5), 489-507.
- Clark, S., Gilman, E., Jacquet, S., Johnson, B., Mathias, C., Paris, R., & Zeitler, L. (2008). Line Worker, Supervisor, and Manager Perceptions of Supervisory Practices and Tasks in Child Welfare. *Journal of Public Child Welfare*, 2(1), 3-32.

Cohen, M., & Gagin, R. (2005). Can skill-development training alleviate burnout in hospital

social workers? Social Work in Health Care, 40(4), 83-97.

- Cooper, L. (2006). Clinical Supervision: Private Arrangements or Managed Process? Social Work Review, 18(3), 21-30.
- Davys, A. & Beddoe, L. (2010). Best practice in supervision: A guide for the helping professions. London: Jessica Kingsley.
- Devany, J., & Spratt, T. (2009). Child abuse as a complex and wicked problem: Reflecting on policy developments in the UK in working with children and families with multiple problems. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 31(6), 635-641.
- Dickinson, N., & Perry, R. (2002). Factors influencing the retention of specially educated public child welfare workers. *Journal of Health and Social Policy*, *15*(3-4), 89-103.
- Egan, R., Maidment, J., & Connolly, M. (2016). Who is watching whom? Surveillance in Australian social work supervision. *British Journal of Social Work, 46*(6), 1617-1635.
- Egan, R., Maidment, J., & Connolly, M. (2017). Trust, Power and Safety in the Social Work Supervisory Relationship: Results from Australian Research. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, *31*(3), 307-321.
- Egan, R., Maidment, J., & Connolly, M. (2018). Supporting quality supervision: Insights for organisational practice. *International Social Work*, *61*(3), 353-367.
- Ekstein, R., & Wallerstein, R. (1972). *The teaching and learning of psychotherapy*. New York: International Universities Press.
- Ellett, A., Ellis, J., Westbrook, T., & Dews, D. (2007). A qualitative study of 369 child welfare professionals' perspectives about factors contributing to employee retention and turnover. *Children and Youth Services Review, 29*(2), 264-281.
- Ellett, A., & Millar, K. (2004). Professional organisational culture and retention in child welfare: Implications for continuing education for supervision and professional development. *Professional Development: The International Journal of Continuing*

Social Work Education, 7(3), 30-38.

- Ellis, M., Berger, L., Hanus, A., Ayala, E., Swords, B., & Siembor, M. (2014). Inadequate and harmful clinical supervision: Testing a revised framework and assessing occurrence. *The Counselling Psychologist*, 42, 434-472.
- Field, R., & Brown, K. (2019). Effective Leadership, Management and Supervision in Health and Social Care. UK: SAGE.
- Geibler-Piltz, B. (2011). How Social Workers Experience Supervision: Results of an Empirical Study in the Healthcare Sector. *Journal of Social Intervention: Theory and Practice, 20*(1), 5-22.
- Hair, H. (2013). The purpose and duration of supervision and the training and discipline of supervisors: What social workers say they need to provide effective services. *British Journal of Social Work, 43*(8), 1562-1588.
- Hair, H. (2014). Power Relations in Supervision: Preferred Practices According to Social Workers. *Families in Society: The Journal of Contemporary Social Services*, 95(2), 107-114.
- Helm, D. (2011). Judgement of assumptions? The role of analysis in assessing children and young people's needs. *British Journal of Social Work, 41*(5), 894-911.
- Hensley, P. (2003). The Value of Supervision. The Clinical Supervisor, 21(1), 97-110.
- Hoge, M., Migdole, S., Cannata, E., & Powell, D. (2014). Strengthening supervision in systems of care: Exemplary practices in empirically supported treatments. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 42, 171-181.
- Hunt, S., Goddard, C., Cooper, J., Littlechild, B., & Wild, J. (2016). 'If I feel like this, how does the child feel?' Child protection workers, supervision, management and organisational responses to parental violence. *Journal of Social Work Practice, 30, 5-*24.

- Joubert, L., Hocking, A., & Hampson, R. (2013). Social Work in Oncology Managing Vicarious Trauma – The Positive Impact of Professional Supervision. *Social Work in Health Care*, 52(2-3), 296-310.
- Kadushin, G., Berger, C., Gilbert, C., & de St. Aubin, M. (2009). Models and Methods in Hospital Social Work Supervision. *The Clinical Supervisor*, 28(2), 180-199.
- Kadushin, A., & Harkness, D. (2002). *Supervision in Social Work (4th Ed.)*. New York, NY: Columbia University Press.
- Knight, C. (2017). The mutual aid model of group supervision. *The Clinical Supervisor*, *36*(2), 259-281.
- Kondracki, N., & Wellman, N. (2002). Content Analysis: Review of Methods and Their
 Applications in Nutrition Education. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behaviour*, 34, 224-230.
- Ladany, N., Mori, Y., & Mehr, K. (2013). Effective and ineffective supervision. *The Counselling Psychologist*, 41, 28-47.
- Laming, L. (2009). *The Protection of Children in England: Action Plan.* London: Stationary Office.
- Lietz, C. (2009). Critical thinking in child welfare supervision. *Administration in Social Work, 31,* 68-78. Doi:10.1080/03643100903432966.
- Little, M. Baker, T., & Jinks, A. M. (2018). A qualitative evaluation of community nurses' experiences of child safeguarding supervision. *Child Abuse Review, 27,* 150-157.
- Lynch, L., Hanox, K., Happell, B., & Parker, J. (2008). *Clinical Supervision for Nurses*. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- McPherson, L., Frederico, M., & McNamara, P. (2015). Safety as a Fifth Dimension in Supervision: Stories from the Frontline. *Australian Social Work*, *69*(1), 67-79.

Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J. & Altman, D. (2009). Preferred reporting items for

systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Med*, *6*(7). Doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097.

- Morrison, T. (2005). *Staff Supervision in Social Care: Making a Real Difference for Staff and Service Users*. Brighton: Pavillion Publishing.
- Morrison, T., & Wonnacott, J. (2010). Supervision now or never: Reclaiming reflective supervision in social work. Available at: <u>http://www.in-trac.co.uk/reclaiming-reflective-supervision/php</u>
- Mor Barak, M., Travis, D., Pyun, H., & Xie, B. (2009). The impact of supervision on worker outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Social Service Review*, *83*(1), 3-32. Doi:10.1086/599028
- Munro, E. (2011). *The Munro Review of Child Protection: Final report: A Child Centred System*. Norwich: The Stationary Office.
- Munson, C. (1979). *Handbook of clinical social work supervision* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Hawthorn Press.
- Noble, C., & Irwin, J. (2009). Social work supervision: An exploration of the current challenges in a rapidly changing social, economic and political environment. *Journal of Social Work*, *9*(3), 345-358.
- O'Donoghue, K. (2012). Windows on the Supervisee Experience: An Exploration of Supervisees' Supervision Histories. *Australian Social Work*, *65*(2), 214-231.
- O'Donoghue, K. (2014). Towards an Interactional Map of the Supervision Session: An Exploration of Supervisees and Supervisors Experiences. *Practice: Social Work in Action, 26*(1), 53-70.
- Patton, M. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Pecora, P., Whittaker, J., Maluccio, A., & Barth, R. (2000). Organisational requisites for child welfare services. In P. J. Pecora, J. K. Whittaker, A. N. Maluccio, R. P. Barth &

R. D. Plotnick (Eds.), *The child welfare challenge*, (2nd ed., pp. 437-457). New York:
Aldine De Gruyter.

- Phillipson, J. (2009). Supervision and being supervised. In: Adams R., Dominelli, L. and Payne M. (eds). *Practising Social Work in a Complex World*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Pope, C., Mays, N., & Popay, J. (2007). Synthesising Qualitative and Quantitative Health Evidence: A Guide to Methods. UK: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Proctor, B. (1991). Supervision: A co-operative exercise in accountability. In M. Marken, and M. Payne, M. (eds), *Supervision in Practice* (pp. 21-3). Leicester: National Youth Bureau and Council for Education and Training in Youth and Community Work.
- Radey, M. & Stanley, L. (2018). 'Hands on' versus 'empty': Supervision experiences of frontline child welfare workers. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 91, 128-136.
- Rankine, M. (2017). Making the connections: A practice model for reflective supervision. *Aotearoa New Zealand Social Work, 29*(3), 66-78.
- Rose, S., & Palattivil, G. (2018). Surviving or thriving? Enhancing the emotional resilience of social workers in their organisational settings. *Journal of Social Work, 20*(1), 23-42.
- Rushton, A., & Nathan, J. (1996). The supervision of child protection work. *British Journal* of Social Work, 26, 357-374.
- Saltiel, D. (2017). Supervision: A contested space for learning and decision making. *Qualitative Social Work, 16*(4), 533-549.
- Schmidt, G., & Kariuki, A. (2019). Pathways to social work supervision. *Journal of Human Behaviour in the Social Environment, 29*(3), 321-332.
- Scott, L. (1999). The nature and structure of supervision in health visiting with victims of child sexual abuse. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *29*, 754-763.

Sewell, K. (2018). Social Work Supervision of Staff: A Primer and Scoping Review. *Clinical Social Work Journal, 46,* 252-265.

Shulman, L. (2010). Interactional Supervision, 3rd ed. Washington, DC: NASW Press.

- Sirriyeh, R., Lawton, R., Gardner, P., & Armitage, G. (2012). Reviewing studies with diverse designs: the development and evaluation of a new tool. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice, 18,* 746-752.
- Skills for Care and CWDC (2007). Providing Effective Supervision. Available at: <u>http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/developing_skills/leadership_and_management/provi</u> ding_effective_supervision.aspx
- Sweifach, J. (2019). A look behind the curtain at social work supervision in interprofessional practice settings: Critical themes and pressing practical challenges. *European Journal of Social Work, 22*(1), 59-68.
- Tsui, M. (2004). Supervision Models in Social Work: From Nature to Culture. *Asian Journal of Counselling*, 11(1-2), 7-55.
- Tsui, M. (2005). Social Work Supervision: Contexts and Concepts. Thousand Oaks, London: Sage.
- Tsui, M. (2008). Adventures in Re-searching the Features of Social Work Supervision in Hong Kong. *Qualitative Social Work*, 7(3), 349-362.
- Turner-Daly, B., & Jack, G. (2017). Rhetoric vs reality in social work supervision: the experiences of a group of child care social workers in England. *Child and Family Social Work, 22,* 36-46.
- Vito, R. (2015). Leadership support of supervision in social work practice. Canadian Social Work Review, 32(2), 151-165.
- Wilkins, D. (2017). Does reflective supervision have a future in English local authority child and family social work? *Journal of Children's Services*, *12*(2/3), 164-173.

- Wilkins, D., & Antonopoulou, V. (2019). What Does Supervision Help With? A Survey of315 Social Workers in the UK. *Practice: Social Work in Action*, 31(1), 21-40.
- Williams, A. (1997). On Parallel Process in Social Work Supervision. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 25(4), 425-435.

Wonnacott, J. (2012). Mastering social work supervision. London: Jessica Kingsley.

- Wuenschel, M. (2006). The diminishing role of social work administrators in social service agencies: Issues for consideration. *Administration in Social Work, 30*(4), 5-18.
- York, R., & Denton, R. (1990). Leadership behaviour and supervisory performance: The view from below. *The Clinical Supervisor*, 8(1), 93-108.

Chapter Two. Bridging Chapter

Chapter Two

Bridging Chapter

The previous chapter within this portfolio established the importance of supervision for social workers, and highlighted a number of themes including important organisational aspects, attributes of the session, the supervisor and the supervisory relationship. These results suggest that if supervision has certain attributes then it is more useful. Research supports that supervision viewed as useful can help to reduce the impact of stress on social workers (Cohen & Gagin, 2005). The implication of this review is that supervisors may benefit from being further trained in these skills and areas in order to address the gaps felt in current supervision practice. This may lead to the provision of supervision that is experienced as useful for maintaining wellbeing and good quality professional practice.

One current difficulty is that this form of useful supervision is not universally experienced. Surveys have reported that social workers are not always receiving regular supervision, and when they do they do not always feel that it is of good quality (BASW, 2011). Supervisors have reported emphasising different functions of supervision, such as being more likely to focus on a more task-based version of supervision (Beddoe, 2010). Although this review suggests that this is not experienced as useful by social workers, it is important to consider the context of this profession and why it may be more difficult for the 'ideal' supervision to be provided. It has been suggested that the culture within the social work profession has shifted towards an emphasis on accountability for work and outcomes, due to a number of factors. These factors include the fear of experiencing sanctions, both within the organisation and from professional bodies, as well as legal sanctions (Egan, Maidment & Connolly, 2018). This has led some social work organisations to enforce policy within supervision which emphasises tasks and targets, and there is some suggestion that there has been a movement away from considering the service user's needs (Egan et al., 2018). This allows supervisors and therefore organisations greater scope to monitor practice, which although important, has been suggested to remove social worker's individual autonomy and may lead to poorer service user outcomes (Egan & Kadushin, 2004). It is possible that a focus on monitoring, performance and risk management may have eroded the other important functions of supervision highlighted in the review, such as the space for reflection. Supervisors may now face a dilemma between focusing on what their professional principles and supervisees inform them is appropriate or useful supervisory practice, and the regulation policies that are dictated by the organisation (Kadushin & Harkness, 2002). UK policies which reduce the complexities of social work to simply managing risk and ensuring accountability (Phillipson, 2002) reduce the amount of space for reflection and the other aspects of supervision that are experienced as valuable. The outcome of this is that this 'ideal' supervision is not universally experienced, which may have implications for the levels of stress and burnout in this profession.

The finding that social work supervision may not be delivered as effectively as it should be, suggests that research exploring other contributing factors to stress and burnout is vital. Research suggests that having good quality supervision may not be sufficient to buffer social workers entirely from this stress, particularly if this has a task-focus (Peach & Horner, 2007). It therefore would be helpful to identify additional protective factors other than supervision, as well as to understand what other factors are involved that may influence the stress levels of social workers. This is particularly important to understand if the space for reflective supervision is reduced within the context of increased personal accountability and performance management. There are a number of aspects of the job role of a social worker that are likely to contribute to burnout. Other factors that make an individual more or less likely to experience burnout include organisational, contextual and individual factors.

Organisational level factors include the reported lack of understanding of their job role by organisations and the wider community (McPherson, Frederico & McNamara, 2015). This has led to negative media coverage in many countries, which has been described as 'demoralising' (McPherson et al., 2015). The focus on accountability and targets described above also impacts on social worker wellbeing, and can lead to a feeling of shame when they feel that they are no longer able to cope with the demands of the job (Gibson, 2016). Social workers report that they enter the profession with aims to help others and make a difference, but have reported that this can be secondary to ensuring that paperwork and reports are completed within targets (Chanmugam, 2009). The expectations of the organisation can be enforced by the use of praise when an individual meets the standards set, or of shame for those who do not (Alvesson & Willmott, 2002).

Contextual factors include the complexities of the jobs that social workers do (Webb, 2006), as well as their level of caseload, years of experience and the service area in which an individual works (Thomas, Kohli & Choi, 2014). Research has found that child social workers are frequently confronted with complex cases involving social issues, and commonly work within services with few resources (Clark et al., 2008). Caseloads have also been described as 'burdensome', in relation to their large size and the high level of complexity of cases (Kadushin & Harkness, 2002). These factors have been shown to have a negative impact on the wellbeing and morale of staff, as well as an impact on levels of retention within the profession (Clark et al., 2008). More recent reviews continue to find that social workers report working for long hours, with a high caseload which has an inherent amount of unpredictability (Benton, 2016).

Finally, individual factors can be involved when social workers exhibit certain levels of particular traits such as resilience, self-compassion and shame-proneness. These may have implications for their own individual sense of stress and degree of burnout. Research suggests that higher levels of resilience and self-compassion can help to reduce stress (Grant & Kinman, 2014; Neff & Germer, 2013) and higher levels of shame-proneness can lead to negative outcomes (Dearing, Stuewig & Tangney, 2005; Tangney, Wagner, Fletcher & Gramzow, 1992). Resilience as an individual level factor is a potentially contested term, as it can often be used to focus on the individual worker at the expense of the wider context of the organisation, policy and political developments (Collins, 2016). However, within this thesis the concept of resilience is viewed not simply as an individual factor, but relates to factors across all levels that contribute to a social worker's resilience and wellbeing.

Many of these factors have been explored in isolation with social workers, or other professions, but few studies have fully explored and detailed the relationships between some of these factors. The current climate of social work emphasises the importance of personal accountability and pressure is felt on individuals to perform at the level expected of them by their organisation as a whole (Gibson, 2016). This is due to the current context of this research following media coverage of various high-profile child deaths in 2000 and 2007 (Victoria Climbie and Baby P) and the subsequent report written following these and other unfortunate events (Munro, 2011). These events contributed to the current climate of performance management and accountability that exists in social work during the 21st Century (Gibson, 2019). Of particular relevance in this context and yet having received minimal research attention in this professional group is the prevalence of shame, both as a general trait and as a context-specific factor. There are suggestions that shame is likely to become more prevalent within the context of social workers practicing under high levels of scrutiny (Gibson, 2019). Therefore, the study described in the next chapter was developed to explore the relationships between shame, self-compassion and stress/burnout in more detail by asking current social workers to report their levels of these factors and statistically explore

61

the associations. Consideration of contextual and organisational factors is also given, to ensure attention is paid to all levels of influence within the job role of a social worker.

Chapter Three. Empirical Paper

Prepared for Submission to Journal of Social Work

(Author guidelines included in Appendix A)

What role do self-compassion and shame play in stress and burnout in UK social workers?

Katherine Lister

Primary Supervisor: Kiki Mastroyannopoulou Secondary Supervisor: Imogen Rushworth Clinical Supervisor: Charlotte Granger

Word Count: 8492

Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology (ClinPsyD)

University of East Anglia

Abstract

Summary: Social workers in the UK working with children and families experience high levels of stress which can impact on their wellbeing and also on staff retention (Grant & Kinman, 2014). To support social workers effectively, it is important to understand the factors influencing these levels of stress. Research suggests that self-compassion is an important factor and may protect individuals from the negative impact of stress and burnout (Walker, 2017). However, within the current organisational context, social workers have reported the existence of shame responses (Gibson, 2019) which may reduce the likelihood that they are able to show self-compassion. This study aimed to explore the relationships between self-compassion, shame and burnout to form a greater understanding of these factors. A sample of 100 social workers within child and family services in the UK completed a number of online questionnaires to measure these factors.

Findings: A series of correlational and regression analyses were conducted to explore these relationships. The results differentiate between a general predisposition to experience shame, and context-specific shame which was found to be important in predicting levels of burnout in this sample. Self-compassion was also strongly related to burnout.

Applications: These results have important applications for clinical practice, and may help to inform useful support for social workers, as well as providing suggestions for future organisational changes. The implications of these results are discussed and strengths and limitations of the study are acknowledged.

Keywords

Stress; Burnout; Self-Compassion; Shame; Social Workers

What role do self-compassion and shame play in stress and burnout in UK social workers?

The Prevalence and Impact of Workplace Stress

Across professions, recent estimates suggest that annually 602,000 people in the UK suffer from work-related stress, depression or anxiety, which impacts on rates of turnover or staff retention (Health and Safety Executive, 2019). Although workplace stress is experienced across many settings, research suggests it is particularly prevalent in job roles where staff experience regular exposure to emotional or traumatic situations, such as public administration and defence, and human health and social work activities (Health and Safety Executive, 2019). One such professional role that has been found to be associated with very high levels of stress is social workers (Grant and Kinman, 2014). There is considerable debate about a universally agreed definition of what a social worker's job role is, which can be experienced as unhelpful and un-containing (Sweifach, 2019). Within child and family services it does seem to be widely agreed that a major part of the job is to deal with safeguarding concerns, issues of child protection, or general involvement in difficult situations involving vulnerable families (Moriarty, Baginsky, & Manthorpe, 2015). Social workers report that working in this area can be very emotional and demanding (Coffey, Dugdill, & Tattersall, 2004) and job roles often include tasks that are complex, poorly defined and for which there is uncertainty about the perceived correct response (Devany & Spratt, 2009). This context is likely to contribute to an experience of increased stress. Indeed, social workers, particularly within child and family services, have been found to experience higher levels of stress and lower levels of wellbeing than other professionals (McFadden, 2015; Grant & Kinman, 2014).

The impact of exposure to chronic, work-related stress can lead to an experience of 'burnout' (Koutsimani, Montgomery & Georganta, 2019). This is characterised by high emotional exhaustion and depersonalisation and low personal accomplishment (Dyrbye, West & Shanafelt, 2009). Research has found that social workers report high levels of burnout, with 91% of a sample of UK social workers reporting emotional exhaustion and 61% reporting depersonalisation (McFadden, 2015).

Experiencing high levels of burnout can cause problems in retaining and recruiting staff, as individuals feel unable to cope with the demands of the job (DePanfilis, 2006). Recent figures from the Department for Education (2019) found that the turnover rate for full-time child and family social workers in the UK was 15% in 2017-2018; an increase from previous years. Turnover rate is defined as the number of staff who have left the organisations during a given period, divided by the number of staff in the organisation during the same period (Price, 1977). Interestingly, 68% of these leavers had been working in social work for less than five years, suggesting that burnout may impact social workers from very early on in their careers. The average length of time that a social worker has been found to stay in the profession is eight years, compared to 15 years for nurses and 25 years for doctors (Curtis, Moriarty & Netten, 2010). In 2017-2018, 235,660 days were missed due to sickness of social workers, and there was a decrease in people starting the profession (Department for Education, 2019). These high numbers of missed days show a that there is a clear negative impact on social workers' wellbeing, and also highlight problems for services maintaining an experienced and enthusiastic workforce. Perhaps most importantly, this also causes difficulties for the children and families who experience a lack of continuity of care (Alazri, Heywood, Neal & Leese, 2007), which may be especially traumatic for families who have already existing relationship difficulties. This can also have a negative impact on client's trust of the service, leading to dissatisfaction with professionals, causing further difficulties (Powell & York, 1992).

Factors Associated with Stress and Burnout

To combat some of these difficulties, interventions have been designed to help improve the wellbeing of social workers by increasing their resilience (Grant & Kinman, 2014). Resilience is defined as the ability to adapt in a positive way in response to adversity: to be able to cope and to use support effectively (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2013). Higher levels of resilience can have positive impacts for social workers; it can help them manage complexities, enhance their decision-making and help them remain well (Grant & Kinman, 2014). Resilience is a complex attribute, linked to a range of psychological factors, one of which is self-compassion. Neff (2003a) defined self-compassion as consisting of three elements; self-kindness, common humanity and mindfulness. Research suggests that selfcompassion may help to reduce cortisol and increase heart-rate variability in general populations, which may help to decrease levels of stress (Rockliff, Gilbert, McEwan, Lightman & Glover, 2008). There is evidence that higher levels of self-compassion are related to lower levels of burnout in groups of health-care students, nurses and student therapists in the UK (Beaumont, Durkin, Martin & Carson, 2016; Gustin & Wagner, 2013; Walker, 2017). A study exploring the relationship between self-compassion and burnout in social work students also found that increased levels of self-compassion were associated with reduced stress and burnout. (Neff & Germer, 2013). However, there is little research into this relationship in gualified social workers, which forms the first aim of the current study. Research suggests that burnout is likely to be higher in qualified social workers than students (Harr, Brice, Riley & Moore, 2014), so it is important to explore whether the relationship with self-compassion is still evident in this population.

The Importance of Shame

Kinman and Grant (2017) found that the relationship between self-compassion and burnout was not straightforward, suggesting that more research is needed into the contributing factors. One factor that has been the focus of some important recent research papers within social work (Gibson, 2019) is shame, which Fredrickson (2015) describes as incompatible with self-compassion. After a perceived mistake, an individual will experience either shame or guilt; these are distinct and lead to different outcomes. If shame is felt, an individual will report feeling "small, worthless and exposed". As this is unpleasant, the tendency is to try and stop feeling this way, either by denying responsibility or by shifting blame onto others (Fredrickson, 2015). However, a guilt response to a mistake leads to internal tension, remorse and regret. This causes individuals to confess to wrongdoings, apologise and learn from their mistakes (Fredrickson, 2015). Viewed in this way shame can be seen as the less helpful response and one which can also interfere with our ability to be self-compassionate. Woods and Proeve (2014) found that high levels of shame were negatively correlated with all facets of mindfulness and self-compassion, but that guilt was only weakly correlated with self-compassion and some facets of mindfulness. Therefore, if interventions aimed at reducing burnout do not consider the existence of shame-based responses for social workers, their effectiveness may be reduced. This suggests that interventions should target both an increase in self-compassion and a decrease in shame for optimum results.

It is important to understand what makes individuals more likely to experience a shame response, and research suggests that there are two aspects to this. Traditional psychological theory suggests that experiencing shame after a mistake comes from a global negative self-evaluation (Tangney, Miller, Flicker, & Barlow, 1996) and therefore shame can be understood as a disposition: a 'shame-proneness'. Gilbert and Proctor (2006) suggested that this comes from early attachment experiences, where fearing negative consequences of being shamed after a mistake leads to internal self-criticism in children with an insecure attachment to their primary caregiver. Furthermore, high levels of shame-proneness have

been associated with a range of negative factors such as substance abuse (Dearing, Stuewig & Tangney, 2005) and unhelpful anger responses (Tangney, Wagner, Fletcher & Gramzow, 1992). However, more recent research has suggested that shame can also be context-specific and sensitive to a particular social role, for example feeling shame following a mistake at work but not within family relationships (Gibson, 2014). This context-specific shame may be provoked more within professions where there are high levels of demands or expectations placed on staff, such as the culture of performance management that underlies social work (Wastell, White, Broadhurst, Peckover, & Pithouse, 2010). Recent evidence suggests that social workers are vulnerable to experiencing a range of 'self-conscious emotions' such as pride, humiliation and shame (Gibson, 2019), although these emotions may not be identified as such by the individual (Gibson, 2016).

Gibson (2019) suggested that this context-specific shame may be due to an interaction between a social worker's emotional experiences and the external forces placed on them by the organisational context. Due to the expectation of inspections from external bodies, social workers are increasingly experiencing pressure not only to keep children safe, but also to have appropriate evidence to pass inspections (Shoesmith, 2016; Warner, 2015). This emphasis on measurable outcomes and efficiency has led to a shift within social work to accountability and responsibility, and has moved away from allowing social workers to express the emotional impact of the work (Collins, 2008). This is within the context of an emotional demanding job, where research has suggested that child social workers find it very difficult to distance themselves from their work emotionally (Bennett, Evans & Tattersall, 1993). In addition, media coverage and a focus of national attention on child deaths, often blamed on social workers (Shoesmith, 2016), has led to a cultural expectation of an errorless system (Donthu & Yoo, 1998). The institutional standard that is created due to these pressures can be experienced as enforced by the use of praise for those who meet this standard and of shame for professionals who do not live up to this (Alvesson & Willmott, 2002). Gibson (2019) proposed that social workers deal with these conflicts in a number of ways. One such way is 'enacting', which involves internalising the institutional standard to avoid being shamed and complete difficult tasks with less emotional impact. In doing so, an individual may risk becoming less empathetic towards service users, as they seek to behave in a way consistent with the institutional standard. Indeed, enacting has been related to lower levels of empathy for children and families, with priority given to administrative tasks of their job at the expense of the more relational aspects (Gibson, 2019). This is a potentially dangerous consequence for social workers and the service users they support, as empathy is vital for this job role (Gerdes & Segal, 2011), and this is an area which requires further exploration. A second strategy is 'complying', where the standard is not internalised but the individual adheres to it to avoid feeling shame. The consequence of this is that social workers can feel a conflict between their own and the institutional standard, leading to shame about the service they are providing, or disillusionment with the profession. Others may show 'compromising' or 'concealing' responses, either partially resisting the standards whilst meeting the minimum requirements, or resisting only in situations which would not be detected. These responses both attempt to provide the care that an individual wants to provide, whilst avoiding being shamed by the organisation. Finally, social workers may become 'influencing', where they may attempt to challenge the institutional standards. This leads to a high risk of being shamed by the organisation but reduces the chance of feeling ashamed that they are unable to provide the service they would like to. Links can be made to cognitive dissonance, where the larger the gap between an ideal and actual situation, the greater the level of distress (Akpan, Beard & Notar, 2018).

The consequences for the individuals faced with these dilemmas may be widely variable and individualised; shame may be felt when a social worker feels that they have not

got their work 'right', either for the service user (Smith et al., 2009) or the organisation (Chanmugam, 2009), or when they are forced to make a difficult decision and have little support or space to process the emotional ramifications of this (Van Heugten, 2010). (See Gibson (2016) for a scoping review of the range of experiences of shame in social workers). Research has found that the majority of a sample of 60 UK social workers feared that if they did not act in the way that was expected, this would lead to a bad reputation or their being ostracised from the profession (Smith, McMahon, & Nursten, 2003). Social workers have also been reported to feel that employers expect them not to complain or take time off sick, and fear that doing so will lead to a shaming response from the organisation (Galpin, Maksymluk & Whiteford, 2019). Therefore, it is suggested that many social workers may operate within a context where they are threatened with feelings of shame (Munro, 2011; Walker, 2011). Research has generally focused on measuring shame-proneness, but less attention has been paid to context-specific shame. Therefore, a further aim of this study will be to explore the differences between shame-proneness and work-related shame and their relationships with burnout and self-compassion.

Relevant Contextual Factors

It has been suggested that stress and burnout may also relate to other contextual factors, such as caseload numbers and years of experience (Thomas, Kohli & Choi, 2014) or the support that individuals receive at work, for example through supervision (Cohen & Gagin, 2005). McFadden (2015) found that social workers who rated their supervision as ineffective had much higher rates of emotional exhaustion and depersonalisation. Findings suggest that supervision is becoming less nurturing and more focused on accountability (Rogers, 2001) leading to greater dissatisfaction with support received. Mixed results have been found regarding whether burnout is linked to years of experience or caseload numbers, with some studies finding no association with either factor, (McFadden, 2015) and others
suggesting that higher caseloads may be linked to higher levels of stress (Kim, Ji & Kao, 2011). These results, alongside research on context-specific shame, suggest that stress and burnout in social workers may be less to do with their objective level or amount of work, but rather a combination of varied factors. These factors are relevant for further exploration, as contextual factors may be identified that can be addressed by employers in order to reduce burnout (Collins, 2008). It is important that these relationships are understood thoroughly, and that burnout is not simply viewed as a 'deficit' of a particular psychological factor within an individual (Lloyd, King, & Chenoweth, 2002). It is clear that individual, contextual and organisational factors all have an impact on a social worker's likelihood of experiencing shame, support and ultimately burnout, and by exploring these factors further, specific targets for intervention can be identified at each of these levels.

The primary objective of this study is therefore to investigate the links between selfcompassion, shame and burnout in child and family social workers currently working in the UK. It is important to understand the relationships and possible interaction effects between the interconnecting factors discussed above, in order to inform interventions for qualified social workers in the field. With a greater understanding of these relationships, we can gain a better insight of where is likely to be the most helpful area to intervene and how to do so. Therefore, this study has a number of research questions designed to explore these links:

- 1. What is the relationship between self-compassion and burnout in qualified UK child and family social workers?
- 2. What is the relationship between shame (shame-proneness and context-specific shame) and burnout in qualified UK child and family social workers?
- 3. What is the relationship between self-compassion and shame (shame-proneness and context-specific shame) in qualified UK child and family social workers?

- 4. Is shame a moderating factor in the relationship between self-compassion and burnout in qualified UK child and family social workers?
- 5. What is the relevant contribution of experience, size of caseload, frequency of supervision, effectiveness of supervision, self-compassion and shame on burnout in qualified UK child and family social workers?

Methods

Design

This study used a web-based cross-sectional design. An online survey tool (JISC Online Surveys) was used to develop a set of internet-based questionnaires to collect quantitative data. This design was chosen to increase recruitment as much as possible in order to improve the statistical power of the study.

A proposal for this study was considered and internally reviewed by members of staff at the University of East Anglia. It also had ethical approval from the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Ethics Committee at the University of East Anglia (ref 201819-020). A copy of this approval letter is included in Appendix G.

Participants and Recruitment

Participants included in this study were qualified social workers currently working within child and family services in the UK. Exclusion criteria included social work students, retired social workers, those working within other services or with other populations, and different professions. This information was provided through self-report data and was not officially verified. Sample size calculations were conducted using G*Power statistical analysis tool (Faul, Erdfelfer, Lang & Buchner, 2007). Based on a medium effect size and a proposed power of 0.8, these calculations indicated that 64 participants were required for correlational analyses and 109 for a multiple regression. Therefore, the target sample size of this study was 109. See Appendix J for the outputs of these calculations.

The primary source of recruitment was through online social media channels, principally Twitter. Prominent social work bodies were directly approached and repeated tweets were displayed requesting participants including the recruitment poster included in Appendix H. Gatekeepers for recruitment were also identified within a local County Council. These were two Clinical Psychologists working within social care teams, who aided recruitment by sending the recruitment poster (see Appendix H) by email to their teams. These emails were sent out on four different occasions throughout the recruitment phase and were accompanied by discussions of this research within team meetings. The Chief Investigator also attended a meeting of team managers within the same County Council, who additionally sent out an email to their teams. Contact was also made with a local group of independent social workers who were part of the British Association of Social Workers (BASW) Independent group. The Chief Investigator attended a conference of this group where the study was advertised. Various charities or social work bodies were also approached for assistance in publishing the recruitment poster on their websites.

The final sample recruited through these various channels was 102, although two participants were later excluded. It is not possible to identify how many participants were recruited through each channel.

Procedure

Participants accessed the online platform through the various recruitment channels outlined above and were taken to an information sheet and statement of consent (See Appendix D). This included information about the purpose of the study, what was involved and the ethical considerations of the study such as risks, benefits, confidentiality and data storage. By clicking on the link at the bottom of the page, consent was assumed, in line with guidance for seeking proportionate consent using online surveys provided by the Health Research Authority (2017). Participants were made aware at this stage that their involvement in the study was voluntary and that they were able to withdraw from the study at any point by closing the program and their data would not be saved. However, it was made clear that after completing all surveys, their data would no longer be able to be extracted from the anonymous dataset and therefore could not be removed.

After consenting, participants were taken to the measures outlined below. A copy of the survey that participants viewed can be found in Appendix E. Participation was not expected to take more than 20 minutes to complete, as based on pilot testing of the questionnaires with a group of local social workers. Finally, participants were taken to a page detailing debriefing information, including a thank you for taking part in the study, an explanation about what would happen with the results, and some self-help resources. A copy of this debriefing page can be found in Appendix F. Participants were also given contact details of the Chief Investigator for further discussions, questions or complaints, or to receive a summary of the result following completion of the study.

Measures

The following questionnaires were completed by participants. Where possible, shortform versions of questionnaires were used in order to reduce the burden on participants. All questionnaires had permission to be used within research settings and were not subject to copyright restrictions.

Demographic information. Participants were asked questions about their age, gender, current service area, years of service, years in current job, caseload number, frequency and perceived effectiveness of supervision.

Self-Compassion Scale-Short Form (SCS-SF) (Neff, 2003b). To measure selfcompassion, participants were given the SCS-SF. The full-length version was developed to measure self-compassion and the short-form has demonstrated near perfect correlation with the full version ($r \ge 0.97$ in all samples; Raes, Pommier, Neff and Van Gucht, 2011). This short-form has 12 items rated on a seven-point scale ranging from 1 (almost never) to 7 (almost always). It has been shown to have good validity and reliability in non-clinical samples (Hayes, Lockard, Janis & Locke, 2016), with Cronbach's alpha estimated at around 0.85 (Kelly, Carter, Zuroff & Borairi, 2013), and test-retest reliability of 0.71 over a period of five months (Raes et al., 2011).

Burnout Measure-Short Version (BMS) (Pines & Aronson, 1988). This scale was used to measure burnout and asked participants to rate the frequency of 10 items on a sevenpoint scale ranging from 1 (never) to 7 (always). Studies have found satisfactory psychometric properties of this scale, with Cronbach's alpha reported at 0.86 (Lourel, Gueguen & Mouda, 2008).

Test of Self-Conscious Affect (TOSCA-3) (Tangney, Wagner & Gramzow, 1989). This scale presents 11 scenarios to participants and asks them to indicate their emotional reactions. The results are scored to give a measure of shame-proneness and guilt-proneness. Adequate construct validity for the shame and guilt subscales has been established as well as high ecological validity (Tangney, Wagner & Gramzow 1992). Satisfactory levels of testretest reliability and internal consistency have also been found for both subscales of this measure (Stromsten, Henningsson, Holm & Sundbom, 2009). Exact figures for these scales are hard to give due to the differences in samples.

Event-Related Shame and Guilt Scale (Orth, Berking & Burkhardt, 2006). This scale is used to measure context-specific shame, and can be adapted for use with a range of different scenarios. Permission for adapting this scale was granted by the author for use within research settings (see Appendix I). Participants are given a scenario relevant to their job or experiences, in this case, 'the emotional impact of the work that you do'. This scenario was chosen following discussions with social workers in local authorities and within the research team after literature reviews were conducted in this area. It was decided that this

scenario would present a relatively common experience that may lead to 'self-conscious' emotions for social workers. Participants are then asked a series of questions about their response to this scenario, which tap into feelings of shame and guilt. Both of these emotions were assessed in relation to three groups; the families they work with, their own family and their friends. Each item was rated on a six-point scale ranging from 0 (not at all right) to 5 (completely right). The internal consistency of the original scale has been found to be high, with a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 0.96 for shame and 0.94 for guilt (Orth, et al., 2006). The validity of this specific adaptation of the scale was not assessed.

Data collection, storage and analysis

Participants filled in their responses on the online survey tool. Data was then pulled from this website and entered into an Excel spreadsheet and stored on an encrypted memory stick. There was no missing data, as the online platform required participants to answer all questions. 102 participants responded to all questions. As two of these respondents indicated that they were not social workers, they were excluded from the data analysis, leaving 100 participants. The online survey tool also collected data on the number of people who left at each page meaning their data was lost. This showed that 60 people left on page two, 27 on pages three to six and 3303 people on page one. This indicated that advertising of this study helped it to be widely seen, but suggested that many people who clicked the link were either unsuitable or unmotivated to complete the survey.

Results

Sample Characteristics

The majority of the sample were female (87%), and a small proportion were male (13%). A similar ratio of the gender of social workers was reported by the Department for Education (2019) (86% vs 14%) which indicated that this was a representative sample of the profession. The majority of the sample were employed full-time and worked within a Local

Authority. Responses showed that 64% of the sample fell within the age range of 26-45. 75% of the sample had a caseload of between 10 and 30, which is similar to the national average of 17.4. While 38% of participants worked in one area, 51% worked in 4 or more different areas. These sample characteristics are summarised in Table 3.1.

Sample Characteristics		0⁄0
Gender	Male	13
	Female	87
Age	18-25	9
	26-35	35
	36-45	29
	46-55	21
	56-65	6
Sector	Local Authority	90
	NHS	3
	Charity	2
	Private	3
	Other	2
Caseload	Below 10	17
	10-20	34
	20-30	41
	30-40	6
	40-50	1
	50-60	0
	60+	1

Table 3.1 :	Sample	characteristics
--------------------	--------	-----------------

Table 3.1: (continued)

Sample Characteristics		%
Working pattern	Full-time	86
	Part-time	14
Number of service areas	1	38
	2	3
	3	8
	4	17
	5	13
	6	8
	7	3
	8	1
	9	6
	10	2
	11	1

As shown in Figure 3.1 below, there was a spread of years of experience in the sample, but the majority (54%) had only been in their current job for less than two years. This is similar to national statistics which found that 59% of social workers had been working in their Local Authority for less than 5 years (Department for Education, 2019), which highlights difficulties in retaining social workers.



Figure 3.1: Graph to show the total years of experience and years in current job.

Supervision Responses

When asked about supervision, 42% said it was effective, 14% said that it was not and 44% said it was sometimes effective. 95% of the sample were supervised by another qualified social worker, with only five participants receiving supervision from a member of another profession. 75% of participants reported having supervision on a monthly or more frequent basis, which is in line with agreed national standards. However, 12% reported that they only have supervision every two months, and 13% less than every two months. See Table 3.2 for a summary of these responses.

Supervision Characteristic		%
Frequency	Weekly	3
	Fortnightly	5
	Monthly	67
	Every 2 months	12
	Less than every 2 months	13
By whom	Social Worker	95
	Play Therapist	1
	Operations manager	1
	Nurse	1
	CEO	1
Effective	Yes	42
	No	14
	Sometimes	44

Table 3.2: Supervision Characteristics

Levels of Burnout, Self-Compassion, Shame and Guilt

On the burnout measure, when mean scores were rounded to the nearest whole number, 35% of participants' average score fell between 1 and 3 (never, almost never or rarely), and 65% of participants' average scores fell between 4 and 7 (sometimes, often, very often or always). The most common score was 4, with 39% of this sample reporting that they 'sometimes' felt burned out, and the mean score was 3.829. These findings indicate that the majority of the sample experience burnout at least sometimes or more often than this, although this was not a universal experience. The scores for self-compassion suggested that a large proportion of this sample of social workers do show self-compassion, with 77% scoring 3 or more on this scale, where 3 indicated a rating of 'sometimes'. Only one participant's total score was 1 which suggested showing almost no self-compassion. This indicates that self-compassion is not universally expressed or felt in this sample, but that the vast majority do show this attribute at least some of the time.

The scores of shame-proneness and guilt-proneness showed a high level of variation, particularly for shame, where the range of scores was from 11-50. This suggests that there was variability in the level of shame and guilt experienced by social workers. The scores for guilt generally fell within a narrower and higher range, indicating that this was a more common experience for social workers. There is even greater variability in responses on the event-related shame and guilt scale. Only 11 people reported no shame at all, with 89% of the sample therefore reporting that they felt at least some shame about the emotional impact of their work. Eight people reported that they felt no guilt, with 92% reporting that they did feel guilty at least some of the time, suggesting this is a slightly more common emotion. 9% of the sample scored above 40 on the shame subscale, and 14% scored above 40 on the guilt subscale. This suggests that a small minority of people are experiencing extremely high levels of shame and to a larger degree, guilt, about the emotional impact of their work. Table 3.3 below shows the mean scores, standard deviations and range of scores for each of the different scales.

Scale	Mean score (Max)	Standard Deviation	Range of scores
Burnout	3.829 (7)	0.90	1.9-6.4
Self-Compassion	2.878 (5)	0.58	1.33-3.92
Shame-proneness	33.75 (55)	7.72	11-50
Guilt-proneness	46.45 (55)	4.88	30-55
Event-related shame	17.17 (60)	13.82	0-60
Event-related guilt	21.31 (60)	15.15	0-60

Table 3.3: Results from each of the standardised scales

Burnout: Possible scores range from 1-7. A score of 3.4-4.4 indicates burnout, a score of 4.5-5.4 indicates serious burnout.

Self-Compassion: Possible scores range from 1-5. A score of 1-2.5 indicates low self-compassion, a score of 2.5-3.5 indicates moderate self-compassion and a score of 3.5-5 indicates high self-compassion.

Shame-proneness: Possible scores range from 0-55. A score of 0-24 indicates a low level of shame, a score of 25-32 indicates an average level of shame and a score of 33-55 indicates a high level of shame.

Guilt-proneness: Possible scores range from 0-55. A score of 0-38 indicates a low level of guilt, a score of 39-45 indicates an average level of guilt and a score of 46-55 indicates a high level of guilt.

Event-related shame: Possible scores range from 0-60. Higher scores indicate higher levels of shame. There are no cut-offs for levels of shame on this scale.

Event-related guilt: Possible scores range from 0-60. Higher scores indicate higher levels of guilt. There are no cut-offs for levels of guilt on this scale.

Correlational analyses

To answer research questions one to three, a number of correlational analyses were carried out to investigate the relationships between self-compassion, burnout, shame and guilt in more detail. Due to these multiple correlations, the Bonferroni correction was applied to these tests, which reduces the chance of a Type I error. An accepted significance level was originally used of 0.05, which was divided by the number of correlations (9), to give a new significance level of 0.0056. The matrix in Table 4 shows the results of these correlational analyses. In all cases, Pearson's correlation was conducted. Sample size calculations were

conducted using G*Power statistical analysis tool (Faul, Erdfelfer, Lang & Buchner, 2007) which indicated a minimum sample of 64 participants were required for this analysis which was exceeded in this study. Appendix J details the G*Power analysis output for this calculation.

	Burnout	Self- Compassion
Burnout	1	-0.457**
Self-Compassion	-0.457**	1
Shame-proneness	0.264*	-0.567**
Guilt-proneness	-0.047	0.059
Event-related shame	0.487**	-0.531**
Event-related guilt	0.0369**	-0.486**

 Table 3.4: Summary of Correlational analyses

Significant at the level of 0.05=*; Significant at the Bonferroni corrected level of 0.0056=**

As shown in Table 3.4, there were three relationships between burnout and other factors that were significant when the Bonferroni correction was applied. There was a significant negative correlation of moderate strength with self-compassion, a significant positive correlation of a moderate strength with event-related shame and a significant positive correlation of low strength with event-related guilt. These results show that increased levels of burnout were associated with increased levels of event-related shame and event-related guilt, and decreased levels of self-compassion. The relationship between shame-proneness and burnout was significant at the generally accepted significance level, but did not meet significance after the Bonferroni correction was applied. There was no significant relationship between guilt-proneness and burnout.

Self-compassion was found to have statistically significant relationships with three other factors as well as burnout. There was a strong negative correlation with shame-

proneness, a strong negative correlation with event-related shame and a moderate negative correlation with event-related guilt. These results show that increase levels of self-compassion were associated with decreased levels of shame-proneness, event-related shame and event-related guilt. There was no significant association between self-compassion and guilt-proneness.

Moderation Analysis

Two moderation analyses were carried out to establish whether shame-proneness or event-related shame moderated the relationship between self-compassion and burnout. The process followed the guidance from Hayes & Rockwood (2017). Two hierarchical multiple regressions were run to assess the increase in variation explained by the addition of the two interaction terms to a main effects model. These were interaction terms between shameproneness and self-compassion and between event-related shame and self-compassion. Moderation would be seen to have occurred if the direction and/or strength of the relationship between self-compassion and burnout was affected by either shame-proneness or eventrelated shame. To avoid multicollinearity with the interaction term, all continuous variables were centred during this analysis.

Shame-proneness did not moderate the effect of self-compassion on burnout scores, as evidenced by an increase in total variation explained of less than 0.1%, which was not statistically significant (F(1,96)=0.013,p=0.909). Event-related shame also did not moderate the effect of self-compassion on burnout scores, as evidenced by an increase in total variation explained of 0.3%, which was not statistically significant (F(1,96)=0.425p=0.516). These results indicate that there was no evidence of moderation effects found, with the relationship between self-compassion and burnout not changing with the presence of high compared to low levels of shame-proneness or event-related shame.

Multiple regression

To answer research question five, a multiple regression was carried out to explore the relative contribution of a series of predictors to level of burnout. Entered into this multiple regression model were the factors that were significantly correlated with burnout in the univariate analyses carried out above, as well as additional factors thought to have theoretical contributions to burnout. Therefore, the independent variables entered into this model were self-compassion, shame-proneness, event-related shame, event-related guilt, caseload number, frequency of supervision, effectiveness of supervision and years of experience. The dependent variable for this analysis was the level of burnout. Sample size calculations were conducted using G*Power statistical analysis tool (Faul et al., 2007). Based on a multiple regression analysis with eight independent variables and a medium effect size (0.15) this indicated that a minimum sample of 109 participants was required. Although this sample did not quite meet this minimum, advice from statisticians was that this analysis could be carried out with some awareness of this and therefore due caution. Appendix J details the G*Power analysis output for this calculation. A significant regression equation was found (F(8,91)=8.120,p<0.001), with an R² of 0.417. This shows that 41.7% of the variance in burnout can be explained by this model, and that this is a good fit for the data. Four predictors were found to statistically significantly add to the prediction, (p < 0.05; self-)compassion, event-related shame, caseload number and number of years since qualification). This suggests that by knowing the level of these four factors, one is able to predict the level of burnout experienced. The other predictors did not statistically significantly add to the prediction. Regression coefficients and standard errors are displayed in Table 3.5. These results indicate that the moderate effect sizes were found for self-compassion and eventrelated shame, while small effect sizes were found for caseload and years of experience.

Variable	В	SE_B	Beta	
Intercept	3.970	0.849		
Self-Compassion	-0.504	0.164	-0.329*	
Shame-proneness	-0.014	0.012	-0.120	
Event-related shame	0.024	0.009	0.374*	
Event-related guilt	-0.005	0.008	-0.084	
Caseload	0.203	0.078	0.222*	
Freq. supervision	0.103	0.089	0.098	
Eff. supervision	0.153	0.080	0.158	
Years experience	0.129	0.065	0.170*	

 Table 3.5. Summary of Multiple Regression Analysis

B=*Unstandardized regression coefficient; SEB*=*Standard error of the coefficient;*

Beta=Standardised coefficient; *p<0.05

Discussion

The aim of this research study was to explore the relationships between selfcompassion, shame and burnout in a sample of UK social workers. To do this, responses from 100 (n=2 excluded) social workers were analysed using a range of statistics. It is important to understand these factors and the relationships between them in greater detail to inform future interventions to support social workers who risk experiencing the negative impact of stress and burnout.

The multiple regression model suggested that self-compassion, event-related shame, caseload number and length of qualification were the only significant predictors of burnout. This has clinical implications for those groups who could be identified for support and interventions, and what these interventions should target. The implication is that regardless of an individual's predisposition to feel shame, those who experience shame at work due to the emotional impact of their work or significant organisational factors should be offered support, as well as those who are less able to be self-compassionate. Similarly, social workers with a high caseload or those who have been qualified for a longer time could be offered additional support, or organisational changes could be made to reduce these caseload numbers. This may be due to the increased responsibility that comes from additional years of experience or additional cases. It is also important to note the high proportion of participants who work in four or more areas. This may add to the complexity and demands of their job role, and may additionally be associated with higher caseloads. It was not possible within this study to investigate these associations further. An interesting finding was that supervision was not a significant predictor of burnout, which may be for a variety of reasons. Only 42% of the sample felt that their supervision was effective, but it was unclear why this was the case. Although this study asked respondents about the frequency of their supervision, they were not asked whether they felt this was enough or whether supervision should be more frequent than they currently receive. This is an area that could be explored in more depth to establish whether any specific practices within supervision make an individual more or less likely to experience burnout.

Although this multiple regression analysis is a more sophisticated statistical exploration of the relationships between these factors, the sample size for this analysis was 100, and the required sample size for this regression was 108. This means that this study is slightly underpowered which may have resulted in some effects that have practical importance not being detected i.e. other factors within the regression model being excluded mistakenly. Correlational analyses require smaller sample sizes, meaning that the power for these analyses was higher, leading to greater confidence in these results. Therefore, the correlational relationships found are also discussed within this section. These are represented in Figure 3.2 where red lines indicate a positive correlation, blue lines indicate a negative

correlation and the width of the line represents the strength of the correlation. The dotted line represents a non-statistically significant relationship at the Bonferroni corrected level, although significant at the conventional level.



Figure 3.2: A pictorial representation of the relationships between the factors investigated.

These results suggest that the strongest relationship between these factors were the negative correlations between self-compassion and both shame-proneness and event-related shame. This suggests that as self-compassion increased, both types of shame significantly decreased. Moderately strong relationships were also found between self-compassion and burnout, and event-related shame and burnout. This suggests that the more self-compassion that a social worker displayed, and the less event-related shame they felt, the lower their levels of burnout were. It is particularly important to highlight that the negative correlation between shame-proneness and burnout was only significant at the conventional level and not when this was corrected for multiple comparisons. This suggests that although there may be a relationship this is low, indicating that the likelihood of experiencing shame in general was less associated with burnout. This pattern suggests that the important aspect of shame to identify is that felt from the emotional impact of the work, as this is both highly correlated with self-compassion and moderately correlated with burnout. These results are supported by the findings from the multiple regression which found that event-related shame was a significant predictor of burnout, whereas more general shame-proneness was not. The

moderation analysis indicated that the relationships between self-compassion and burnout, and both types of shame and burnout were independent from each other.

Guilt-proneness was not significantly related to either burnout or self-compassion which suggests that a guilt reaction to an adverse event was not associated to these factors. However, event-related guilt was significantly associated with self-compassion (moderately) and with burnout (low-moderate). This implies that there may be something about the context of work and feeling any kind of negative emotion in response to this, which impacts on an individual's level of self-compassion and burnout. However, within the multiple regression model, event-related guilt was not a significant predictor of burnout, which indicates that it is less important to consider than event-related shame.

The conclusions from the results of these analyses taken together suggest that social workers do experience burnout and also experience shame within the context of their work and the emotional impact that this has on them. Although this is not a universal experience, there are a significant proportion of social workers who are experiencing these negative aspects of their job. It is therefore important to support social workers and provide ways to reduce these negative experiences. It can also be concluded that a significant proportion of these social workers have a reasonably high level of self-compassion, and that this is significantly related both to their experiences of burnout and also the likelihood that they will experience shame. The findings suggest that self-compassion remains an important target for interventions, and it indicates that by encouraging self-compassion, social workers may experience less burnout and less shame at work. While interventions have been developed to target general self-compassion for individuals, such as through the use of Compassionate Mind Training (Gilbert & Proctor, 2006), these results suggest that this may be more useful if targeted towards developing more work-specific compassion and therefore reducing context-specific shame. This may be achieved through providing reflective spaces for social workers

to process difficult emotions, or through other individual-level processes such as within oneto-one supervision or through personal development training. Alongside this, change at the organisational level is likely to be an important area of development. Previous research has found that, for example, increasing the respectful treatment of employees has been associated with reduced shame (Braithwaite, Ahemed & Braithwaite, 2005). A recent Care Crisis Review (2018) highlighted the need to move away from the current focus on performance and process, and emphasised the importance of re-centring the focus on ensuring the protection and best outcomes for children and families. In doing so, social workers may experience lower levels of burnout and therefore be more likely to remain in their job. The descriptive data which suggested that the majority of social workers had only been in their current job for less than two years, despite being qualified for significantly longer, suggests that currently retention within jobs is low. This is something that organisations could be aware of, and requires further investigation to see whether changes can impact on rates of turnover.

Strengths and Limitations

Statistically, although the regression model tested was a very good fit for this data, it is possible that by doing univariate analyses first and then entering the significant factors into the model may have led to it becoming 'over-fit'. Therefore, although this model may explain this pool of data very well, it may be less generalisable to the wider population. The multiple regression model only accounts for just less than half of variance in burnout. This suggests that there are likely to be other factors that were not included in this study which may contribute to the likelihood of experiencing burnout. Further research is required to identify these additional factors. Additionally, the sample size did not quite meet the minimum criteria for performing a multiple regression, so further research with larger sample sizes are required to replicate these findings and provide more confidence in these relationships.

Methods used to recruit this sample of social workers may have led to a bias towards those who have stronger views about these issues. These may be social workers who are likely to score particularly high on measures of burnout as they are passionate about this issue. Alternatively, due to time pressures of the job role of a social worker already discussed, participants may be those who have more time and therefore score lower on levels of burnout. It is important to consider these possible impacts of the sampling bias and future research could seek to recruit a more representative sample using alternative recruitment methods. This sample was also limited to social workers currently working within the UK. This sample was chosen as different countries may have different systems and this would allow examination of a more homogenous population. However, this does mean that results cannot be generalised to social workers who are working outside of the UK.

The use of an adapted questionnaire (Event-Related Shame and Guilt Scale) for this study is a limitation, as the adaptation may have reduced the validity of the measure. Although the original measure has been reported to have a high Cronbach's alpha, as the wording of this measure was changed, it is unclear how valid it was for this sample. The adaptation was performed with the author's permission, and is not drastically different from the original which suggests that estimates of validity may be similar. However, this was not formally assessed within this study. There are a wide range of measures developed to assess shame and which have been used within other research studies in this topic area. This may lead to different results found using different questionnaires and causes some difficulty in directly comparing the results of this empirical study to some of these previous results.

The methodology chosen to measure supervisory effectiveness was a single item, which can cause difficulties in concluding firm conclusions about this topic. This was chosen as it was not a core factor of investigation, and time taken to complete the questionnaires was considered. However, this was included as a variable in the multiple regression model, and was found not to be a significant factor. It is difficult to draw a conclusion that the effectiveness of supervision does not contribute to burnout, as a single item measure of this is unreliable. Further investigations using validated measures of supervisory effectiveness are needed.

All scales used within this study were self-report and therefore do not give independent assessments of the factors explored, such as shame or self-compassion. Instead, these results give information about participants' own perception of these factors, rather than objective measures of these. Additionally, due to these questions being asked via an online survey rather than interviews, individual interpretations of the questions could not be assessed and themes could not be further explored. This methodology was chosen to increase the possible sample size to allow statistical analyses to be completed, but may need to be completed by future research expanding on these results using different methodologies.

Using this methodology, the relationships found are correlational rather than causal, which reduces the level of confidence with which we can conclude the mechanisms of these factors. It is therefore difficult to establish the direction of the relationships found, whereby increased self-compassion may have led to burnout, or burnout may cause an individual to feel less self-compassionate.

This study also has a number of strengths, such as the similarity of gender split, age range and average caseload compared to recent national statistics (Department for Education, 2019). This suggests that the results from this study are representative and therefore generalisable to the wider population of social workers in the UK. The sample size was also large which again adds to the generalisability of the findings. This study is addressing a gap in the literature which has not been investigated before. Self-compassion and shame in social workers have been areas which have received little attention in the research literature, and this has highlighted an area for important developments and further research. Specifically,

94

this is one of the first empirical studies to consider the differences between shame-proneness and context-specific shame and has found important results in this area.

Directions for future research

Replications of this study or similar variations in other countries will be useful to see whether these findings are unique to UK social workers or relate to issues for the global job role of a social worker. More qualitative research will also be useful to facilitate greater understanding of the existence and experience of these factors, particularly shame, for social workers. This research indicates that social workers feel shame but it is unclear what this feels like or how participants would describe this. Theoretical models (Gibson, 2019) suggest ways in which this may be experienced, and strategies to cope with this difficult emotion, but directly asking social workers about this will be a vital part of future research. Related to this, exploring what aspects of professional practice may contribute to feelings of shame will also be important. These negative feelings may be due to level of responsibility, the impact of what 'failing' might mean for a social worker, having an idealistic view of social work or fear of public opinion, among other factors. An exploration of the possible determinants will be important to understand this emotion in greater depth. It is likely that shame may be an experience within other areas, and research could be conducted to explore where else this might be common, such as in other helping professions e.g. medicine, teaching and psychology. Establishing if there are common elements of these jobs that may induce shame will be useful.

As well as further research into these difficulties, future research and development could be done to continue to assess the effectiveness of self-compassion or shame-based interventions. It will be important to consider these findings about context-specific shame when designing and implementing these interventions. The creation and development of interventions specifically for the social work profession, or professions experiencing contextspecific shame could be considered and trialled to explore their effectiveness.

Conclusion

This study explored the relationships between stress and burnout, self-compassion and shame in a sample of UK child and family social workers. It identified the importance of context-specific shame, which is a concept that has not received wide research attention previously. The results of this study have implications for support that could be offered to social workers, as well as suggestions for organisational-level changes or considerations for the profession as a whole.

References

- Akpan, J., Beard, L., & Notar, C. (2018). Cognitive Dissonance: The bane of value systems. *International Journal of Social Science and Business*, *3*(1), 1-5.
- Alazri, M., Heywood, P., Neal, R., & Leese, B. (2007). Continuity of Care: Literature review and implications. *Sultain Oaboos University Medical Journal*, *7*(3), 197-206.
- Alvesson, M. & Willmott, H. (2002). Identity regulation as organisational control: Producing the appropriate individual. *Journal of Management Studies*, *39*(5), 619-644.
- Beaumont, E., Durkin, M., Martin, C., & Carson, J. (2016). Compassion for others, selfcompassion, quality of life and mental well-being measures and their association with compassion fatigue and burnout in student midwives. A quantitative survey. *Midwifery, 34*, 239-244.
- Bennett, P., Evans, R., & Tattersall, A. (1993). Stress and coping in social workers: A preliminary investigation. *British Journal of Social Work, 23*, 31-44.
- Braithwaite, V., Ahmed, E., & Braithwaite, J. (2005). Workplace Bullying and Victimisation:
 The Influence of Organisational Context, Shame and Pride. *International Journal of Organisational Behaviour*, *13(2)*, 71-94.
- Care Crisis Review (2018). Options for Change. London: Family Rights Group.
- Chanmugam, A. (2009). A qualitative study of school social workers' clinical and professional relationships when reporting. *Children and Schools, 31*(3), 145-161.
- Coffey, M., Dugdill, L., & Tattersall, A. (2004). Stress in social services: Mental well-being, constraints and job satisfaction. *British Journal of Social Work, 34(5),* 735-47.
- Cohen, M., & Gagin, R. (2005). Can skill-development training alleviate burnout in hospital social workers? *Social Work in Health Care, 40*(4), 83-97.
- Collins, S. (2008). Statutory Social Workers: Stress, Job Satisfaction, Coping, Social Support and Individual Differences. *The British Journal of Social Work, 38*(6), 1173-1193.

- Curtis, L., Moriarty, J., & Netten, A. (2010). The expected working life of a social worker. British Journal of Social Work, 40, 1628-1643.
- Dearing, R., Stuewig, J., & Tangney, J. (2005). On the importance of distinguishing shame from guilt: Relations to problematic alcohol and drug use. *Addictive Behaviours*, 30(7), 1392-1404.
- DePanfilis, D. (2006). Compassion fatigue, burnout and compassion satisfaction: Implications for retention of workers. *Child Abuse and Neglect, 30*, 1067-1069.
- Department for Education (2019). Experimental statistics: Children and family social work workforce in England, year ending 30 September 2018. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme</u> <u>nt_data/file/782154/Children_s_social_work_workforce_2018_text.pdf</u>
- Devany, J., & Spratt, T. (2009). Child abuse as a complex and wicked problem: Reflecting on policy developments in the UK in working with children and families with multiple problems. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 31(6), 635-641.
- Donthu, N., & Yoo, B. (1998). Cultural influence on service quality expectations. *Journal of Service Research, 1,* 178-196.
- Dyrbye, L., West, C., & Shanafelt, T. (2009). Defining Burnout as a Dichotomous Variable. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *24*(3), 440-444.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, D., Lang, A. & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioural and biomedical sciences. *Behaviour Research Methods*, 39, 175-191.
- Fletcher, D. & Sarkar, M. (2013). Psychological resilience: A review and critique of definitions, concepts and theory. *European Psychologist*, 18(1), 12-23.
- Fredrickson, K. (2015). *Give Yourself a Break: Turning your Inner Critic into a Compassionate Friend*. North Carolina: Revell.

- Galpin, D., Maksymluk, A., & Whiteford, A. (2019). Social workers are being blamed for their own stress and burnout. The Guardian. Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/society/2019/jul/31/social-workers-stress-burnoutresilience</u>
- Gerdes, K. E., & Segal, E. (2011). Importance of Empathy for Social Work Practice: Integrating New Science. *Social Work, 56(2),* 141-148.
- Gibson, M. (2014). Social Worker Shame in Child and Family Social Work: Inadequacy,Failure and the Struggle to Practice Humanely. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, 28(4), 417-431.
- Gibson, M. (2016). Social Worker Shame: A Scoping Review. *The British Journal of Social Work, 46*(2), 549-565.
- Gibson, M. (2019). The Role of Pride, Shame, Guilt and Humiliation in Social ServiceOrganisations: A Conceptual Framework from a Qualitative Case Study. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 45(1), 112-128.
- Gilbert, P., & Proctor, S. (2006). Compassionate mind training for people with high shame and self-criticism: overview and pilot study of a group therapy approach. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy*, 13(6), 353-379.
- Grant, L. & Kinman, G. (2014). *Developing Resilience for Social Work Practice*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gustin, L., & Wagner, L. (2013). The butterfly effect of caring clinical nursing teachers' understanding of self-compassion as a source to compassionate care. *Scandanavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 27, 175-183.
- Harr, C., Brice, T., Riley, K., & Moore, B. (2014). The Impact of Compassion Fatigue and Compassion Satisfaction on Social Work Students. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, 5(2), 233-251.

- Hayes, J., Lockard, A., Janis, R., & Locke, B. (2016). Construct validity of the Self-Compassion Scale-Short Form among psychotherapy clients. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly, 29*, 405-422.
- Hayes, A., & Rockwood, N. (2017). Regression-based statistical mediation and moderation analysis in clinical research: Observations, recommendations, and implementation. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *98*, 39-57.
- Health and Safety Executive (2019). *Work-related stress, anxiety or depression statistics in Great Britain*. Available at: <u>http://www.hse.gov.uk/statistics/causdis/stress.pdf</u>
- Health Research Authority (2017). *Applying a proportionate approach to the process of seeking consent*. Available at: <u>http://www.hra.nhs.uk/documents/2017/01/applying-proportionate-approach-process-seeking-consent.pdf</u>
- Kelly, A., Carter, J., Zuroff, D., & Borairi, S. (2013). Self-compassion and fear of selfcompassion interact to predict response to eating disorders treatment: A preliminary investigation. *Psychotherapy Research*, 23, 252-264.
- Kim, H., Ji, J., & Kao, D. (2011). Burnout and Physical Health among Social Workers: A Three-Year Longitudinal Study. *Social Work*, 56(3), 258-268.
- Kinman, L. and Grant, L. (2017). Building resilience in early-career social workers: evaluating a multi-modal intervention. *British Journal of Social Work*, 47(7), 1979-1998.
- Koutsimani, P., Montgomery, A., & Georganta, K. (2019). The Relationship Between Burnout, Depression, and Anxiety: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 284.
- Lloyd, C., King, R., & Chenoweth, L. (2002). Social work stress and burnout: A review. Journal of Mental Health, 11(3), 255-65.
- Lourel, M., Gueguen, N., & Mouda, F. (2008). Psychometric Properties of a Global

Measure of Job Burnout. Studia Psychologica, 50, 109-118.

- McFadden, P. (2015). Measuring Burnout among UK social worker: A Community Care study. Belfast: Queen's University.
- Moriarty, J., Baginsky, M. & Manthorpe, J. (2015). Literature review of roles and issues within the social work profession in England. London: Social Care Workforce Research Unit, King's College.
- Munro, E. (2011). *The Munro Review of Child Protection Interim Report: The Child's Journey*. London: DfE.
- Neff, K. (2003a). Self-compassion: An alternative conceptualisation of a healthy attitude towards oneself. *Self and Identity*, *2*(2), 85-101.
- Neff, K. (2003b). The development and validation of a scale to measure self-compassion. *Self* and Identity, 2, 223-250. Doi:10.1080/15298860390209035
- Neff, K., & Germer, C. (2013). A pilot study and randomised controlled trial of the mindful self-compassion program. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 69(1), 28-44.
- Orth, U., Berking, M., & Burkhardt, S. (2006). Self-conscious emotions and depression: Rumination explains why shame but not guilt is maladaptive. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 32*, 1608-1619.
- Pines, A., & Aronson, E. (1988). (Eds.). *Career burnout: Causes and cures*. New York: Free Press.
- Powell, M., & York, R. (1992). Turnover in County Public Welfare Agencies. Journal of Applied Social Sciences, 16(2), 111-27.
- Price, J. L. (1977). The study of turnover. Iowa: Iowa State University Press.
- Raes, F., Pommier, E., Neff, K., & Van Gucht, D. (2011). Construction and Factorial
 Validation of a Short Form of the Self-Compassion Scale. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy*, 18, 250-255.

- Rockliff, H., Gilbert, P., McEwan, K., Lightman, S., & Glover, D. (2008). A pilot exploration of heart rate variability and salivary cortisol responses to compassion-focused imagery. *Clinical Neuropsychiatry*, *5*, 132-139.
- Rogers, A. (2001). Nurture, bureaucracy and rebalancing the mind and heart. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, *15*(2), 181-91.
- Shoesmith, S. (2016). *Learning from Baby P: The politics of blame, fear and denial*. London: Jessica Kingsley.
- Smith, A., Fisher, J., Schonberg, M., Pallin, D., Block, S., Forrow, L., Phillips, R., & McCarthy, E. P. (2009). Am I doing the right thing? Provider perspectives on improving palliative care in the emergency department. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 54(1), 86-93.
- Smith, M., McMahon, L., & Nursten, J. (2003). Social workers' experience of fear. British Journal of Social Work, 33, 659-671.
- Stromsten, L., Henningsson, M., Holm, U., & Sundbom, E. (2009). Assessment of selfconscious emotions: A Swedish psychometric and structure evaluation of the Test of Self-Conscious Affect (TOSCA). Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 50(1), 71-77.
- Sweifach, J. (2019). A look behind the curtain at social work supervision in interprofessional practice settings: Critical themes and pressing practical challenges. *European Journal of Social Work, 22*(1), 59-68.
- Tangney, J., Miller, R., Flicker, L., & Barlow, D. (1996). Are shame, guilt and embarrassment distinct emotions? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 70, 1256-1269.
- Tangney, J., Wagner, P., Fletcher, C., & Gramzow, R. (1992). Shamed into anger? The relation of shame and guilt to anger and self-reported aggression. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 62(4), 669.

- Tangney, J., Wagner, P., & Gramzow, R. (1989). The Test of Self-Conscious Affect (TOSCA). Fairfax, VA: George Mason University.
- Tangney, J., Wagner, P., & Gramzow, R. (1992). Proneness to shame, proneness to guilt, and psychopathology. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 101, 469-478.
- Thomas, M., Kohli, V., & Choi, J. (2014). Correlates of Job Burnout among Human Services Workers: Implications for Workforce Retention. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare, 41,* 69-91.
- Van Heugten, K. (2010). Bullying of social workers: Outcomes of a grounded study into impacts and interventions. *British Journal of Social Work*, 40(2), 638-55.
- Walker, L. (2011). The relevance of shame in child protection work. *Journal of Social Work Practice, 25,* 451-463.
- Walker, L. (2017). Compassion, Burnout and Self-Care in NHS Staff Delivering Psychological Interventions. (Professional Doctorate Thesis, University of East London, Londond, UK). Retrieved from: https://repository.uel.ac.uk/item/84qz3.
- Warner, J. (2015). *The emotional politics of social work and child protection*. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Wastell, D., White, S., Broadhurst, K., Peckover, S., & Pithouse, A. (2010). Children's services in the iron cage of performance management: street-level bureaucracy and the spectre of Svejkism. *International Journal of Social Welfare*, 19, 310-320.
- Woods, H. and Proeve, M. (2014). Relationships of mindfulness, self-compassion and meditation experience with shame-proneness. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy: An International Quarterly, 28*(1), 20-33.

Chapter Four. Extended Results

Chapter Four

Extended Results

Statistical Assumptions

Correlational Analyses. A series of correlational analyses were conducted to explore the relationships between self-compassion, shame-proneness, event-related shame and burnout. All variables included in these correlations were continuous and each participant had related pairs of data points for each variable. Linearity was determined for each analysis, as assessed by visual inspection of scatterplots showing 'straight line' relationships. No outliers were found for any of the variables, assessed by visual inspection of a series of scatterplots, so all data was included in the analyses. Normality was assessed using visual inspections of histograms and using the Shapiro-Wilk test of normality. All histograms showed normal distribution and no Shapiro-Wilk results were significant to indicate a significant difference from normal distribution (all were above 0.05).

Moderation Analyses. Two moderation analyses were conducted to explore whether there were any moderating or interaction effects of either shame-proneness or event-related shame on the relationship between self-compassion and burnout. To carry out these analyses hierarchical multiple regressions were carried out. The independent and dependent variables using in these analyses were both continuous. Linearity was assessed using visual inspection of a scatterplot and was determined to show linearity for both analyses. There was no multicollinearity, with all tolerance values greater than 0.1. No outliers or leverage points were detected. One influential case was detected with a Cook's Distance greater than 1. All cases were kept in on further examination. There was homoscedasticity as shown by the normal 'scatter gun' appearance of a plot of studentised residuals and predicted values. Normality was established through visual inspection of histograms and with all the values from Shapiro-Wilks tests being above 0.5 and therefore not significant.

Multiple Regression. A multiple regression was conducted to predict burnout from a range of independent variables. The dependent variable in this analysis was continuous and there were two or more independent variables that were either continuous or nominal. Independence of the observations was assessed using the Durbin-Watson statistic. The value of this was 2.096 indicating that there was independence of residuals. Linearity was assessed using partial regression plots which all indicated linear relationships and a plot of the studentised residuals against the predicted values which also showed that the relationship was likely to be linear. There was normality of residuals as shown by a histogram and by a normal PP plot with data points falling close to the line. There was homoscedasticity as shown by the normal 'scatter gun' appearance of a plot of studentised residuals and unstandardized predicted values. There was no evidence of multicollinearity, with all tolerance values greater than 0.1. One case was found to have a standardised residual of more than 3 standard deviations and one case was also found to have a studentised residual of more than 3 standard deviations. One case was also found to have above the 'safe' value of leverage, greater than 0.2 However, no cases had values for Cook's distance above one. All cases were kept in the analysis following further examination as no case was problematic in all areas.

Additional Analyses

Event-related shame subscales. The event-related shame scale is able to be split into three subscales, to give a separate score for shame felt when with work colleagues, family and friends. The questionnaire is designed to ask social workers to think about the emotional impact of their work, and then to think about how each of the statements feels when they are with one of these three groups. Additional correlational analyses were carried out to explore whether there were differing relationships or strengths of associations to burnout between each of these subscales. This was not included in the main paper as these correlations were not planned during the design of the study. Significant positive correlations were found for all three subscales (work colleagues – r(98) = 0.511, p < 0.001; family – r(98) = 0.426, p < 0.001; friends – r(98) = 0.389, p < 0.001). The relationship between shame when with work colleagues to burnout was strong, whereas when with family the relationship was moderate and with friends it was low-moderate. This suggests that thinking about the emotional impact of work whilst at work with colleagues is the most strongly associated with burnout.

Additional Qualitative Information. During the data collection phase, the Chief Investigator was contacted by a participant who offered their lived experience of this issue. Permission was given by this participant for quotes supplied by themselves to be included within this thesis portfolio in the extended results section. As this was not an original component of the thesis project, this additional permission was sought and discussed both with the anonymous contributor and the research team. This highlighted the personal impact of this topic and highlighted the challenge of doing research in an emotive area; this led to information being provided that was not planned to be collected, and raised boundary issues as the Chief Investigator was contacted directly. During research supervision these issues were discussed and it was agreed that the information provided by this anonymous contributor was important to explain the issues discussed in this thesis. Therefore, the information is included here with permission.

Personal reflections about this part of the research include the ethical dilemma presented regarding including information not originally sought during this project. This highlighted the role of research in impacting on clinical work and the experiences of individuals, as well as ensuring that the research is conducted in a rigorous and valid way. There were some uncomfortable feelings around boundary violations due to the direct contact of this participant, but this was dealt with in a professional and transparent way, with all of the research team being aware of this. This experience highlighted the value of this research for the Chief Investigator and showed that this is an important area of exploration, further strengthening the decision to include this within the thesis portfolio.

A discussion of the experience given by this participant is important, to illustrate the reality of this issue, particularly considering the impact of shame on this particular social worker. This highlights the importance of supporting social workers and providing ways to attempt to reduce these negative experiences. The theory from a basic thematic analysis was used to summarise the data given by this participant (Braun & Clarke, 2006). There are difficulties with the validity of using data from one participant to develop themes, and the method used was not a formal thematic analysis, due to the lack of data from which to draw common themes. The topics illustrated from the experience of this one participant are grouped and described below.

Topics from this extract of lived experience included a lack of support from the organisation, pressure or fear of shame, a conflict between the individual's own and the organisational expectations, and suppressing emotions.

Lack of care and support. This summarises this individual's experience of working within a local authority which they felt did not support their needs. After ten years of employment, this individual said that 'considering it is supposed to be a caring profession, they do not care about people or their staff.' They reported that supervision was 'task driven and procedural, mostly about meeting targets. It was never emotionally sensitive; it did not ever consider secondary trauma and/or compassion fatigue.'

Pressure or fear of shame. This individual reported a feeling of having to 'prove myself' within a context where 'the atmosphere was not so good to work in' and where '...rising unrealistic expectations [were] placed before me in my job'. They reported that 'weekly by email, spreadsheets were sent round the whole authority naming social workers whose work was out of date, without any context; that message of not being 'good enough'
when working as hard as I/we did was soul destroying'. This pressure was not only felt from organisations, but also from the media; 'I felt the weight of the media and public criticism and [was] frightened of the naming of social workers in the media as being to blame. I could imagine that it could happen to me.'

Conflict of own vs organisational standards. This area highlighted the reports from this individual that their own priorities within the profession were different from those emphasised by the local authority as a whole. This individual reported that 'I had concern about the quality of my work as meeting deadlines seemed more important than spending time with children and families.' This individual spoke about coping with this pressure or fear of shame by trying to balance these two competing demands; 'In order to swim and not sink, I went through a stage of trying to be very procedural in my approach as this seemed to be the organisational line, but I felt conflicted with this and I was worried about some of the children and young people on my caseload'

Suppressing emotions. The outcome of much of this pressure was for this individual to suppress their emotions, reporting that '…I tried very hard to be "tough", not show "weakness" or be "emotional".' They explained that if they were upset due to their work they 'felt very embarrassed and foolish.' This was expressed with some anger, stating 'why should I have to switch off to it emotionally?' They summed up this point by simply stating that '…some excellent, kind, caring, compassionate social workers come into practice, give it their all, have some bad experiences, cry at their desk, cry in the toilets and then they leave.'

It is important to use caution when drawing too many conclusions from these themes or topic areas, as this is the experience of just one individual working within one local authority. However, the issues highlighted by their experience align with the literature discussed elsewhere in this thesis and it is important to make links to the human experience that is impacted by these factors. Chapter Five.

General Discussion and Critical Evaluation

Chapter Five.

General Discussion and Critical Evaluation

The aim of this thesis project was to review social worker's perceptions of supervision, and to explore some of the factors that contribute to burnout in this profession. The research aimed to identify key elements that could be useful for future interventions or amendments to the current social work profession, by investigating the relationships between self-compassion, shame and burnout in greater depth as well considering social worker's experiences of supervision.

A systematic review synthesised literature exploring social workers' views and experiences of receiving supervision within their profession. The results of 19 studies were extracted and a process of thematic analysis was conducted. This resulted in four main themes (organisation, session, supervisor and relationship), with corresponding sub-themes that describe what social workers reported as useful about supervision. Organisational factors included supervision being valued by the organisation and a lack of pressure or control. The theme of the session included aspects of the content and also practical aspects. The content was reported to be useful when it included feedback, reflection, knowledge and professional development, emotional support, a focus on direct clinical work, included challenges, had direction and was flexible or balanced. Less useful was when sessions were task-based. Practical aspects included time, the context within which supervision was delivered and having consistency and frequency. The supervisor was an important theme, including their position as someone respected, their personal attributes and their skills or experience. Useful supervisory attributes included having admirable values, being genuine, approachable and available and not being controlling. Important skills and experience included those in clinical, leadership and organisational areas. Finally, the supervisory relationship was viewed as important, with sub-themes detected about equality, support and trust and safety.

An empirical study was also carried out, which aimed to explore the relationships between burnout, self-compassion and shame in UK social workers, using an online survey. A series of analyses were conducted and found that there were strong relationships between these factors. The findings from each of these papers will be summarised within the context of the literature of this topic.

Summary of the findings in the context of the literature

The experience of stress and burnout has been highlighted as common within the profession of social work (Grant & Kinman, 2014), with estimates of 91% of a UK sample reporting emotional exhaustion (McFadden, 2015). The results from the empirical study in this thesis supports these results, indicating that qualified UK social workers do experience high levels of burnout. Burnout in this profession can lead to difficulties with staff retention (DePanfilis, 2006) as well as negative effects on the wellbeing of those affected (Lloyd, King & Chenoweth, 2002). Previous research has linked the factor of self-compassion to burnout within various professions (Beaumont, Durkin, Martin & Carson, 2016; Gustin & Wagner, 2013; Walker, 2017) finding that increased levels of self-compassion have been associated with reduced levels of stress and burnout. This empirical study extends the research literature to focus on UK qualified social workers and shows agreement that there is a strong negative relationship between self-compassion and burnout. This supports current approaches within social work to introduce interventions to help cultivate self-compassion in social workers (Grant & Kinman, 2014).

The importance of shame is an emerging field in the literature within this area, which suggests that an experience of shame can interfere with self-compassion (Woods & Proeve, 2014). However, there is a lack of evidence to show whether shame is a common experience for qualified social workers (Gibson, 2019), with much of the existing research focusing on shame as an experience for patients rather than professionals (Goldberg, 1991; Miller, 1996;

Lansky & Morrison, 1997). Recent evidence suggests that social workers may be vulnerable to experiencing a range of 'self-conscious emotions', such as pride, humiliation and shame from various sources or mechanisms (Gibson, 2019). This may be because social workers experience a conflict between their own standards and those emphasised by the organisation they work in (Gibson, 2019). In an attempt to deal with these conflicts, social workers may show a range of responses, either internalising the institutional standard, complying with the minimum requirements or superficially complying, with a small proportion attempting to resist or make changes to the current organisational pressures. The result is that social workers currently work within a culture where the fear of being shamed motivates professionals to meet deadlines, as well as being expected to make difficult decisions without being affected by the emotional impact of this (Horwitz, 2010). Indeed, research supports that social workers report feeling a need to act in the way that their organisation expects, to avoid being ostracised from the profession (Smith, McMahon & Nursten, 2003). Social workers also report that they feel they are expected to 'never complain' or to take time off as this is likely to result in a shaming response from their organisation (Galpin, Maksymluk & Whiteford, 2019).

The results of this empirical study support this conceptual framework, as the relationship between event-related shame was found to be highly significantly related to burnout, compared to the low relationship between shame-proneness and burnout. This could support the suggestion that social workers experience the dilemmas posited in the work carried out by Gibson (2019), namely context-specific shame. The empirical paper found that some social workers reported feeling no shame, and these may be those who have internalised the institutional standards and are therefore not experiencing the uncomfortable feeling of being shamed by the organisation or by themselves in not delivering the care that they feel is ideal. Alternatively, these individuals may be those who work within

organisations that do not have these difficult dynamics or institutional standards that conflict with their own. Further research, perhaps using qualitative methods is needed to explore the experience of shame in social workers further to determine what this is like and where social workers perceive this shame to originate.

The importance of other contextual factors regarding a social worker's job role must not be ignored. For example, research supports the findings within the empirical paper described here that level of caseload and years of experience contribute to the level of burnout experienced (Thomas, Kohli & Choi, 2014). These are factors that will be required to be considered within job planning for social workers, to ensure that they are well supported. Supervision has been long established as a part of the social work profession, and is widely reported as useful (Hensley, 2003). In fact, recent reports describe supervision as one of the most important determinants of positive outcomes and an effective service (Skills for Care and CWDC, 2007). Despite not being a significant predictor within the empirical paper, the systematic review confirmed that there are aspects of supervision that are extremely useful for social workers. Many of these aspects are those that are agreed to be useful by the supervisors providing this (Bogo & McKnight, 2006; McPherson, Frederico & McNamara, 2015). However, recent discussion has focused on the social work profession as within a context of accountability and risk prevention (Beddoe, 2010). The emphasis on these aspects of supervision has been suggested to be more important to supervisors than supervisees (Radey & Stanley, 2018), which is supported by the findings in this systematic review. Some argue that supervision may be at risk of becoming a way in which social workers can be monitored (Johns, 2001), with a move away from the aspects that have been highlighted in this systematic review as being useful. A recent survey conducted by BASW (2011) found that although 58% of respondents felt that their supervision covered case issues, 70% felt it did not cover emotional issues, and 62% reported it did not cover professional development.

Despite this, 91% of respondents reported wanting to receive supervision monthly or more frequently, although only 64% did receive it this often. Therefore, it is important to consider what the purpose, format and content of supervision is, as evidence supports that useful and good quality supervision can lead to a range of positive outcomes, but that reactive supervision with a focus on risk and surveillance can be detrimental (Beddoe, 2010). Clearly management and administrative tasks are vital in order to protect the safety of service users (Clare, 1988), but recent suggestions may be that this should be separated from the other aspects of supervision that may be more neglected within the current climate of social work (Beddoe, 2010). A link between the findings in the systematic review and those in the empirical paper may be that the existence of shame within social work is in turn creating problems for supervisory practices. As such, supervisors are likely to experience the same dilemmas as supervisees in terms of conflicts between their own and institutional standards, and in fact may even experience this to a greater degree. These feelings of shame may therefore be impacting on the supervision that they deliver, which may negatively impact on the social workers receiving it.

Clinical Implications

The clinical implications of the findings from this thesis are that burnout and contextspecific shame are both concepts which can cause difficulties for social workers and require monitoring as well as further exploration. Due to the strong positive correlation between shame and self-compassion, it will be important to identify shame responses as early as possible in order to reduce the experience of burnout. Shame may still be considered a taboo topic amongst professionals, and one which elicits strong and uncomfortable feelings (Brown, 2006) which may prevent discussions about this experience. However, the implication from this research is that this is a shared experience which requires careful thought about how to encourage conversations about these issues, perhaps through supervision or team meetings.

Similarly, the negative relationship between self-compassion and burnout suggests the importance of interventions that may help to increase resilience by supporting social workers to be more self-compassionate. This may involve the introduction of mindfulness-based groups that have found to be effective for groups of helping professionals (Newsome, Waldo & Gruska, 2012), or specific training on compassion-focused therapy (Beaumont, Irons, Rayner, & Dagnall, 2016). Individual organisations may wish to approach this in different ways, but attempts to increase the self-compassion of social workers seems likely to have a positive impact on burnout.

There are some contextual issues which could be addressed by management or organisational changes, in order to reduce the context of shame within this profession. This could involve attempts to bring the individual and institutional standards closer together through discussion and collaboration. Factors such as the size of an individual's caseload and years of experience should be kept in mind, to ensure that social workers are protected from unrealistic amounts of pressure, with constant checking of stress levels. Many of these contextual factors go further than the individual teams and rather permeate the social work profession as a whole, such as the culture of performance management and inspections. These are factors that are common in many settings such as health and social care, making change at this level difficult. However, the impact of these somewhat necessary procedures must be considered. Supervision is a key element in creating and sustaining some of these changes, and provides an important opportunity for a discussion of these points. Although case management and administrative tasks will continue to be important, space for reflection and learning is vital. Unfortunately, inherent aspects of the job role of a social worker will continue to be stressful and complex (BASW, 2011), but the effectiveness of individuals can

be increased if supportive and valuable supervision is received (Tsui, 2005). A clear clinical implication from this research is that a refreshing of the idea of supervision and a consideration of the views of those receiving it is vital (Beddoe, 2010).

This discussion takes place within the context of a very recent change in the social work regulating body which is the third change within eight years. This may provide an opportunity to look more closely at the purpose and utility of close regulation of this profession, to achieve a balance between keeping service users safe and reducing the culture of shaming which can be a by-product of this monitoring. Surrounding the profession are also further circles of influence, including the wider society and the impact of the media. A lack of clear understanding of the job role of a social worker can cause difficulties in scapegoating or judging professionals due to their actions, which can have huge detrimental impacts on individuals and their feeling of shame. If this is further compounded by a lack of support from organisations, these can have extremely serious impacts on the wellbeing of social workers. A clear clinical implication is to educate the public more regarding the role of a social worker, and reduce the need for individual blaming and therefore shaming.

Strengths and Limitations

The papers within this thesis were the first of their kind to explore some of these issues and factors within the field of social work, particularly considering the impact of context-specific shame. The empirical study recruited a large sample size which allows for greater confidence in the results found. The sample was also representative of the wider UK population of social workers in terms of age and gender compared to the national statistics. However, this sample was limited to only UK social workers which means that the findings cannot be generalised to social workers who work elsewhere. There is also a possibility of sampling bias as the recruitment method required social workers to actively participate. This may have led to a sample of social workers with stronger views, possibly leading to only the most stressed individuals taking part. Alternatively, the most 'burned out' social workers may not have had time to complete the questionnaire. It is therefore difficult to know if this sample represents the views of all social workers in the UK.

The questionnaire to assess context-specific shame (Event-Related Shame and Guilt Scale) was adapted in order to fit this population by using a social work specific event. However, the validity of this questionnaire is therefore less clear, as this wording has not been used in previous research. Due to the lack of validated measures to assess this factor, this questionnaire was the most suitable, but it would require further research to assess the validity. It is also unclear exactly how this wording was interpreted by those filling in the questionnaires and structured interviewing may have been able to explore this.

The multiple regression model developed does not account for all of the variance in burnout within this population, which suggests that other factors that were not included in this study are important to explore further. It is likely that there are other contributing factors to burnout, and these need to be understood before strong conclusions can be made. The relationships discovered within these results are correlational, which reduces their level of generalisability compared to causal relationships that may be discovered using randomised controlled trials. It is difficult to establish the direction of the relationships found in this research, whereby increased self-compassion may lead to burnout, or increased stress may lead an individual to become less self-compassionate.

The systematic review synthesised literature from many different countries. This allowed for a wide scope of results, particularly due to the small number of articles published in the UK alone, and by combining these findings into themes found consistent factors that are viewed as valuable in supervision across countries. However, this may have created difficulties in combining the results from this section with the empirical paper as the population examined was different. Therefore, the links between the two papers in this thesis may be somewhat artificial and needs to be interpreted with caution.

The systematic review also only included studies that were published and were done so in English. This means that unpublished 'grey literature' and those published in other languages were excluded, possibly discounting important data from these sources. Due to time constraints and the number of papers returned from initial searches this decision was made, but may have led to a bias in the final data included. There was also high heterogeneity in the studies that were included, with a large variety of different methods of data collection. This means that comparison across the studies is difficult.

Directions for Future Research

It is clear from this thesis that further research is important to explore some of these results in greater detail. The experience of shame within the context of social work remains a gap in the literature that could benefit from qualitative research to understand this further and identify more concrete ways to help reduce this. Currently, the models suggested for the development and reinforcement of context-specific shame (Gibson, 2019) have been largely under-studied and are an important avenue of research. Additionally, replicating similar research to this empirical study in other countries will be important to examine whether similar difficulties are experienced elsewhere or whether this is a unique experience to UK social work.

The area of shame, and specifically context-specific shame also has a lack of research in other professions, and this is another important area for future research; there are theoretical reasons for this to be a common experience amongst other health and social care professionals who also carry high degrees of responsibility, and therefore research should be conducted to explore whether this is the case. If shame is found to be a common experience across professions, research examining which aspects of professional practice might induce shame will be a further avenue to explore. This may be the level of responsibility, the impact of what 'failing' might imply, an ideal view of the profession or linked to public opinion, all of which should be considered when devising future research studies. Similarly, research could ask questions about which aspects of supervision that are viewed as useful by recipients have a positive impact on outcomes for professionals and ultimately for service users. Training for supervisors to consider the factors discussed within this thesis could be implemented and its impact on effectiveness of outcomes measured. A collaborative approach to develop a model of supervision which considers views of all parties involved will be an important area of further development.

As well as examining the difficulties in more detail, future research should focus on the interventions that are available which attempt to reduce these difficult experiences, such as Compassionate Mind Training (Gilbert & Proctor, 2006) or other mindfulness-based approaches. There is emerging research which suggests that this is a useful intervention, but further evidence of its effectiveness will be useful. Further developments of shame-based interventions may also be important, and the creation of an evidence base to suggest whether these will be useful and effective. A consideration of context-specific shame within these interventions will be vital.

Conclusion

This thesis has explored current and somewhat contentious issues within the profession of social work. The links between stress, self-compassion and shame have been investigated, and the importance of context-specific shame has been identified. The value of supervision remains high, but there are areas of exploration regarding the most important aspects that make this useful for maintaining both wellbeing and good professional practice. Social work remains a complex and demanding area to work within, and the importance of

maintaining a compassionate, enthusiastic and healthy workforce should remain a topic of research and development.

References

- Akpan, J., Beard, L., & Notar, C. (2018). Cognitive Dissonance: The bane of value systems. *International Journal of Social Science and Business*, *3*(1), 1-5.
- Alazri, M., Heywood, P., Neal, R., & Leese, B. (2007). Continuity of Care: Literature review and implications. *Sultain Oaboos University Medical Journal*, *7*(3), 197-206.
- Allan, R., McLuckie, A., & Hoffecker, L. (2017). Effects of clinical supervision of mental health professionals on supervisee knowledge, skills, attitudes, and behaviour, and client outcomes: Protocol for a systematic review. *The Campbell Collaboration*, 1-44.
- Alvesson, M. & Willmott, H. (2002). Identity regulation as organisational control: Producing the appropriate individual. *Journal of Management Studies*, *39*(5), 619-644.
- Baines, D., Charlesworth, S., Turner, D., & O'Neill, L. (2014). Lean social care and worker identity: The role of outcomes, supervision and mission. *Critical Social Policy*, 34(4), 433-452.
- Bambling, M., King, R., Raue, P., Schweitzer, R., & Lambert, W. (2006). Clinical supervision: Its influence on client-rated working alliance and client symptom reduction in the brief treatment of major depression. *Psychotherapy Research, 16*, 317-331.
- Baretta-Herman, A. (2001). Fulfilling the commitment to competent social work practice through supervision. In L. Beddoe & J. Worrall (Eds.), *Supervision conference from rhetoric to reality: Keynote address and selected papers* (pp. 1-10). Auckland, New Zealand: Auckland College of Education.
- Beaumont, E., Durkin, M., Martin, C., & Carson, J. (2016). Compassion for others, selfcompassion, quality of life and mental well-being measures and their association with compassion fatigue and burnout in student midwives. A quantitative survey. *Midwifery, 34*, 239-244.

- Beaumont, E., Irons, C., Rayner, G., & Dagnall, N. (2016). Does Compassion-Focused
 Therapy Training for Health Care Educators and Providers Increase Self-Compassion
 and Reduce Self-Persecution and Self-Criticism? *Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions*, 36(1), 4-10.
- Beddoe, L. (2010) Surveillance or Reflection: Professional Supervision in 'the Risk Society'. *British Journal of Social Work, 40*(4), 1279-1296.
- Beddoe, L. (2017). Harmful supervision: A commentary. *The Clinical Supervisor, 36*(1), 88-101.
- Beddoe, L., & Howard, F. (2012). Interprofessional supervision in social work and psychology: Mandates and interprofessional relationships. *Clinical Supervisor*, *31*(2), 178-202.
- Beddoe, L., Karvinen-Niinikoski, S., Ruch, G., & Tsui, M. (2016). Towards an interactional consensus on a research agenda for social work supervision: Report on the first survey of a Delphi study. *British Journal of Social Work, 46*(6), 1568-1586.
- Beddoe, L., & Wilkins, D. (2019). Does the consensus about the value of supervision in social work stifle research and innovation? *Aotearoa New Zealand Social Work*, 31(3), 1-6.
- Bennett, P., Evans, R., & Tattersall, A. (1993). Stress and coping in social workers: A preliminary investigation. *British Journal of Social Work, 23*, 31-44.
- Benton, A. (2016). Understanding the diverging paths of stayers and leavers: An examination of factors predicting worker retention. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 65, 70-77.
- Benton, A., Dill, K., & Williams, A. (2017). Sacred time: Ensuring the provision of excellent supervision. *Journal of Workplace Behavioural Health*, *32*(4), 290-305.

Bernard, J., & Goodyear, R. (2014). Fundamentals of Clinical Supervision (5th ed.).

Boston: Pearson.

- Blackman, K., & Schmidt, G. (2014). The development of child protection supervisors in Northern British Columbia. *Child Welfare*, *92*(5), 87-105.
- Bogo, M., & Dill, K. (2008). Walking the tightrope: Using power and authority in child welfare supervision. *Child Welfare*, *87*(6), 141-157.

Bogo, M. & McKnight, K. (2006). Clinical supervision in social work: A review of the research literature. *The Clinical Supervisor*, 24(1-2), 49-61.
Doi:10.1300/J001V24n01.04

- Boyas, J., Wind, L., & Kang, S. (2011). Clinical supervision in social work: A review of the literature. *The Clinical Social Worker*, 24, 49-67.
- Braithwaite, V., Ahmed, E., & Braithwaite, J. (2005). Workplace Bullying and Victimisation:
 The Influence of Organisational Context, Shame and Pride. *International Journal of Organisational Behaviour*, 13(2), 71-94.

Brandon, M., Sidebotham, P., Bailey, S., et al. (2012). New Learning from Serious Case Reviews: A Two Year Report for 2009-11. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/goverment/publications/new-learning-from-serious-case-reviews-a-2-year-report-for-2009-to-2011</u>

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3*, 77-101.

https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw_13955-1_0.pdf

Broadhurst, K., Wastell, D., White, S., et al. (2010). Performing initial assessment: Identifying the latent conditions for error at the front-door of local authority

British Association of Social Workers (2011). BASW/CoSW England research on supervision in social work, with particular reference to supervision practice in multidisciplinary teams. Available at:

children's services. British Journal of Social Work, 40(2), 352-270.

- Brown, B. (2006). Shame Resilience Theory: A Grounded Theory Study on Women and
 Shame. *Families in Society: The Journal of Contemporary Social Service*, 87(1), 43-52.
- Caras, A., & Sandu, A. (2014). The Role of Supervision in Professional Development of Social Work Specialists. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, 28(1), 75-94.

Care Crisis Review (2018). Options for Change. London: Family Rights Group.

Care Quality Commission (2013). Registration under the Health and Social Care Act 2008: Supporting information and guidance: Supporting effective clinical supervision. *Care Quality Commission*. Available at:

https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/documents/20130625_800734_v1_00_supp orting information-effective clinical supervision for publication.pdf.

- Caringi, J., Hardiman, E., Weldon, P., Fletcher, S., Devlin, M., & Stanick, C. et al. (2017). Secondary traumatic stress and licensed clinical social workers. *Traumatology*, 23(2), 186-195.
- Carpenter, J., Patsios, D., Wood, M., et al. (2012). *Newly Qualified Social Worker Programme: Final Evaluation Report (2008-11)*. London: Department for Education.
- Carpenter, J., & Webb, C. (2012). Research briefing 43: Effective supervision in social work and social care. *Social Care Institute for Excellence*. Available at: <u>https://www.scie.org.uk/publications/briefings/briefing43/.</u>
- Carpenter, J., Webb, C., & Bostock, L. (2013). The surprisingly weak evidence base for supervision. Findings from a systematic review of research in child welfare practice (2000-2012). *Children and Youth Services Review*, 35(11), 1843-1853.
- Chanmugam, A. (2009). A qualitative study of school social workers' clinical and professional relationships when reporting. *Children and Schools, 31*(3), 145-161.

- Clare, M. (1988). Supervision, Role Strain and Social Service Departments. *British Journal* of Social Work, 18(5), 489-507.
- Clark, S., Gilman, E., Jacquet, S., Johnson, B., Mathias, C., Paris, R., & Zeitler, L. (2008).
 Line Worker, Supervisor, and Manager Perceptions of Supervisory Practices and
 Tasks in Child Welfare. *Journal of Public Child Welfare*, 2(1), 3-32.
- Coffey, M., Dugdill, L., & Tattersall, A. (2004). Stress in social services: Mental well-being, constraints and job satisfaction. *British Journal of Social Work*, *34*(5), 735-47.
- Cohen, M., & Gagin, R. (2005). Can skill-development training alleviate burnout in hospital social workers? *Social Work in Health Care, 40*(4), 83-97.
- Collins, S. (2008). Statutory Social Workers: Stress, Job Satisfaction, Coping, Social Support and Individual Differences. *The British Journal of Social Work*, *38*(6), 1173-1193.
- Collins, S. (2016). Social Workers and Resilience Revisited. *Social Work in Action, 29*(2), 85-105.
- Cooper, L. (2006). Clinical Supervision: Private Arrangements or Managed Process? *Social Work Review, 18*(3), 21-30.
- Curtis, L., Moriarty, J., & Netten, A. (2010). The expected working life of a social worker. British Journal of Social Work, 40, 1628-1643.
- Davys, A. & Beddoe, L. (2010). Best practice in supervision: A guide for the helping professions. London: Jessica Kingsley.
- Dearing, R., Stuewig, J., & Tangney, J. (2005). On the importance of distinguishing shame from guilt: Relations to problematic alcohol and drug use. *Addictive Behaviours*, 30(7), 1392-1404.
- DePanfilis, D. (2006). Compassion fatigue, burnout and compassion satisfaction: Implications for retention of workers. *Child Abuse and Neglect, 30*, 1067-1069.

Department for Education (2019). Experimental statistics: Children and family social work

workforce in England, year ending 30 September 2018. Available at:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachme nt data/file/782154/Children s social work workforce 2018 text.pdf

- Devany, J., & Spratt, T. (2009). Child abuse as a complex and wicked problem: Reflecting on policy developments in the UK in working with children and families with multiple problems. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 31(6), 635-641.
- Dickinson, N., & Perry, R. (2002). Factors influencing the retention of specially educated public child welfare workers. *Journal of Health and Social Policy*, *15*(3-4), 89-103.
- Donthu, N., & Yoo, B. (1998). Cultural influence on service quality expectations. *Journal of Service Research, 1,* 178-196.
- Dyrbye, L., West, C., & Shanafelt, T. (2009). Defining Burnout as a Dichotomous Variable. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *24*(3), 440-444.
- Egan, R., Maidment, J., & Connolly, M. (2016). Who is watching whom? Surveillance in Australian social work supervision. *British Journal of Social Work, 46*(6), 1617-1635.
- Egan, R., Maidment, J., & Connolly, M. (2017). Trust, Power and Safety in the Social Work Supervisory Relationship: Results from Australian Research. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, 31(3), 307-321.
- Egan, R., Maidment, J., & Connolly, M. (2018). Supporting quality supervision: Insights for organisational practice. *International Social Work*, *61*(3), 353-367.
- Egan, M., & Kadushin, G. (2004). Job Satisfaction of Home Health Social Workers in the Environment of Cost Containment. *Health and Social Work, 29*(4), 287-96.
- Ekstein, R., & Wallerstein, R. (1972). *The teaching and learning of psychotherapy*. New York: International Universities Press.
- Ellett, A., Ellis, J., Westbrook, T., & Dews, D. (2007). A qualitative study of 369 child welfare professionals' perspectives about factors contributing to employee

retention and turnover. Children and Youth Services Review, 29(2), 264-281.

- Ellett, A., & Millar, K. (2004). Professional organisational culture and retention in child welfare: Implications for continuing education for supervision and professional development. *Professional Development: The International Journal of Continuing Social Work Education*, 7(3), 30-38.
- Ellis, M., Berger, L., Hanus, A., Ayala, E., Swords, B., & Siembor, M. (2014). Inadequate and harmful clinical supervision: Testing a revised framework and assessing occurrence. *The Counselling Psychologist*, 42, 434-472.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, D., Lang, A., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioural and biomedical sciences. *Behaviour Research Methods, 39*, 175-191.
- Field, R., & Brown, K. (2019). Effective Leadership, Management and Supervision in Health and Social Care. UK: SAGE.
- Fletcher, D. & Sarkar, M. (2013). Psychological resilience: A review and critique of definitions, concepts and theory. *European Psychologist*, 18(1), 12-23.
- Fredrickson, K. (2015). *Give Yourself a Break: Turning your Inner Critic into a Compassionate Friend*. North Carolina: Revell.
- Galpin, D., Maksymluk, A., & Whiteford, A. (2019). Social workers are being blamed for their own stress and burnout. The Guardian. Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/society/2019/jul/31/social-workers-stress-burnoutresilience</u>
- Geibler-Piltz, B. (2011). How Social Workers Experience Supervision: Results of an Empirical Study in the Healthcare Sector. *Journal of Social Intervention: Theory and Practice, 20*(1), 5-22.

Gerdes, K. E., & Segal, E. (2011). Importance of Empathy for Social Work Practice:

Integrating New Science. Social Work, 56(2), 141-148.

- Gibson, M. (2014). Social Worker Shame in Child and Family Social Work: Inadequacy,Failure and the Struggle to Practice Humanely. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, 28(4), 417-431.
- Gibson, M. (2016). Social Worker Shame: A Scoping Review. *The British Journal of Social Work, 46*(2), 549-565.
- Gibson, M. (2019). The Role of Pride, Shame, Guilt and Humiliation in Social ServiceOrganisations: A Conceptual Framework from a Qualitative Case Study. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 45(1), 112-128.
- Gilbert, P., & Proctor, S. (2006). Compassionate mind training for people with high shame and self-criticism: overview and pilot study of a group therapy approach. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy*, 13(6), 353-379.

Goldberg, C. (1991). Understanding Shame. Northvale, Aronson

- Grant, L., & Kinman, G. (2014). Developing Resilience for Social Work Practice. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gustin, L., & Wagner, L. (2013). The butterfly effect of caring clinical nursing teachers' understanding of self-compassion as a source to compassionate care. *Scandanavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 27, 175-183.
- Hair, H. (2013). The purpose and duration of supervision and the training and discipline of supervisors: What social workers say they need to provide effective services. *British Journal of Social Work, 43*(8), 1562-1588.
- Hair, H. (2014). Power Relations in Supervision: Preferred Practices According to Social Workers. *Families in Society: The Journal of Contemporary Social Services*, 95(2), 107-114.
- Harr, C., Brice, T., Riley, K. & Moore, B. (2014). The Impact of Compassion Fatigue

and Compassion Satisfaction on Social Work Students. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, 5(2), 233-251.

- Hayes, J., Lockard, A., Janis, R., & Locke, B. (2016). Construct validity of the Self-Compassion Scale-Short Form among psychotherapy clients. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly*, 29, 405-422.
- Hayes, A., & Rockwood, N. (2017). Regression-based statistical mediation and moderation analysis in clinical research: Observations, recommendations, and implementation. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *98*, 39-57.
- Health and Safety Executive (2019). Work-related stress, anxiety or depression statistics in Great Britain. Available at: <u>http://www.hse.gov.uk/statistics/causdis/stress.pdf</u>
- Health Research Authority (2017). Applying a proportionate approach to the process of seeking consent. Available at: <u>http://www.hra.nhs.uk/documents/2017/01/applying-proportionate-approach-process-seeking-consent.pdf</u>
- Helm, D. (2011). Judgement of assumptions? The role of analysis in assessing children and young people's needs. *British Journal of Social Work, 41*(5), 894-911.
- Hensley, P. (2003). The Value of Supervision. The Clinical Supervisor, 21(1), 97-110.
- Hoge, M., Migdole, S., Cannata, E., & Powell, D. (2014). Strengthening supervision in systems of care: Exemplary practices in empirically supported treatments. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 42, 171-181.
- Horwitz, J. (2010). Social worker trauma: Building resilience in child protection social workers. *Smith College Studies in Social Work, 68*(3), 363-377.
- Hunt, S., Goddard, C., Cooper, J., Littlechild, B., & Wild, J. (2016). 'If I feel like this, how does the child feel?' Child protection workers, supervision, management and organisational responses to parental violence. *Journal of Social Work Practice, 30*, 5-24.

- Johns, C. (2001). Depending on the intent and emphasis of the supervisor, clinical supervision can be a different experience. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 9(3), 139-45.
- Joubert, L., Hocking, A., & Hampson, R. (2013). Social Work in Oncology Managing Vicarious Trauma – The Positive Impact of Professional Supervision. *Social Work in Health Care, 52*(2-3), 296-310.
- Kadushin, G., Berger, C., Gilbert, C., & de St. Aubin, M. (2009). Models and Methods in Hospital Social Work Supervision. *The Clinical Supervisor*, 28(2), 180-199.
- Kadushin, A., & Harkness, D. (2002). *Supervision in Social Work (4th Ed.)*. New York, NY: Columbia University Press.
- Kelly, A., Carter, J., Zuroff, D., & Borairi, S. (2013). Self-compassion and fear of selfcompassion interact to predict response to eating disorders treatment: A preliminary investigation. *Psychotherapy Research*, 23, 252-264.
- Kim, H. (2011). Job conditions, unmet expectations, and burnout in public child welfare workers: How different from other social workers? *Children and Youth Services Review*, 33(2), 358-367.
- Kim, H., Ji, J., & Kao, D. (2011). Burnout and Physical Health among Social Workers: A Three-Year Longitudinal Study. *Social Work*, 56(3), 258-268.
- Kinman, L. and Grant, L. (2017). Building resilience in early-career social workers: evaluating a multi-modal intervention. *British Journal of Social Work*, 47(7), 1979-1998.
- Knight, C. (2017). The mutual aid model of group supervision. *The Clinical Supervisor*, *36*(2), 259-281.
- Kondracki, N., & Wellman, N. (2002). Content Analysis: Review of Methods and Their Applications in Nutrition Education. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behaviour,*

- Koutsimani, P., Montgomery, A., & Georganta, K. (2019). The Relationship Between Burnout, Depression, and Anxiety: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis.
 Frontiers in Psychology, 10, 284.
- Ladany, N., Mori, Y., & Mehr, K. (2013). Effective and ineffective supervision. *The Counselling Psychologist*, *41*, 28-47.
- Laming, L. (2009). *The Protection of Children in England: Action Plan.* London: Stationary Office.
- Lansky, M., & Morrison, A. (1997). The Widening Scope of Shame. Hillsdale, Analytic
- Lietz, C. (2009). Critical thinking in child welfare supervision. *Administration in Social Work, 31,* 68-78. Doi:10.1080/03643100903432966.
- Little, M. Baker, T., & Jinks, A. (2018). A qualitative evaluation of community nurses' experiences of child safeguarding supervision. *Child Abuse Review*, *27*, 150-157.
- Lloyd, C., King, R. & Chenoweth, L. (2002). Social Work, stress and burnout: A review. Journal of Mental Health, 11(3), 225-265.
- Lourel, M., Gueguen, N., & Mouda, F. (2008). Psychometric Properties of a Global Measure of Job Burnout. *Studia Psychologica*, *50*, 109-118
- Lynch, L., Hanox, K., Happell, B., & Parker, J. (2008). *Clinical Supervision for Nurses*. Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Maslach, C., Jackson, S., & Leiter, M. (1996). *Maslach Burnout Inventory Manual*. Palo Alto: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- McFadden, P. (2015). Measuring Burnout among UK social worker: A Community Care study. Belfast: Queen's University
- McPherson, L., Frederico, M., & McNamara, P. (2015). Safety as a Fifth Dimension in Supervision: Stories from the Frontline. *Australian Social Work, 69*(1), 67-79.

Miller, S. (1996). Shame in Context. Hillsdale, Analytic

- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J. & Altman, D. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Med*, *6*(7)
- Moriarty, J., Baginsky, M., & Manthorpe, J. (2015). Literature review of roles and issues within the social work profession in England. London: Social Care Workforce Research Unit, King's College.
- Morrison, T. (2005). Staff Supervision in Social Care: Making a Real Difference for Staff and Service Users. Pavillion Publishing.
- Morrison, T., & Wonnacott, J. (2010). Supervision now or never: Reclaiming reflective supervision in social work. Available at: <u>http://www.in-trac.co.uk/reclaiming-reflective-supervision/php</u>
- Mor Barak, M., Travis, D., Pyun, H., & Xie, B. (2009). The impact of supervision on worker outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Social Service Review*, *83*(1), 3-32. Doi:10.1086/599028
- Munro, E. (2011). *The Munro Review of Child Protection: Final report: A Child Centred System*. Norwich: The Stationary Office.
- Munson, C. (1979). *Handbook of clinical social work supervision* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Hawthorn Press.
- Neff, K. (2003a). Self-compassion: An alternative conceptualisation of a healthy attitude towards oneself. *Self and Identity*, *2*(2), 85-101.
- Neff, K. (2003b). The development and validation of a scale to measure self-compassion. *Self* and Identity, 2, 223-250. doi:10.1080/15298860390209035
- Neff, K., & Germer, C. (2013). A pilot study and randomised controlled trial of the mindful self-compassion program. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 69(1), 28-44.
- Newsome, S., Waldo, M., & Gruska, C. (2012). Mindfulness Group Work: Preventing Stress and Increasing Self-Compassion Among Helping Professionals in Training. *The*

Journal for Specialists in Group Work, 37(4), 297-311.

- Noble, C., & Irwin, J. (2009). Social work supervision: An exploration of the current challenges in a rapidly changing social, economic and political environment. *Journal of Social Work*, *9*(3), 345-358.
- O'Donoghue, K. (2012). Windows on the Supervisee Experience: An Exploration of Supervisees' Supervision Histories. *Australian Social Work, 65*(2), 214-231.
- O'Donoghue, K. (2014). Towards an Interactional Map of the Supervision Session: An Exploration of Supervisees and Supervisors Experiences. *Practice: Social Work in Action, 26*(1), 53-70.
- Orth, U., Berking, M., & Burkhardt, S. (2006). Self-conscious emotions and depression: Rumination explains why shame but not guilt is maladaptive. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 32*, 1608-1619.
- Patton, M. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Peach, J. & Horner, N. (2007). 'Using supervision: Support or surveillance', in Lymbery, M. and Postle, K. (eds), *Social Work: A Companion to Learning* (pp. 228-39). London, Sage.
- Pecora, P., Whittaker, J., Maluccio, A., & Barth, R. (2000). Organisational requisites for child welfare services. In P. J. Pecora, J. K. Whittaker, A. N. Maluccio, R. P. Barth & R. D. Plotnick (Eds.), *The child welfare challenge*, (2nd ed., pp. 437-457). New York: Aldine De Gruyter.
- Phillipson, J. (2002). Supervision and Being Supervised. In R. Adams, L. Dominelli & M.Payne, M. (2002). (eds). *Critical Practice in Social Work*. Basingstoke, Hampshire:Palgrave Macmillan.

Phillipson, J. (2009). Supervision and being supervised. In: Adams R., Dominelli, L. and

Payne M. (eds). *Practising Social Work in a Complex World*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

- Pines, A., & Aronson, E. (1988). (Eds.). *Career burnout: Causes and cures*. New York: Free Press.
- Pope, C., Mays, N., & Popay, J. (2007). Synthesising Qualitative and Quantitative Health Evidence: A Guide to Methods. UK: McGraw-Hill Education.

Price, J. L. (1977). The study of turnover. Iowa: Iowa State University Press.

- Proctor, B. (1991). Supervision: A co-operative exercise in accountability. In M. Marken, and M. Payne, M. (eds), *Supervision in Practice* (pp. 21-3). Leicester: National Youth Bureau and Council for Education and Training in Youth and Community Work.
- Radey, M. Stanley, L. (2018). 'Hands on' versus 'empty': Supervision experiences of frontline child welfare workers. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 91, 128-136.
- Raes, F., Pommier, E., Neff, K., & Van Gucht, D. (2011). Construction and Factorial Validation of a Short Form of the Self-Compassion Scale. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy*, 18, 250-255.
- Rankine, M. (2017). Making the connections: A practice model for reflective supervision. *Aotearoa New Zealand Social Work, 29*(3), 66-78.
- Rockliff, H., Gilbert, P., McEwan, K., Lightman, S., & Glover, D. (2008). A pilot exploration of heart rate variability and salivary cortisol responses to compassion-focused imagery. *Clinical Neuropsychiatry*, *5*, 132-139.
- Rogers, A. (2001). Nurture, bureaucracy and rebalancing the mind and heart. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, *15*(2), 181-91.
- Rose, S., & Palattivil, G. (2018). Surviving or thriving? Enhancing the emotional resilience of social workers in their organisational settings. *Journal of Social Work, 20*(1), 23-42.

- Rushton, A., & Nathan, J. (1996). The supervision of child protection work. *British Journal* of Social Work, 26, 357-374.
- Saltiel, D. (2017). Supervision: A contested space for learning and decision making. *Qualitative Social Work, 16*(4), 533-549.
- Schmidt, G., & Kariuki, A. (2019). Pathways to social work supervision. *Journal of Human Behaviour in the Social Environment, 29*(3), 321-332.
- Scott, L. (1999). The nature and structure of supervision in health visiting with victims of child sexual abuse. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *29*, 754-763.
- Senreich, E., Straussner, S., & Steen, J. (2020). The Work Experiences of Social Workers: Factors Impacting Compassion Satisfaction and Workplace Stress. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 46(1), 93-109.
- Sewell, K. (2018). Social Work Supervision of Staff: A Primer and Scoping Review. *Clinical Social Work Journal, 46,* 252-265.
- Shoesmith, S. (2016). *Learning from Baby P: The politics of blame, fear and denial*. London: Jessica Kingsley
- Shulman, L. (2010). Interactional Supervision, 3rd ed. Washington, DC: NASW Press.
- Sirriyeh, R., Lawton, R., Gardner, P., & Armitage, G. (2012). Reviewing studies with diverse designs: the development and evaluation of a new tool. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 18, 746-752.
- Skills for Care and CWDC (2007). Providing Effective Supervision. Available at: <u>http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/developing_skills/leadership_and_management/provi</u> ding_effecti ve_supervision.aspx
- Smith, A., Fisher, J., Schonberg, M., Pallin, D., Block, S., Forrow, L., Phillips, R., &McCarthy, E. (2009). Am I doing the right thing? Provider perspectives onimproving palliative care in the emergency department. *Annals of Emergency*

Medicine, 54(1), 86-93.

- Smith, M., McMahon, L., & Nursten, J. (2003). Social workers' experience of fear. British Journal of Social Work, 33, 659-671.
- Stromsten, L., Henningsson, M., Holm, U., & Sundbom, E. (2009). Assessment of selfconscious emotions: A Swedish psychometric and structure evaluation of the Test of Self-Conscious Affect (TOSCA). Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 50(1), 71-77.
- Sweifach, J. (2019). A look behind the curtain at social work supervision in interprofessional practice settings: Critical themes and pressing practical challenges. *European Journal of Social Work, 22*(1), 59-68.
- Tangney, J., Miller, R., Flicker, L., & Barlow, D. (1996). Are shame, guilt and embarrassment distinct emotions? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 70, 1256-1269.
- Tangney, J., Wagner, P., Fletcher, C., & Gramzow, R. (1992). Shamed into anger? The relation of shame and guilt to anger and self-reported aggression. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 62(4), 669.
- Tangney, J., Wagner, P., & Gramzow, R. (1989). The Test of Self-Conscious Affect (TOSCA). Fairfax: VA. George Mason University.
- Tangney, J., Wagner, P., & Gramzow, R. (1992). Proneness to shame, proneness to guilt, and psychopathology. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 101, 469-478.
- Thomas, M., Kohli, V., & Choi, J. (2014). Correlates of Job Burnout among Human Services Workers: Implications for Workforce Retention. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare, 41,* 69-91.
- Tsui, M. (2004). Supervision Models in Social Work: From Nature to Culture. *Asian Journal of Counselling*, *11*(1-2), 7-55.

Tsui, M. (2005). Social Work Supervision: Contexts and Concepts. Thousand Oaks, London:

Sage.

- Tsui, M. (2008). Adventures in Re-searching the Features of Social Work Supervision in Hong Kong. *Qualitative Social Work*, 7(3), 349-362.
- Turner-Daly, B., & Jack, G. (2017). Rhetoric vs reality in social work supervision: the experiences of a group of child care social workers in England. *Child and Family Social Work, 22,* 36-46.
- Van Heugten, K. (2010). Bullying of social workers: Outcomes of a grounded study into impacts and interventions. *British Journal of Social Work, 40*(2), 638-55.
- Vito, R. (2015). Leadership support of supervision in social work practice. Canadian Social Work Review, 32(2), 151-165.
- Walker, L. (2011). The relevance of shame in child protection work. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, 25, 451-463.
- Walker, L. (2017). Compassion, Burnout and Self-Care in NHS Staff Delivering Psychological Interventions. (Professional Doctorate Thesis, University of East London, Londond, UK). Retrieved from: https://repository.uel.ac.uk/item/84qz3.
- Warner, J. (2015). *The emotional politics of social work and child protection*. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Wastell, D., White, S., Broadhurst, K., Peckover, S., & Pithouse, A. (2010). Children's services in the iron cage of performance management: street-level bureaucracy and the spectre of Svejkism. *International Journal of Social Welfare, 19*, 310-320.
- Webb, S. (2006). Social Work in a Risk Society: Social and Political Perspectives. New York, Palgrave Macmillan.
- Wilkins, D. (2017). Does reflective supervision have a future in English local authority child and family social work? *Journal of Children's Services*, *12*(2/3), 164-173.

Wilkins, D., & Antonopoulou, V. (2019). What Does Supervision Help With? A Survey of

315 Social Workers in the UK. Practice: Social Work in Action, 31(1), 21-40.

Williams, A. (1997). On Parallel Process in Social Work Supervision. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 25(4), 425-435.

Wonnacott, J. (2012). Mastering social work supervision. London: Jessica Kingsley.

- Woods, H. & Proeve, M. (2014). Relationships of mindfulness, self-compassion and meditation experience with shame-proneness. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy: An International Quarterly, 28*(1), 20-33.
- Wuenschel, M. (2006). The diminishing role of social work administrators in social service agencies: Issues for consideration. *Administration in Social Work, 30*(4), 5-18.
- York, R., & Denton, R. (1990). Leadership behaviour and supervisory performance: The view from below. *The Clinical Supervisor*, 8(1), 93-108.

Appendices

- Appendix A Author guidelines for the Journal of Social Work
- Appendix B Systematic Review Databases searched
- Appendix C Systematic Review Quality Appraisals
- Appendix D Participant Information Sheet and Statement of Consent
- Appendix E Clinician Survey
- Appendix F Participant Debrief Information
- Appendix G FMH Approval Letter
- Appendix H Social Media Recruitment Advert
- Appendix I Permission to use and adapt the Event-Related Shame and Guilt Scale
- Appendix J G Power outputs

Appendix A

Author Guidelines for the Journal of Social Work



Submit Paper

Ý	х
=	-
_	_

Please read the guidelines below before visiting the submission site!

Manuscript Submission Guidelines:

Submission Site

This Journal is a member of the Committee on Publication Ethics

Please read the guidelines below then visit the Journal's submission site http://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/jsw to upload your manuscript. Please note that manuscripts not conforming to these guidelines may be returned.

Only manuscripts of sufficient quality that meet the aims and scope of Journal of Social Work will be reviewed.

There are no fees payable to submit or publish in this journal.

As part of the submission process you will be required to warrant that you are submitting your original work, that you have the rights in the work, and that you have obtained and can supply all necessary permissions for the reproduction of any copyright works not owned by you, that you are submitting the work for first publication in the Journal and that it is not being considered for publication elsewhere and has not already been published elsewhere. Please see our guidelines on prior publication and note that Journal of

Social Work **may accept submissions of papers that have been posted on preprint servers**; please alert the Editorial Office when submitting (contact details are at the end of these guidelines) and include the DOI for the preprint in the designated field in the manuscript submission system. Authors should not post an updated version of their paper on the preprint server while it is being peer reviewed for possible publication in the journal. If the article is accepted for publication, the author may re-use their work according to the journal's author archiving policy.

If your paper is accepted, you must include a link on your preprint to the final version of your paper.

- What do we publish? 1.1 Aims & Scope
 1.2 Article types
 1.3 Writing your paper
- 2. Editorial policies
 - 2.1 Peer review policy
 - 2.2 Authorship
 - 2.3 Acknowledgements
 - 2.4 Funding

2.5 Declaration of conflicting interests 2.6 Research ethics and patient consent 2.7 Research data

- 3. Publishing policies 3.1 Publication ethics
 - 3.2 Contributor's publishing agreement 3.3 Open access and author archiving
- 4. Preparing your manuscript
 - 4.1 Formatting
 - 4.2 Artwork, figures and other graphics 4.3 Supplemental material
 - 4.4 Reference style
 - 4.5 English language editing services
- 5. Submitting your manuscript
 - 5.1 ORCID
 - 5.2 Information required for completing your submission 5.3 Permissions
- 6. On acceptance and publication 6.1 SAGE Production 6.2 Online First publication
- 6.3 Access to your published article
- 6.4 Promoting your article 7. Further information

1. What do we publish?

1.1 Aims & Scope

Before submitting your manuscript to Journal of Social Work, please ensure you have read the Aims & Scope.

1.2 Article Types

In addition to full articles, which should be a maximum of 8000 words, the Journal of Social Work publishes occasional shorter 'think pieces': reports of research in progress, comments on previously published articles, and analyses of current and topical practice, policy and theory (maximum 2000 words).

1.3 Writing your paper

The SAGE Author Gateway has some general advice and on how to get published, plus links to further resources.

1.3.1 Make your article discoverable

For information and guidance on how to make your article more discoverable, visit

our Gateway page on How to Help Readers Find Your Article Online. Back to top

2. Editorial policies

2.1 Peer review policy

The Journal of Social Work is a peer-reviewed forum for the publication, dissemination and debate of key ideas and research in social work.

2.2 Authorship

All parties who have made a substantive contribution to the article should be listed as authors. Principal authorship, authorship order, and other publication credits should be based on the relative scientific or professional contributions of the individuals involved, regardless of their status. A student is usually listed as principal author on any multiple-authored publication that substantially derives from the student's dissertation or thesis.

2.3 Acknowledgements

All contributors who do not meet the criteria for authorship should be listed in an Acknowledgements section. Examples of those who might be acknowledged include a person who provided purely technical help, or a department chair who provided only general support.

Please supply any personal acknowledgements separately to the main text to facilitate anonymous peer review.

2.4 Funding

Journal of Social Work requires all authors to acknowledge their funding in a consistent fashion under a separate heading. Please visit the Funding Acknowledgements page on the SAGE Journal Author Gateway to confirm the format of the acknowledgment text in the event of funding, or state that: This research received no specific grant from any funding agency in the public, commercial, or not- for-profit sectors.

2.5 Declaration of conflicting interests

Journal of Social Work encourages authors to include a declaration of any conflicting interests and recommends you review the good practice guidelines on the SAGE Journal Author Gateway.

2.6 Research ethics and patient consent

Medical research involving human subjects must be conducted according to the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki.

Submitted manuscripts should conform to the ICMJE Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals,

and all papers reporting animal and/or human studies must state in the methods section that the relevant Ethics Committee or Institutional Review Board provided (or waived) approval. Please ensure that you have provided the full name and institution of the review committee, in addition to the approval number.

For research articles, authors are also required to state in the methods section whether participants provided informed consent and whether the consent was written or verbal.

Information on informed consent to report individual cases or case series should be included in the manuscript text. A statement is required regarding whether written informed consent for patient information and images to be published was provided by the patient(s) or a legally authorized representative.

Please also refer to the ICMJE Recommendations for the Protection of Research Participants.

2.7 Research data

At SAGE we are committed to facilitating openness, transparency and reproducibility of research. Where relevant, Journal of Social Work encourages authors to share their research data in a suitable public repository subject to ethical considerations and where data is included, to add a data accessibility statement in their manuscript file. Authors should also follow data citation principles. For more information please visit the SAGE Author Gateway, which includes information about SAGE's partnership with the data repository Figshare.

Back to top

3. Publishing Policies

3.1 Publication ethics

SAGE is committed to upholding the integrity of the academic record. We encourage authors to refer to the Committee on Publication Ethics' International Standards for Authors and view the Publication Ethics page on the SAGE Author Gateway.

3.1.1 Plagiarism

Journal of Social Work and SAGE take issues of copyright infringement, plagiarism or other breaches of best practice in publication very seriously. We seek to protect the rights of our authors and we always investigate claims of plagiarism or misuse of published articles. Equally, we seek to protect the reputation of the journal against malpractice. Submitted articles may be checked with duplication-checking software. Where an article, for example, is found to have plagiarised other work or included third-party copyright material without permission or with insufficient acknowledgement, or where the authorship of the article is contested, we reserve the right to take action including, but not limited to: publishing an erratum or corrigendum (correction); retracting the article; taking up the matter with the head of department
or dean of the author's institution and/or relevant academic bodies or societies; or taking appropriate legal action.

3.1.2 Prior publication

If material has been previously published it is not generally acceptable for publication in a SAGE journal. However, there are certain circumstances where previously published material can be considered for publication. Please refer to the guidance on the SAGE Author Gateway or if in doubt, contact the Editor at the address given below.

3.2 Contributor's publishing agreement

Before publication, SAGE requires the author as the rights holder to sign a Journal Contributor's Publishing Agreement. SAGE's Journal Contributor's Publishing Agreement is an exclusive licence agreement which means that the author retains copyright in the work but grants SAGE the sole and exclusive right and licence to publish for the full legal term of copyright. Exceptions may exist where an assignment of copyright is required or preferred by a proprietor other than SAGE. In this case copyright in the work will be assigned from the author to the society. For more information please visit the SAGE Author Gateway.

3.3 Open access and author archiving

Journal of Social Work offers optional open access publishing via the SAGE Choice programme. For more information please visit the SAGE Choice website. For information on funding body compliance, and depositing your article in repositories, please visit SAGE Publishing Policies on our Journal Author Gateway.

Back to top

4. Preparing your manuscript for submission 4.1 Formatting

The preferred format for your manuscript is Word. LaTeX files are also accepted. Word and (La)Tex templates are available on the Manuscript Submission Guidelines page of our Author Gateway.

The abstract should be no more than 250 words and should have the following subsections.

Summary (which should contain details of the context for the article and methods/approach used)

Findings (which should contain the key findings)

Applications (which should contain details of impact and application to professional practice)

4.2 Artwork, figures and other graphics

For guidance on the preparation of illustrations, pictures and graphs in electronic format, please visit SAGE's Manuscript Submission Guidelines.

4.3 Supplemental material

For guidance on the preparation of illustrations, pictures and graphs in electronic format, please visit SAGE's Manuscript Submission Guidelines.

Figures supplied in colour will appear in colour online regardless of whether or not these illustrations are reproduced in colour in the printed version. For specifically requested colour reproduction in print, you will receive information regarding the costs from SAGE after receipt of your accepted article.

4.4 Reference style

Journal of Social Work adheres to the APA reference style. View the APA guidelines to ensure your manuscript conforms to this reference style.

4.5 English language editing services

Authors seeking assistance with English language editing, translation, or figure and manuscript formatting to fit the journal's specifications should consider using SAGE Language Services. Visit SAGE Language Services on our Journal Author Gateway for further information.

Back to top

5. Submitting your manuscript

Journal of Social Work is hosted on SAGE Track, a web based online submission and peer review system powered by ScholarOneTM Manuscripts. Visit http://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/jsw to login and submit your article online.

IMPORTANT: Please check whether you already have an account in the system before trying to create a new one. If you have reviewed or authored for the journal in the past year it is likely that you will have had an account created. For further guidance on submitting your manuscript online please visit ScholarOne Online Help.

5.1 ORCID

As part of our commitment to ensuring an ethical, transparent and fair peer review process SAGE is a supporting member of ORCID, the Open Researcher and Contributor ID. ORCID provides a unique and persistent digital identifier that distinguishes researchers from every other researcher, even those who share the same name, and, through integration in key research workflows such as manuscript and grant submission, supports automated linkages between researchers and their professional activities, ensuring that their work is recognized.

The collection of ORCID IDs from corresponding authors is now part of the submission process of this journal. If you already have an ORCID ID you will be asked to associate that to your submission during the online submission process. We also strongly encourage all co-authors to link their ORCID ID to their accounts in our online peer review platforms. It takes seconds to do: click the link when

prompted, sign into your ORCID account and our systems are automatically updated. Your ORCID ID will become part of your accepted publication's metadata, making your work attributable to you and only you. Your ORCID ID is published with your article so that fellow researchers reading your work can link to your ORCID profile and from there link to your other publications.

If you do not already have an ORCID ID please follow this link to create one or visit our ORCID homepage to learn more.

5.2 Information required for completing your submission

You will be asked to provide contact details and academic affiliations for all coauthors via the submission system and identify who is to be the corresponding author. These details must match what appears on your manuscript. The affiliation listed in the manuscript should be the institution where the research was conducted. If an author has moved to a new institution since completing the research, the new affiliation can be included in a manuscript note at the end of the paper. At this stage please ensure you have included all the required statements and declarations and uploaded any additional supplementary files (including reporting guidelines where relevant).

5.3 Permissions

Please also ensure that you have obtained any necessary permission from copyright holders for reproducing any illustrations, tables, figures or lengthy quotations previously published elsewhere. For further information including guidance on fair dealing for criticism and review, please see the Copyright and Permissions page on the SAGE Author Gateway.

6. On acceptance and publication

6.1 SAGE Production

Your SAGE Production Editor will keep you informed as to your article's progress throughout the production process. Proofs will be made available to the corresponding author via our editing portal SAGE Edit or by email, and corrections should be made directly or notified to us promptly. Authors are reminded to check their proofs carefully to confirm that all author information, including names, affiliations, sequence and contact details are correct, and that Funding and Conflict of Interest statements, if any, are accurate. Please note that if there are any changes to the author list at this stage all authors will be required to complete and sign a form authorising the change.

6.2 Online First publication

Online First allows final articles (completed and approved articles awaiting assignment to a future issue) to be published online prior to their inclusion in a journal issue, which significantly reduces the lead time between submission and publication. Visit the SAGE Journals help page for more details, including how to cite Online First articles.

6.3 Access to your published article

SAGE provides authors with online access to their final article.

6.4 Promoting your article

Publication is not the end of the process! You can help disseminate your paper and ensure it is as widely read and cited as possible. The SAGE Author Gateway has numerous resources to help you promote your work. Visit the Promote Your Article page on the Gateway for tips and advice. In addition, SAGE is partnered with Kudos, a free service that allows authors to explain, enrich, share, and measure the impact of their article. Find out how to maximise your article's impact with Kudos.

Back to top

7. Further information

Any correspondence, queries or additional requests for information on the manuscript submission process should be sent to the Journal of Social Work editorial office as follows:

Journal of Social Work Editor-in-Chief, Steven M. Shardlow: s.m.shardlow@keele.ac.uk

Appendix B:

Systematic Review Databases Searched

PsycINFO

Academic Search Complete

Complementary Index

Social Sciences Citation Index

CINAHL Complete

MEDLINE Complete

ERIC

Supplemental Index

UEA Library catalogue

Scopus

Journals OVID

Business Source Complete

Research Starters

Science Direct

JSTOR Journals

British Education Index

British Library EThOS

Science Citation Index

Directory of Open Access Journals

PsycARTICLES

Europeana

Emerald Insight

SPORTDiscus with Full Text

Communication and Mass Media Complete AMED – The Allied and Complementary Medicine Database EconLit with Full Test Arts and Humanities Citation Index Gale OneFile: LegalTrac ProjectMUSE IEEE Xplore Digital Library Westlaw UK

Appendix C

Systematic Review Quality Appraisals for Included Studies

Table A1: Quality Appraisals for Included Studies

Study Authors (Year)	Quality Rating
Radey & Stanley (2018)	Good
Geibler-Piltz (2011)	Good
Hair (2014)	Good
Joubert et al (2013)	Good
Egan et al (2018)	Good
Tsui (2008)	Good
Saltiel (2017)	Good
Sweifach (2019)	Good
Turner-Daly & Jack (2017)	Moderate
Wilkins and Antonopoulou (2019)	Good
O'Donoghue (2012)	Moderate
Clark et al (2008)	High
Kadushin et al (2009)	Good
Benton et al (2017)	Good
McPherson et al (2015)	Good
Caras & Sandu (2014)	Moderate
Hensley (2003)	Moderate
Egan et al (2017)	Good
O'Donoghue (2014)	Good

Appendix D

Participant Information Sheet and Statement of Consent

Project Title: What role do self-compassion, shame and guilt play in stress and burnout in UK social workers?

We would like to invite you to take part in our research study. It is entirely your decision about whether you would like to join this study, and the information on this page should help you to decide whether you would like to take part. Please read this information carefully, and if you have any questions or want to know more please contact the research team.

This is a study being conducted by researchers at the University of East Anglia.

Chief researcher: Katherine Lister Primary supervisor: Kiki Mastroyannopoulou Site supervisor: Charlotte Granger

What is this study about?

We know that Social Workers experience a huge amount of stress, and that this can have impacts on your well-being and may cause you to leave this profession. We know that being self-compassionate can help us to feel less stressed, but this link has not been looked at in qualified Social Workers. There is other research which suggests that Social Workers have a tendency to feel shame about some of the work they are required to do, and this is a very uncomfortable emotion. We are interested in the links between self-compassion and shame and how these might have an impact on your stress levels. The aim is for this to inform our knowledge of what might help Social Workers to cope better with stress and possibly create some psychological interventions or support that might help improve well-being.

Why am I invited to take part?

You have been invited to take part in this study because you are a Social Worker currently working in the UK.

What is involved?

The study will involve completing a series of questionnaires online which should take approximately 15-20 minutes.

Do I have to take part?

You are under no obligation to take part in this study and if you decide that you do not wish to take part, this will not affect your employment or legal rights in any way.

Can I decide to leave the study?

Yes you can decide to leave the study while you are completing the questionnaires. You can do this by closing the program and your data will not be saved. However, if you complete all of the questionnaires and click on the submit button, your data will unfortunately be unable to be extracted from the anonymous data set and therefore cannot be removed.

Who has reviewed this study?

All research in the NHS is looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee, to protect your interests. This study has been reviewed and approved by the UEA Research Ethics Committee.

What might be the disadvantages to taking part?

This study may take up to 15-20 minutes of your time. We will be asking you questions about your current level of stress at work. This may cause a slight level of distress. If you have any concerns during this study, you can contact the Head of Department, Professor Niall Broomfield (N.Broomfield@uea.ac.uk).

What might be the benefits of taking part?

We cannot promise any direct benefits of taking part in this study. However, in taking part, you will be contributing your experiences to research to help professionals like yourself in the future, by increasing our understanding of the factors relating to stress in Social Workers. We are hoping that a large number of Social Workers will take part in this study so that we can understand the experiences of many different individuals. When you have completed this study you will be given links to resources related to self-compassion which you may be interested in.

What happens to my data?

UK Data Protection laws will be followed throughout this study. All information provided by you will be kept confidential and safe.

All data will be stored on encrypted memory sticks, and all data published in the study will be anonymised. When the study has finished, any data that has been collected will be stored in a locked cupboard at the University of East Anglia and will be destroyed after 5 years.

What happens to the results of this study?

The results of this study will be published in an academic journal. No participants will be identifiable in this journal article. If you would like to be sent a summary of the results, there will be an option at the end of the study to enter your email address for this to be sent to you after the study has ended. Your email addresses will be kept separately from your responses so your answers will remain confidential.

Thank you for reading this information

Statement of consent:

- I confirm that I have read the above information sheet for this study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information and ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.
- I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving my reason, without affecting my employment or legal rights.
- I consent to the storage and processing of my personal information for the purposes of this study. I understand that my data will be treated as strictly confidential in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998.
- I agree to take part in the above study.

If you would like to participate in this study, and agree with the statements above, please click the link below to be directed to the questionnaires.

Appendix E

Clinician Survey

Thank you for agreeing to take part in this study. You will see a set of questions which should take between 15-20 minutes to complete. Please ensure that you complete each question although there is the option to choose if you do not want to answer.

Remember that if you would like to leave the study at any time, you can exit the program and your responses will not be saved. However, once you have completed all of the questions and clicked to submit, your responses will not be able to be extracted from the responses from other participants.

To start with, we would like to ask you some questions about yourself and your job.

Demographic Information

Please indicate your gender:

- a) Male
- b) Female
- c) Other
- d) Prefer not to say

Please indicate which age bracket you fall into:

- a) 18-25
- b) 26-35
- c) 36-45
- d) 46-55
- e) 56-65
- f) 66-75
- g) 76+

What is your current profession?

- a) Social worker
- b) Other, please specify

If you selected other for this question, we would like to remind you that this study is looking at the experiences of Social Workers only. Please discontinue this survey if your profession is not a Social Worker.

What area of Social Work do you work in?

- a) Child and family
- b) Other, please specify

If you answered other for this question, we would like to remind you that this study is looking at the experiences of Social Workers who work within Child and Family services. If you are a Social Worker who works in another field, please discontinue the survey at this point.

Which area of child and family do you work in? (Select all that apply)

- a) Assessment
- b) Early Help
- c) Child in Need
- d) Child Protection
- e) Fostering
- f) Adoption
- g) Court work
- h) Looked After Children
- i) Children with Learning Disabilities
- j) Permanence team
- k) Child Mental Health
- l) Other

How long have you been working as a Social Worker? (in years)

- a) 0-2
- b) 2-5
- c) 5-10
- d) 10-20
- e) 20+

And how long have you been in your current job? (in years)

- a) 0-2
- b) 2-5
- c) 5-10
- d) 10-20
- e) 20+

Do you work full-time or part-time?

- a) Full-time
- b) Part-time
- c) Other (please specify)

What sector do you work within?

- a) NHS
- b) Local authority
- c) Private
- d) Charity
- e) Other

What is your current caseload number?

- a) Below 10
- b) 10-20
- c) 20-30
- d) 30-40
- e) 40-50
- f) 50-60
- g) 60+

How often do you have supervision?

a) Weekly

- b) Fortnightly
- c) Monthly
- d) Every 2 months
- e) Less than every 2 months

What is the job title and professional qualification of the person who delivers this supervision? (Please pick the main person who delivers this)

Do you feel that your supervision is effective and helpful?

- a) Yes
- b) Sometimes
- c) No

Burnout Measure - Stress at Work

We know that your job role can be very rewarding but also extremely stressful, and we would like to ask you some questions now specifically thinking about your work.

Please use the following scale to answer the question: When you think about your work overall, how often do you feel the following?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
never	almost	rarely	sometimes	often	very often	always
	never					
Tired	_					
Disappoint	ed with peop	ole				
Hopeless _						
Trapped						
Helpless _						
Depressed						
Physically	weak/sickly					
Worthless/	like a failure					
Difficulties	s sleeping					
'I've had it						

Self-Compassion Scale

We would now like to ask you some questions about how you cope when things are difficult:

Please read each statement carefully before answering. To the left of each item, indicate how often you behave in the stated manner, using the following scale:

Almost				Almost
never				always
1	2	3	4	5

- 1. When I fail at something important to me I become consumed by feelings of inadequacy.
- 2. I try to be understanding and patient towards those aspects of my personality I don't like.
- 3. When something painful happens, I try to take a balanced view of the situation.
- 4. When I'm feeling down, I tend to feel like most other people are probably happier than I am.
- 5. I try to see my failings as part of the human condition.
- 6. When I'm going through a very hard time, I give myself the caring and tenderness I need.
- 7. When something upsets me, I try to keep my emotions in balance.
- 8. When I fail at something that's important to me, I tend to feel alone in my failure.
- 9. When I'm feeling down I tend to obsess and fixate on everything that's wrong.
- 10. When I feel inadequate in some way, I try to remind myself that feelings of inadequacy are shared by most people.
- 11. I'm disapproving and judgmental about my own flaws and inadequacies.
- 12. I'm intolerant and impatient towards those aspects of my personality I don't like.

Test Of Self-Conscious Affect - Scenarios

Below are situations that people are likely to encounter in day-to-day life, followed by several common reactions to those situations.

As you read each scenario, try to imagine yourself in that situation. Then indicate how likely you would be to react in each of the ways described. We ask you to rate *all* responses because people may feel or react more than one way to the same situation, or they may react in different ways at different times.

For example:

A. You wake up early one Saturday morning. It is cold and rainy outside.

- a. You would telephone a friend to catch up on news.
- b. You would take the extra time to read the paper.
- c. You would feel disappointed that it's raining.
- d. You would wonder why you woke up so early.

In the above example, I've rated all the answers by circling a number. I circled '1' for answer (a) because I wouldn't want to wake up a friend very early on a Saturday morning – so it's not at all likely that I would do that. I circled a '5' for answer (b) because I almost always read the paper if I have time in the morning (very likely). I circled a '3' for answer (c) because for me it's about half and half. Sometimes I would be disappointed about the rain

not likely very likely $1 \cdot 2 \cdot 3 \cdot 4 \cdot 5$ $1 \cdot 2 \cdot 3 \cdot 4 \cdot 5$ $1 \cdot 2 \cdot 3 \cdot 4 \cdot 5$ $1 \cdot 2 \cdot 3 \cdot 4 \cdot 5$ $1 \cdot 2 \cdot 3 \cdot 4 \cdot 5$ $1 \cdot 2 \cdot 3 \cdot 4 \cdot 5$ and sometimes I wouldn't – it would depend on what I had planned. And I circled a '4' for answer (d) because I would probably wonder why I had awakened so early.

Please do not skip any items – rate all responses.

1. You make plans to meet a friend for lunch. At five o'clock, you realise you have stood your friend up.

Not

		Likely	likely
a.	You would think, 'I'm inconsiderate'	13	5
b.	You'd think you should make it up to your	13	5
	friend as soon as possible.		
c.	You would think, 'My boss distracted me just	13	5
	before lunch.'		

2. You break something at work and then hide it.

		Not likely	Very likely
a.	You would think, 'This is making me anxious.	13	5
	I need to either fix it or get someone else to'		
b.	You would think about quitting.	13	5
c.	You would think, 'A lot of things aren't made	13	5
	very well these days.'		

3. At work, you wait until the last minute to plan a project, and it turns out badly.

		Not	Very
		likely	likely
a.	You would feel incompetent	13	5
b.	You would think, 'There are never enough	13	5
	Hours in the day.'		
c.	You would feel, 'I deserve to be reprimanded	13	5
	for mismanaging the project.'		

4. You make a mistake at work and find out a co-worker is blamed for the error.

		Not	Very
		likely	likely
a.	You would think the company did not like	13	5
	the co-worker.		
b.	You would keep quiet and avoid the co-worker.	13	5
c.	You would feel unhappy and eager to correct the	13	5
	situation.		

5. While playing around, you throw a ball, and it hits your friend in the face.

		Not	Very
		likely	likely
a.	You would feel inadequate that you can't even	13-	

Verv

throw a ball.

b.	You would think maybe your friend needs more	15
C.	practice at catching. You would apologise and make sure your friend feels better.	15

6. You are driving down the road, and you hit a small animal.

		Not	Very
		likely	likely
a.	You would think the animal shouldn't have been	13	
	on the road.		
b.	You would think, 'I'm terrible'	13	
c.	You'd feel bad you hadn't been more alert (while)	13	5
	driving down the road.		

7. You walk out of an exam thinking you did extremely well; then you find out you did poorly.

		Not	Very
		likely	likely
a.	You would think, 'The instructor doesn't like me.'	13-	5
b.	You would think, 'I should have studied harder.'	13-	5
c.	You would feel stupid.	13-	5

8. While out with a group of friends, you make fun of a friend who's not there.

		Not	Very
		likely	likely
a.	You would feel smalllike a rat.	13-	5
b.	You would think that perhaps that friend should	13-	5
	have been there to defend himself/herself.		
c.	You would apologise and talk about that person's	13-	5
	good points.		

9. You make a big mistake on an important project at work. People were depending on you, and your boss criticizes you.

		Not likely	Very likely
a.	You would think your boss should have been more clear about what was expected of you.	13-	2
b.	You would feel as though you want to hide.	13	
c.	You would think, 'I should have recognised the	13	5
	problem and done a better job.'		

		Not likely	Very likely
a.	You would think, 'I am irresponsible and	1	5
	incompetent.		
b.	You would think your friend must not take	1	5
	very good care of her dog or it wouldn't have		
	run away.		
c.	You would vow to be more careful next time.	1	5

10. You are taking care of your friend's dog while she is on vacation and the dog runs away.

11. You attend your co-worker's housewarming party, and you spill red wine on a new cream-coloured carpet, but you think no-one notices.

		Not	Very
		likely	likely
a.	You would stay late to help clean up the stain	13-	5
	after the party.		
b.	You would wish you were anywhere but at the	13-	5
	party.		
c.	You would wonder why your co-worker chose to serve red wine with the new light carpet.	13-	5
	serve red while with the new light earpet.		

Event Related Shame Scale – Feelings about Work

Research has shown that within the role of a social worker, there can be tasks that can be difficult or overwhelming emotionally, and that these can impact different areas in your life, from work to home. In the following all questions pertain to your current feelings about the impact on you of the emotionally difficult parts of your role, but with respect to three different groups of individuals.

Please rate how much each item applies to you on a scale from 0 (not at all right) to 5 (completely right)

a) Please think about the families you come into contact with as part of your work. Please indicate how much the statements apply to your feelings on a scale from 0 (not at all right) to 5 (completely right)

- 1. I feel ashamed because of the impact on me of emotionally difficult tasks in my role
- 2. I feel like a failure
- 3. I feel small
- 4. I want to hide
- 5. I feel guilty because of the impact on me of emotionally difficult tasks in my role
- 6. I should be behaving differently
- 7. I have a guilty conscience
- 8. I reproach myself

b) Please think about your family (parents, sisters, brothers etc). Please indicate how much the statements apply to your feelings on a scale from 0 (not at all right) to 5 (completely right)

- 1. I feel ashamed because of the impact on me of emotionally difficult tasks in my role
- 2. I feel like a failure
- 3. I feel small
- 4. I want to hide
- 5. I feel guilty because of the impact on me of emotionally difficult tasks in my role
- 6. I should be behaving differently
- 7. I have a guilty conscience
- 8. I reproach myself

c) Now please think about your friends. Please indicate how much the statements apply to your feelings on a scale from 0 (not at all right) to 5 (completely right)

- 1. I feel ashamed because of the impact on me of emotionally difficult tasks in my role
- 2. I feel like a failure
- 3. I feel small
- 4. I want to hide
- 5. I feel guilty because of the impact on me of emotionally difficult tasks in my role
- 6. I should be behaving differently
- 7. I have a guilty conscience
- 8. I reproach myself

Appendix F

Participant Debrief Information

Thank you for participating in this study. Your answers to the questionnaires you have completed will help us to explore the links between self-compassion, shame and stress experienced by Social Workers in Child and Family Services. This will help in identifying areas that could be targeted in interventions or support offered to Social Workers.

The results from this study will be published in an academic journal (to be decided), and will also be presented at a research conference. As stated in the information sheet at the beginning of this study, your data will be kept anonymous within both the journal article and the presentation. If you would like to receive a summary of the results of this study, please contact Katherine Lister via email at <u>k.lister@uea.ac.uk</u>.

Please also feel free to contact the research team (via email to <u>k.lister@uea.ac.uk</u>) if you have any questions or concerns about the study, or if you have been upset or distressed by your participation in this study.

Something that is known to reduce stress for Social Workers is to help them to increase their self-compassion. We have listed below some resources that you may want to explore in order to develop this yourself.

http://self-compassion.org/resources-2/ http://self-compassion.org/category/exercises/ https://www.getselfhelp.co.uk/compassion.htm

If you have any complaints about this study, please contact the Head of Department, Professor Niall Broomfield (N.Broomfield@uea.ac.uk).

Thank you for your time!

Appendix G

FMH Approval Letter

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee



Research & Innovation Services Floor 1, The Registry University of East Anglia Norwich Research Park Norwich, NR4 7TJ

Email: fmh.ethics@uea.ac.uk

Web: www.uea.ac.uk/researchandenterprise

07 January 2019

Katherine Lister

MED

Dear Katherine

Project title: What role do self-compassion and shame play in stress and burnout in UK child and family social workers?

Reference: 201819 - 020

Thank you for your response to the recommendations from the FMH Ethics Committee to your proposal. I have considered your amendments and can now confirm that your proposal has been approved.

Please can you ensure that any further amendments to either the protocol or documents submitted are notified to us in advance, and also that any adverse events which occur during your project are reported to the Committee.

Approval by the FMH Research Committee should not be taken as evidence that your study is compliant with GDPR and the Data Protection Act 2018. If you need guidance on how to make your study GDPR compliant, please contact your institution's Data Protection Officer.

Please can you also arrange to send us a report once your project is completed.

Yours sincerely,

Jull

Professor M J Wilkinson Chair FMH Research Ethics Committee

Appendix H

Social Media Recruitment Advert

Are you a Social Worker working within Child and Family Services?

If so, we would like to invite you to take part in our online research study. The study is investigating the factors that contribute to stress and burnout in Social Workers. We understand how complex and demanding your job can be, and we are aiming to better understand how we can support Social Workers.

In order to explore this, we need your views and experiences to help inform us. To do this, we have devised a series of questionnaires that we are asking you to complete online.

If you decide to participate, the questionnaires should take between **15-20 minutes** to complete.

If you are interested in taking part, please click the link below for more information and to access the questionnaires.

(study link inserted here)

If you have any questions or would like some more information, please contact the Chief Investigator via email at <u>k.lister@uea.ac.uk</u>

Thank you for your time.

Appendix I

Permission to use and adapt Event-Related Shame and Guilt Scale

Hi Katherine,

You may of course use the scale in your research and, if useful, adapt it to your research needs.

Best, Uli

Appendix J

G* Power outputs







